
-1- 
 

 
 

To Provide a Sustainable Quality of Life 
Through Excellent Stewardship of Government 

UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL 
P. O. Box 610 ▪ Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

Tel (907) 581-1251 ▪ Fax (907) 581-1417 ▪ www.ci.unalaska.ak.us 

Mayor: Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. City Manager: William Homka 
City Clerk: Estkarlen P. Magdaong, emagdaong@ci.unalaska.ak.us 

 
COUNCIL MEETING ATTENDANCE 

The community is encouraged to attend meetings of the City Council: 
 In person at City Hall 
 Online via ZOOM (link, meeting ID & password below) 
 By telephone (toll and toll free numbers, meeting ID & password below) 
 Listen on KUCB TV Channel 8 or Radio Station 89.7 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
The Mayor and City Council value and encourage community input at meetings of the City Council. There is a time 
limit of 3 minutes per person, per topic. Options for public comment: 

 In person 
 By telephone or ZOOM - notify the City Clerk if you’d like to provide comment using ZOOM features (chat 

message or raise your hand); or *9 by telephone to raise your hand; or you may notify the City Clerk during 
regular business hours in advance of the meeting 

 Written comment is accepted up to one hour before the meeting begins by email, regular mail, fax or hand 
delivery to the City Clerk, and will be read during the meeting; include your name 

ZOOM MEETING LINK: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86592135942 
Meeting ID: 865 9213 5942 / Passcode: 275033 
 
TELEPHONE: Meeting ID: 865 9213 5942 / Passcode: 275033 
Toll Free numbers: (833) 548-0276; or (833) 548-0282; or (877) 853-5247; or (888) 788-0099 
Non Toll-Free numbers: (253) 215-8782; or (346) 248-7799; or (669) 900-9128 

 

AGENDA 
1. Call to order 

2. Roll call 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

4. Recognition of Visitors 

5. Awards and Presentations 

a. Recognition of 25 Years of City Employment Anniversary 

i. Gilbert Chavarria, Department of Public Works 

ii. Brian Rankin, Department of Public Works 

Unalaska City Hall 
Council Chambers 

43 Raven Way 
 
 
 

Council Members 
Dennis M. Robinson 
Alejandro R. Tungul 

Shari Coleman 
 

Regular Meeting 
Tuesday, September 12, 2023 
6:00 p.m. 
 
 
 
Council Members 
Thomas D. Bell 
Darin Nicholson 
Daneen Looby 

Packet Page Number 1 



-2- 
 

 

b. Badge Pinning Ceremony for newly promoted career Fire Department staff 

i. David Gibson, Captain 

ii. Arianna Morales, Captain 

iii. Karen Macke, Firefighter 

iv. Lizzie Tran, Firefighter  

6. Adoption of Agenda  

7. Approve Minutes of Previous Meeting August 8, 2023 

8. City Manager Report 

9. Community Input & Announcements Members of the public may provide information to council or make 
announcements of interest to the community. Three-minute time limit per person. 

10. Public Comment on Agenda Items Time for members of the public to provide information to Council regarding 
items on the agenda. Alternatively, members of the public may speak when the issue comes up on the regular agenda by 
signing up with the City Clerk. Three-minute time limit per person. 

11. Work Session Work sessions are for planning purposes, or studying and discussing issues before the Council. 

a. Capital Projects Update – Scott Brown, Director of Public Works 

12. Consent Agenda Approval of non-controversial or routine items, accomplished without debate and with a single 
motion and vote. Council members may request an item be moved to the regular agenda for discussion purposes. 

a. Resolution 2023-36: Appointing Judges and Clerks for the regular municipal election on October 
3, 2023 and Judges to serve on the Canvass Committee. 

b. Resolution 2023-37: Approving a 30-year lease period for a Tideland Lease Agreement between 
the City of Unalaska and the Ounalashka Corporation, for a portion of Tract D of Unalaska 
Tidelands Survey No. 103 

c. Resolution 2023-38: Approving a 20-year land lease agreement between the City of Unalaska 
and EarthScope Consortium Inc., for a CORS station on a portion of Lot 1, Needle Subdivision, 
Plat 95-32 

13. Regular Agenda Persons wishing to speak on regular agenda items must sign up with the City Clerk. Three-minute 
time limit per person. 

a. J&G Airport Restaurant LLC – Liquor License Application 

b. Dutch Harbor Cannabis Co. – Marijuana Establishment License Application 

c. Resolution 2023-34: Approving the Vacation of Lavelle Court and combination of Block 1 of 
Reservoir Hill Subdivision, Plat 92-12, and Block 1-A of Unalaska Pedestrian Pathway, Plat 97-14 

d. Ordinance 2023-09: Amending Unalaska Code of Ordinances, Title 3 Personnel, Chapter 
3.52.010 Personal Leave Accrual Plan 

e. Travel Approval – North Pacific Fishery Management Council Meeting on October 2-10, 2023 in 
Anchorage, AK 

14. Council Directives to City Manager 

15. Community Input & Announcements Members of the public may provide information to council or make 
announcements of interest to the community. Three-minute time limit per person. 

16. Adjournment 

Packet Page Number 2 



EMPLOYEE 
ANNIVERSARY

GILBERT CHAVARRIA
25 Years

Department of 
Public Works
Congratulations!

Packet Page Number 3 



EMPLOYEE 
ANNIVERSARY
BRIAN RANKIN

25 Years
Department of 

Public Works
Congratulations!

Packet Page Number 4 



Badge Pinning Ceremony 
Packet Page Number 5 



David Gibson, Captain (A-Shift – Fire 02)

Arianna Morales, Captain (B-Shift – Fire 03)

Karen Macke, Firefighter (Fire 04)

Lizzie Tran, Firefighter (Fire 05)

Packet Page Number 6 



 

-1- 
 

 
 

To Provide a Sustainable Quality of Life 
Through Excellent Stewardship of Government 

UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL 
P. O. Box 610 ▪ Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

Tel (907) 581-1251 ▪ Fax (907) 581-1417 ▪ www.ci.unalaska.ak.us 

Mayor: Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. City Manager: William Homka 
Acting City Clerk: Estkarlen P. Magdaong emagdaong@ci.unalaska.ak.us 

 

MINUTES 
1. Call to order. Council Member Coleman called the regular meeting of the Unalaska City Council to 

order on August 8, 2023 at 6:00 p.m. 

Coleman read the City’s Mission Statement: To provide a sustainable quality of life through 
excellent stewardship of government. 

Appointment of Mayor Pro Tem. Bell made a motion to appoint Shari Coleman as Mayor Pro 
Tem, with a second by Nicholson. Motion passed by consensus. 

2. Roll call. Acting City Clerk called the roll. All council members were in attendance, with Robinson 
and Tutiakoff attending remotely. Mayor Pro Tem announced quorum established.  

3. Pledge of Allegiance. Coleman led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

4. Recognition of Visitors. Mayor Pro Tem recognized several people attending the meeting in the 
audience, including: Jeff Glaser and another gentleman with GCI Communication Corp.; Stephanie 
Mason with Zender Environmental; Nicole Baker with Net Your Problem, LLC 

5. Adoption of Agenda. Nicholson made a motion to adopt the agenda, with a second by Looby. Bell 
moved to amend the agenda by adding a non-action item to consult with legal counsel regarding 
the rock behind the Latitude 54 building, with a second by Nicholson. Council discussion. Acting 
City Manager Veeder provided clarifications.  

Roll call vote to amend the agenda to add item 11d: Coleman – yes; Bell – yes; Nicholson – yes; 
Robinson – no; Tungul – yes; Looby – yes; Motion passed 5-1 

Hearing no objection from the Council, the agenda as amended was adopted by consensus. 

6. Approve Minutes of Previous Meeting. Tungul moved to approve the proposed minutes of the 
council meeting held July 25, 2023 as presented; with a second by Nicholson. There being no 
objection, the minutes were approved by consensus. 

7. City Manager’s Report. Homka, attending remotely, provided an overview of his report.  

 

Unalaska City Hall 
Council Chambers 

43 Raven Way 
 
 
 

Council Members 
Dennis M. Robinson 
Alejandro R. Tungul 

Shari Coleman 
 

Regular Meeting 
Tuesday, August 8, 2023 
6:00 p.m. 
 
 
 
Council Members 
Thomas D. Bell 
Darin Nicholson 
Daneen Looby 

Packet Page Number 7 



 

-2- 
 

8. Community Input & Announcements were made as follows: 

a. Roger Blakeley, PCR Director announced the Heart of the Aleutians Festival on August 
19, 2023. 

b. Katherine McGlashan from Unalaska Visitor’s Bureau gave an update on the incoming 
marine vessels. 

c. Steve Tompkins, DPU Director recognized the landfill employees for their work; 
announced the Household Hazardous Waste event on August 19-20, 2023 from 8:30 
a.m. to 4:30 p.m.; he will also speak at a Q-Tribe environmental program.  

d. Stephanie Mason from Zender Environmental in partnership with Qawalangin Tribe 
announced the 3rd Annual Community Collection Event happening on August 10-12, 
2023 from 10 a.m. until 2:00 p.m. 

e. Nicole Baker from Net Your Problem LLC made announcement regarding recycling 
fishing gear.  

f. Thomas Roufus with the Alaska State Firefighters Association Local Chapter in 
partnership with KUCB announced Tundra Golf Classic on August 12-13, 2023. 

g. Fire Chief Ben Knowles announced that three Deputy Fire Marshalls are in town.  

9. Public Comment on Agenda Items. None. 

10. Public Hearing. Mayor Pro Tem opened the public hearing on Ordinance 2023-08 Amending 
‘Executives’ Chapter 3.56 by removing Chapter 3.56.040 Leave and revising Chapter 3.56.02 
Recruitment and Appointment to allow the City Manager to negotiate personal leave for 
experienced professional candidates who are considering executive employment with the City of 
Unalaska 

There being no testimony, Mayor Pro Tem closed the public hearing. 

11. Regular Agenda. 

a. Ordinance 2023-08: 2nd Reading, Amending ‘Executives’ Chapter 3.56 by removing 
Chapter 3.56.040 Leave and revising Chapter 3.56.02 Recruitment and Appointment to 
allow the City Manager to negotiate personal leave for experienced professional 
candidates who are considering executive employment with the City of Unalaska 

Tungul moved to adopt Ordinance 2023-08, with a second by Nicholson. 

Acting City Manager Veeder provided an overview of the ordinance and answered 
Council questions. 

Council discussion. 

Roll call vote: Nicholson – no; Looby – no; Coleman – no; Tungul – no; Robinson – no; 
Bell – no; Motion failed 0-6  

b. Resolution 2023-33: Acknowledging the closure and completion of various capital 
projects and purchases 

Looby made a motion to adopt Resolution 2023-33, with a second by Tungul. 

Acting City Manager Veeder provided an overview of the ordinance and answered 
Council questions.  

Packet Page Number 8 



 

-3- 
 

Roll call vote: Robinson – yes; Tungul – yes; Coleman – yes; Looby – yes; Bell – yes; 
Nicholson – yes; Motion passed 6-0 

c. Resolution 2023-35: Approving a 30-year Tideland Lease Agreement between the City 
of Unalaska and the Ounalashka Corporation, for Tract A-2 of Unalaska Tidelands 
Survey No. 103 

Tungul made a motion to approve Resolution 2023-35, with a second by Looby.  

Acting City Manager Veeder provided an overview of the ordinance. 

Council discussion. 

Robinson made a motion to amend Resolution 2023-35 to extend the lease from 30-year 
to 75-year Tideland Lease Agreement, with a second by Tungul.  

Roll call vote on the amendment: Looby – no; Bell – no; Nicholson – no; Robinson – yes; 
Tungul – yes; Coleman – no; Amendment failed 2-4 

Council discussion continued. 

Thomas Roufos, Associate Planner, answered Council questions. 

Roll call vote on the main motion: Bell – yes; Looby – yes; Nicholson – yes; Robinson – 
yes; Coleman – yes; Tungul – yes; Motion passed 6-0 

d. Consult with legal counsel regarding the rock behind Latitude 54 building 

Acting City Manager Veeder provided a brief background on this discussion item. 

Council discussion  

Port Director Peggy McLaughlin provided information and answered Council questions. 

12. Council Directives to City Manager. Bell moved to direct the City Manager to engage legal 
counsel regarding the rock behind the Latitude 54 building, with a second by Coleman. Council 
discussion. 

Roll call vote: Coleman – no; Bell – yes; Looby – no; Nicholson – no; Tungul – no; Robinson – no; 
Motion failed 1-5 

13. Community Input & Announcements were given as follows: 

a. Mayor Tutiakoff thanked the City of Unalaska Roads crew and those who participated in 
Camp Q, and the community. 

b. Acting City Clerk reminded everyone about local municipal election on October 3, 2023, 
and the voter registration deadline of September 2, 2023. 

c. Mayor Pro Tem thanked Steve Tompkins for his service with the City of Unalaska.  

14. Adjournment. Having completed all the items on the agenda, Mayor Pro Tem adjourned the 
meeting at 7:40 p.m. 

These minutes were approved by the Unalaska City Council on September 12, 2023. 
 

 

_______________________ 
Estkarlen P. Magdaong 
City Clerk 

Packet Page Number 9 



CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

TO: Mayor Tutiakoff 

  City Council Members 

FROM: William Homka, City Manager 

DATE: September 12, 2023 

• Alaska Municipal League: Attended the AML summer session in Homer August 8 – 12, 2023. The 
conference was well attended with municipal representatives from all over Alaska. Mayor Tutiakoff and 
Vice Mayor Robinson also attended. 
 

• Legislative Fly-In: Unalaska hosted legislators on August 17 & 18. The program went well and I received 
positive feedback from many who attended the reception to hear from the representatives.   

 

• Ports, Navy & Flowage Fee:  Several Navy vessels have visited Unalaska recently and purchased fuel at 
the city dock. All the Navy’s arrangements were handled by vessel agents. The city bills the vessel agents, 
including a “flowage” fee to pay the city’s charge for taking fuel at the UMC. The charges are outlined in 
the tariff which is approved by city council. However, the vessel agent did not include “flowage” charges 
in their contract with the Navy. Navy said they won’t pay it to vessel agent; vessel agent requested the 
city exempt them from the flowage fee or offer a discount. We politely declined to reduce or remove the 
charges as we cannot arbitrarily enforce the tariff. I do not know if the vessel agent will appeal to city 
council but you might be called about it.  

 

• Department of Public Utilities: Scott Brown is the Acting Director of Utilities. Steve is with the city 
through September to keep the City compliant on reporting and provide some level of continuity.  He is 
carrying a City cell phone and is monitoring emails and texts. He will respond to any outages and 
emergencies however he is only in his office on Wednesdays. I’ve hired Erik Hernandez to be the Deputy 
Director of Utilities. Erik worked in the Department of Utilities, Water Division and is very familiar with 
the department. His first day is September 18. Steve will work with Erik for the last two weeks of 
September to help with Erik’s transition. 

 

• Barge/Metal: Trident’s barge arrived on August 16. We were expecting it in August but only had two 
days’ notice. We were able to load all of the prepped cars and metal at the landfill. I’m working with 
Trident to exact a schedule for the future barges, which I presume will be spread out more since the 
company announced the project completion date has been pushed back one year.  I’m working with OC 
and the Q Tribe on a program that will include community outreach, staging areas, and prep areas so we 
can be sure the vehicles are prepped properly for transport. 

 

• Captains Bay Road: AKDOT announced it will take another look at unfunded projects in the STIP.  Worked 
with Dianne Blumer to submit a letter of interest to the agency. 

 

• North Pacific Fisheries Management Council: The Mayor and Council Member Tungul have expressed 
interest in attending the NPFMC meeting October 2 – 10, 2023, in Anchorage. The agenda includes 
important issues such as the next crab quota. Frank Kelty says we will have a small Red King Crab fishery 
that opens on October 15, 2023. He will share more details regarding the NMFS review of survey 
information. 

 

 
 
 

Packet Page Number 10 



 
 

• Classification & Compensation Study for Unrepresented Employees: A representative from McGrath 
Human Resources Group visited Unalaska on August 28 & 29. The representative met with all department 
directors and some subordinate staff to gain a clear understanding of employee roles, responsibilities, 
etc. The project is progressing as scheduled.  
 

• Staffing Update: New employees hired to fill director/deputy positions and their anticipated start dates 
are as follows: 

Name   Position   Start Date 

Erik Hernandez  Deputy Director of Utilities September 18, 2023 

Patricia Soule  Finance Director   September 25, 2023 

Kim Hankins  Police Chief   September ##, 2023 

Cameron Dean  Planning Director  September 25, 2023 

 

Department # Openings 

DPS 4 

DPU 7 

DPW 3 

Finance 1 

Planning 1 

Admin 1 

PCR 3 

Ports  1 

TOTAL 20 

 
Retirements 

Chris Chamberlin is retiring from the Ports Department on September 8, 2023. Chris is a billing & 

scheduling clerk. She is moving to Anchorage and says she will look forward to seeing her former 

friends and co-workers whenever we are passing through.  

Steve Tompkins is retiring from the Utilities Department on September 29, 2023. Steve is Director and 

was the Deputy Director prior. He plans to remain in Unalaska for the time being.  

• Ports Rock Scaling Project: The analysis by R&M indicated that hand scaling needed to be performed 
first, and then a full analysis of the rock face could be done after the loose material is removed. We 
solicited several vendors (including local contractors) to provide a scope of work and cost for the hand 
scaling, but only one company expressed interest and will visit the site very soon so they can submit a 
scope of work and a quote. We will report back to Council once the scope of work is received. Once the 
hand scaling is complete, R&M indicated they can return and provide a full analysis of the rock face and 
indicate if any further stabilization work is recommended. This is the plan at this point, which may need 
to change depending on what is found during the scoping of the hand scaling project, and the actual 
work of hand scaling. 

 

• Travel: I will be off island on vacation starting the evening of September 15 – October 17, 2023, and will 
return Wednesday, September 18, 2023.  Marjie Veeder will be Acting City Manager in my absence. 

 
 

Packet Page Number 11 



- 1 - 
 

 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 
 

 
To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Scott Brown, Public Works Director 
Through: William Homka, City Manager 
Date:  September 12, 2023 
Re: Capital Projects Update 
 

 
This memo provides an overview of the current status of the City of Unalaska's active capital 
projects. As of July 31, 2023, there are 49 active and funded projects, collectively allocated a 
budget of $70,339,534. Of this amount, $25,303,758 has already been expended, leaving a 
balance of $43,148,464 in available funds. 
 
Nine the 49 active projects are eligible for closeout in the next few months. These closures will 
result in approximately $1,173,298 being returned to their respective funds as follows: 
 

General Fund:  $855,856 
Electrical Fund:    $99,349  
Water Fund:   $218,093 
Total           $1,173,298 
 

It is important to note that regardless of the fiscal year in which a project was initiated and funded, 
some projects span multiple years. 
 
Projects fall into one of the following four phases: pre-development, engineering/design, 
construction, and project closeout. Successful project management requires effective 
communication and collaboration among stakeholders throughout all of the phases. Each phase 
has tasks, objectives and challenges.  
  
Pre-Development: This typically is the CMMP process. In this phase, the initial concept of the 
capital project is developed and evaluated. This involves identifying the need for the project, 
assessing potential risks, estimating costs and securing initial funding or approvals. The goal is 
to determine whether the project is viable.  
 
Engineering/Design: Once the project receives the green light, detailed planning and design 
work take place. This phase involves creating architectural and engineering designs, specifying 
materials and equipment, creating construction documents and obtaining necessary permits. The 
aim is to create a comprehensive plan that outlines the project's specifications, requirements, 
design elements and final costs. 
 
Construction: In this phase, the actual construction work begins based on the approved designs 
and plans. Contractors and construction teams execute the project, manage labor and materials, 
and ensure that the project is built according to the approved specifications. Regular inspections, 
quality control and project management are essential to keep the construction on track and within 
budget. 

Packet Page Number 12 



- 2 - 
 

Project Closeout: Once construction is completed, the project transitions to the closeout phase. 
This involves final inspections, testing and validation to ensure that the project meets all 
requirements and specifications.  
 
City administration recognizes the diverse nature of capital projects and is committed to their 
completion within respective budgets and timelines to benefit the city and residents. A packet with 
current open projects, descriptions and status is attached for review. 

Packet Page Number 13 



Capital Projects Update
September 12, 2023

Public Library Improvements Project
See Page 32 for Details

Pyramid WTP Chlorine Upgrade (WA21A) 
Project is in Closeout phase 

Budget   $1,507,947  
Approximate dollars returning to fund  

$179,010 

Packet Page Number 14 



2

Introduction
This Capital Project Update provides an overview of 49 currently funded capital 
projects within the City of Unalaska. These projects have a total allocated budget of 
$70,339,534. To date, $25,375,857 has been spent, with an additional $1,815,213 
encumbered, leaving an available fund balance of $43,338,144.

Regardless of the fiscal year in which a project was initiated and funded, many 
projects extend over multiple years. Several factors can contribute to the extended 
duration of projects, including the acquisition of right-of-way, pre-development 
requirements, staffing constraints, project complexity, phased execution, weather-
related delays, contractor challenges, temporary suspension, or other underlying 
reasons.

Projects in this update fall into one of the following categories:
• Pre-development
• Engineering / Design
• Construction / Purchase (mechanical equipment, playground structures)
• Close-out

• CMMP Summary Sheet (or Project Nomination) as approved by Council
• Narrative of current status
• Financial snapshot of current status
• Photos

Packet Page Number 15 



3

General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
FR21A Aerial Ladder Replacement 1,500,000$         1,438,710$         49,058$               12,232$               -$                          12,232$               
GG22A Communication Infrastructure 1,894,026$         672,176$            -$                          1,221,850$         -$                          1,221,850$         
PR22A Kelty Field Drainage Improvements 100,000$            78,400$               -$                          21,600$               -$                          21,600$               
PR22B Aquatics Center Roof Replacement 445,000$            9,789$                 30,580$               404,631$            -$                          404,631$            
PR23A Parks & Recreation Study 150,000$            -$                          -$                          150,000$            -$                          150,000$            
PR601 Public Library Improvements 9,729,201$         8,780,383$         221,458$            727,359$            -$                          727,359$            
PS18A Repeater Site & Radio Upgrade 1,500,000$         1,188,019$         310,515$            1,466$                 -$                          1,466$                 
PS19A Fire Training Facility 12,000$               6,400$                 -$                          5,600$                 -$                          5,600$                 
PS23A DPS Records Management System 450,000$            203,075$            206,331$            40,594$               -$                          40,594$               
PW19A Captain's Bay Road Improvements 5,725,703$         1,836,474$         5,104$                 3,884,125$         -$                          3,884,125$         
PW19B Causeway Culvert Replacement 799,500$            191,257$            288$                     607,955$            -$                          607,955$            
PW20A Burma Road Chapel Roof Upgrade 110,000$            77,151$               -$                          32,849$               -$                          32,849$               
PW22B DPW Inventory Room Shelving 150,000$            120,624$            1,375$                 28,001$               -$                          28,001$               
PW22C Pavement Preservation - Sealcoating 1,000,000$         174,129$            -$                          825,871$            -$                          825,871$            
PW23B Equipment Storage Building 1,545,830$         -$                          -$                          1,545,830$         -$                          1,545,830$         
PW23C DPW Warehouse Fire Alarm/Sprinklers 45,000$               -$                          -$                          45,000$               -$                          45,000$               
PW24A DPW Warehouse Electrical Panel 152,500$            -$                          -$                          152,500$            -$                          152,500$            
SS601 UCSD Playground 1,326,485$         1,197,882$         92,700$               35,903$               -$                          35,903$               
SS22A Elementary School Heating Repairs 100,000$            69,240$               -$                          30,760$               -$                          30,760$               

26,735,245$      16,043,709$      917,410$            9,774,127$         -$                          9,774,127$         

Electric Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
EL18B Automatic Meter Read 523,362$            107,249$            82,238$               333,875$            -$                          333,875$            
EL18C Wind Power Development 634,000$            458,617$            58,728$               116,654$            -$                          116,654$            
EL22B Makushin Geothermal 7,720,000$         1,293,461$         96,394$               6,330,146$         -$                          6,330,146$         
EL22D Electrical Distribution Equip. Replacement 115,000$            42,174$               -$                          72,826$               -$                          72,826$               
EL23B Generator Sets Rebuild (FY23) 1,002,154$         884,667$            18,138$               99,349$               -$                          99,349$               
EL23C Electrical Distribution Equip. Replacement 200,000$            -$                          -$                          200,000$            -$                          200,000$            
EL24A Generator Sets Rebuild (FY24) 1,000,000$         -$                          142,862$            857,138$            -$                          857,138$            
EL24B Large Transformer Maintenance & Svc. 195,000$            -$                          -$                          195,000$            -$                          195,000$            

11,389,516$      2,786,169$         398,359$            8,204,988$         -$                          8,204,988$         

OPEN CAPITAL PROJECTS AS OF 08/31/23

General Fund Totals

Electric Fund Totals

Packet Page Number 16 



4

Water Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
WA17B Fiber Optic Development 59,127$               15,313$               -$                          43,814$               -$                          43,814$               
WA17C Pyramid Micro Turbines 2,317,019$         2,212,235$         61,532$               43,252$               -$                          43,252$               
WA18A Generals Hill Water Booster Pump 1,241,000$         1,159,380$         42,537$               39,083$               -$                          39,083$               
WA20A CT Tank Interior Maintenance/Painting 1,053,000$         -$                          -$                          1,053,000$         -$                          1,053,000$         
WA21A Pyramid WTP Chlorine Upgrade 1,507,947$         1,113,593$         215,344$            179,010$            -$                          179,010$            
WA22D Captains Bay Rd Waterline Extension 1,198,646$         245,167$            153,479$            800,000$            -$                          800,000$            
WA23B East Point Crossing Water Line Inspection 162,500$            -$                          -$                          162,500$            -$                          162,500$            
WA24A Icy Lake Hydrographic Survey 72,800$               -$                          -$                          72,800$               -$                          72,800$               
WA24B WH1 & WH2 On-Site Chlorine Generation 448,500$            -$                          -$                          448,500$            -$                          448,500$            
WA501 Pyramid Water Storage Tank 1,228,750$         93,662$               -$                          1,135,088$         -$                          1,135,088$         
WA504 Water Utility Auto Meter Read 106,052$            33,384$               4,192$                 68,476$               -$                          68,476$               

9,395,341$         4,872,734$         477,084$            4,045,523$         -$                          4,045,523$         

Wastewater Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
WW17B Fiber Optic Intrastructure Development 59,127$               6,887$                 -$                          52,240$               -$                          52,240$               
WW24A CBR Wastewater Line Installation 50,000$               -$                          -$                          50,000$               -$                          50,000$               
WW24B WWTP Air Intake Hood Installation 52,000$               -$                          52,000$               -$                          52,000$               

161,127$            6,887$                 -$                          154,240$            -$                          154,240$            

Solid Waste Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
SW21A Solid Waste Gasifier 700,000$            -$                          -$                          700,000$            -$                          700,000$            

700,000$            -$                          -$                          700,000$            -$                          700,000$            

Ports Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
PH17C CEM Breakwater Repair 150,000$            110,000$            -$                          40,000$               -$                          40,000$               
PH20A Cruise Ship Terminal Demand Study 390,000$            -$                          -$                          390,000$            -$                          390,000$            
PH20B Emergency Mooring Buoy Maint. 50,000$               -$                          -$                          50,000$               -$                          50,000$               
PH23A Unalaska Marine Center Restroom 530,160$            -$                          -$                          530,160$            -$                          530,160$            
PH201 Entrance Channel Dredging 11,489,000$      1,554,560$         -$                          9,934,440$         -$                          9,934,440$         
PH602 Light Cargo Dock & UMC Dredging 2,654,145$         -$                          -$                          2,654,145$         -$                          2,654,145$         
PH905 Robert Storrs SBH Improvments A&B 6,695,000$         1,798$                 22,360$               6,670,841$         -$                          6,670,841$         

21,958,305$      1,666,358$         22,360$               20,269,586$      -$                          20,269,586$      

Grand Totals 70,339,534$   25,375,857$   1,815,213$     43,148,464$   -$                   43,148,464$   

Ports Fund Totals

Water Fund Totals

Wastewater Fund Totals

Solid Waste Fund

Packet Page Number 17 



5

Aerial Ladder Truck Replacement (FR21A)

Packet Page Number 18 



6

Aerial Ladder Truck Replacement (FR21A)   Funded 2 years ago

● This project will replace the existing aerial apparatus which was built in 1997 and 
has been in service for 25 years

● Sole-sourced through Pierce Manufacturing in Appleton, Wisconsin
● Fire / EMS worked with Pierce to refine exact configuration and components
● 100% pre-payment was made
● A team of 4 City employees (Ben Knowles, Steve Van Deventer, Arianna Morales, 

Kai Lloyd) traveled to Appleton, WI on March 12th to perform a 3 day final inspection.  
● Comms installed in Washington before truck shipped to Unalaska via AML
● Truck is housed at Amaknak Station
● We’re still waiting on Fire Truck associated parts (extrication equipment PO# 

22150087) from LN Curtis Company who said equipment will ship on  2-2-23
● extrication equipment were sent out but unfortunately got lost during transit. A 

replacement shipment is planned to leave the factory in November. Once we have 
the extrication equipment in our possession, this project will be prepared for closure.

Packet Page Number 19 



7

Aerial Ladder Truck Replacement (FR21A)

General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending
Actual 

Available

FR21A Aerial Ladder Replacement
$         

1,500,000 
$         

1,438,710 
$               

49,058 
$               

12,232 
$                          
-

$               
12,232 

Packet Page Number 20 



8

Communication Infrastructure (GG22A)

Packet Page Number 21 



9

Communication Infrastructure (GG22A)  Funded 1 year ago

● GCI/UTI have been placing conduit and vaults for City intranet in accordance with 
the Joint Trench Agreement (JTA)

● GCI obtained easements with OC on Salmon Way and East Point Road
● City to obtain easements from OC for City project located on OC property
● Restoration work by GCI/UTI is progressing and ongoing
● Temp asphalt patch installed in 2 road crossings near City Hall with permanent 

cold patch repairs ongoing
● Current progress for COU = 61 vaults and 65,948 LF conduit as of (12-09-22)
● GCI has 2 mainline crews installing drops as they work, 1 full time drop crew, and 

1 inside wire crew doing in-home installations
● Regarding fiber to the home/business/other (FTTX), all mainline conduit and fiber 

has been placed on both the Dutch Harbor and Unalaska locations
● Crews are working to complete splicing of the fiber, install final drop conduit for 

customers (commercial and residential) for which GCI has obtained signed 
permissions, complete inside wiring, and test portions of the network

● Customers are presently online and the number is growing daily
● GCI is also working to complete Punch List items and complete required testing of 

both the entire network and individual services
● GCI expects to complete above mentioned tasks and begin demob in March 2023
● GCI also expects additional service requests beyond March 2023 which will be 

addressed by their onsite Rural Operations Team.
● Collaborating with GCI to obtain as-built and design information is our current 

focus, and once that's complete, we'll transition into the second phase.Packet Page Number 22 



10

Communication Infrastructure (GG22A)

GG22A Communication Infrastructure
$         

1,894,026 
$             

672,176 
$                          
-

$         
1,221,850 

$                          
-

$         
1,221,850 

General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

Packet Page Number 23 



11

Communication Infrastructure (GG22A)

Packet Page Number 24 



12

Kelty Field Drainage Improvements (PR22A)

Closing out project

Packet Page Number 25 



13

Kelty Field Drainage Improvements (PR22A)   Funded 1 year ago

● Silty clay under the grass kept water from draining thru to subsurface
● DPW Roads Division removed sod and layer of silty clay
● Next steps include installation of fill to bring field up to grade, placement of topsoil, 

and seed/multch
● Work halted in fall 2021 pending outcome of UCSD playfield seeding
● UCSD playfield seeding was successful as observed in 2022, the same gravel 

layers will be utilized at Kelty Field with the addition of topsoil
● Subsurface drain system was located and televised
● DPW Roads repaired 4 collapsed drains
● Field staked in 25’ grid to show fill elevations
● Roads began installing gravel to bring field up to grade – halted due to weather
● Topsoil, seed (sod being discussed) to be installed in spring

Packet Page Number 26 



14

Kelty Field Drainage Improvements (PR22A)

PR22A Kelty Field Drainage Improvements 100,000$            78,400$               -$                          21,600$               -$                          21,600$               
General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

Closing out project

Packet Page Number 27 



15

Aquatics Center Roof Replacement (PR22B)

FY22-31 CMMP
Aquatics Center Roof Replacement

Estimated Project & Purchase Timeline
Pre Design FY22

Engineering/Design FY22
Purchase/Construction FY22

Project Description:  This is a Major Maintenance project which 
will replace the roofing on the Aquatics Center.  

Project Need:  Presently the roof is a fabric membrane which 
pulled up during severe wind events and ripped. 

Development Plan & Status:  DPW hired IRI to patch the ripped 
membrane and place tires on top to hold it down.  IRI gave us a 
budgetary estimate for purposes of placing this on the CMMP and 
requesting funding.  

This will be put out to bid in early 2022 for summer 2022 
construction.

Cost Assumptions

Engineering, Design, Const Admin 0
Other Professional Services 532
Construction Services 341,776
Machinery & Equipment 0

Subtotal 342,308
Contingency (set at 30%) 102,692

TOTAL 445,000

FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25 FY26 Total
General Fund 0 445,000 445,000

Totals 0 445,000 445,000

Appropriated 
Funds

Revenue Source
Fiscal Year Funding Requests

Packet Page Number 28 



16

Aquatics Center Roof Replacements (PR22B)   Funded 1 year ago

● This is a Major Maintenance project which will replace the roofing on the 
Aquatics Center

● The roof is a fabric membrane which pulled up during severe wind events and 
ripped

● DPW hired IRI to patch the ripped membrane and place tires on top to hold it 
down

● IRI gave us a budgetary estimate for purposes of placing this on the CMMP 
and requesting funding

● Temporary repairs completed by IRI to prevent further damage until 
permanent repairs are completed

● This will be put out to bid for summer 2023 work
● The roof inspection has been conducted, and we are currently awaiting the 

report. We are on schedule to proceed with the roof replacement in the 
upcoming construction season.

Packet Page Number 29 



17

Aquatics Center Roof Replacements (PR22B)

PR22B Aquatics Center Roof Replacement 445,000$            9,789$                 30,580$               404,631$            -$                          404,631$            

General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

Packet Page Number 30 



18

Aquatics Center Roof Replacements (PR22B)

Packet Page Number 31 



19

Parks and Recreation Study (PR23A)

Packet Page Number 32 



20

Parks and Recreation Study (PR23A)   Funded 3 months ago
• Scope includes a Comprehensive Master Plan for Parks and Recreation
• The goals of the Plan are to guide:

o Future CMMP project initiation & development
o Prioritization of projects
o Daily programming
o PCR operations
o Park maintenance

• An outside consulting firm will be hired via an RFP to write a Comprehensive 
Master Plan for Parks and Recreation

• An RFP will be drafted and posted publicly to solicit a consultant
• Many granting agencies require a Master Plan recognized by City Council
• Park & Recreation Master Plans typically include:

o Vision Statement
o Capacity analysis
o Needs assessment
o Goals
o Overall strategy
o Financial plan
o Roles and responsibilities
o Action steps and timeline
o Key performance indicators

• Steps for developing a Master Plan for Parks and Recreation include:
o Engaging the Community
o Engage other Stakeholders
o Examine Current Assets
o Determine Focus Areas
o Create the Plan Packet Page Number 33 



21

Parks and Recreation Study (PR23A)

PR23A Parks & Recreation Study 150,000$            -$                          -$                          150,000$            -$                          150,000$            
General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

Packet Page Number 34 



22

Parks and Recreation Study (PR23A)

Packet Page Number 35 



23

Public Library Improvements (PR601)

Packet Page Number 36 



24

Public Library Improvements (PR601)    Funded 7 years ago
 Library building closed on 3-14-22 and moved to Burma Road Chapel
 3 Council members toured the project on August 5, 2022
 Ordinance 2022-14 was passed on August 9, 2022 providing additional funds to replace the 

structurally unsound south roof
 Multi-layered roof system installed (½” Densdeck, blue skin membrane, insulation, 

sheathing, membrane 2x, Z-furring, and sheathing 2x) on both north and south roofs
 Contractor and sub-contractors left for the holidays with return on January 23rd   to install 

remaining casework, curved bench, and circulation desk
 Freestanding shelving install began on 1/12 with expected completion on 1/23
 Perimeter shelving installation scheduled for March due to backordered parts
 Circulation desk delivered 1/13 with install scheduled after contractor returns on 1/23
 All storefront glazing and door hardware is complete
 Electricians and painters scheduled to return on 1/21 to complete their remaining work
 Exterior windscreen art shipped from Anchorage on 1/17 with installation by City staff 

scheduled to begin week of 1/23
 Two new boilers scheduled to arrive on 2/7 with immediate installation planned
 City requested a schedule update from the contractor to help plan timing of furniture delivery 

and installation as well as book move in
 Substantial Completion date (this is a project milestone) anticipated to be 1/26 
 Architectural final inspection anticipated for week of 1/30
 Mechanical and electrical engineer’s final inspection anticipated for week of 2/20 after new 

boilers are up and running
 Library re-opening likely to occur in early to mid April
 Closing out project

Packet Page Number 37 



25

Public Library Improvements (PR601)

PR601 Public Library Improvements 9,729,201$         8,780,383$         221,458$            727,359$            -$                          727,359$            
General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

Closing out project

Packet Page Number 38 



26

Public Library Improvements (PR601)

Packet Page Number 39 



27

Repeater Site and Radio Upgrade (PS18A)

Packet Page Number 40 



28

Repeater Site and Radio Upgrade (PS18A)   Funded 5 years ago
 This project replaces repeaters, transmitters, antenna systems, and console 

software operating systems. This ensures the radio system becomes compliant 
with FCC regulations requiring further ‘narrow banding’ of public entity radio 
systems, and will additionally upgrade our current 911 system to be-come an 
‘enhanced 911’ (E911) system with expansion options for location mapping and 
CAD (Computer Aided Dispatch) software for incident and event records

 ProComm is the only firm in Alaska with R56 certified technicians so this will be a 
sole source procurement

 First two phases includes R56 compliance, E-911 software upgrades, dispatch 
console, and repeater upgrades on Haystack

 Award of contract to ProComm went before Council on 7-27-21
 Phases 1 and 2 are substantially complete
 Two pieces of equipment were replaced under warranty
 Completion of phase 3 has been delayed in preparation for the fiber project from 

GCI in order for the City to take advantage of possible cost savings and 
determine internet stability and speed necessary for system programming

 Phase 3 subcontractor work for power and site upgrade requirements completed
 DPW Facilities Maintenance strengthened DPS Comms room floor to support 

extra weight of equipment and battery backup
 Completion expected by late February 2023 for remaining work such as reinstall 

misc small peripheral equipment, final programming, and reinstate warranty

Packet Page Number 41 



29

Repeater Site and Radio Upgrade (PS18A)

PS18A Repeater Site & Radio Upgrade 1,500,000$         1,188,019$         310,515$            1,466$                 -$                          1,466$                 
General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

Packet Page Number 42 



30

Repeater Site Upgrade (PS18A)

Packet Page Number 43 



31

Fire Training Facility (PS19A)

Packet Page Number 44 



32

Fire Training Facility (PS19A)   Funded 4 years ago

● This project will construct a live fire training facility and provide residential like 
design with a burn room, interior stairs to multiple floors, interior fixed ladder, 
roof-mounted chop-out curbs, and parapet roof guard with chain opening

● This facility will allow for multiple training exercises including hose advancement, 
fire attack, search & rescue, rappel-ling, laddering, confined space, and high-
angle rescue operations 

● The facility may also be used for police use-of-force training exercises, as well 
as for confined space training 

● No such facility exists for public or private sector organizations in the City of 
Unalaska

● DPW removed pipe from the Upper East Broadway site for a temporary interim 
fire training setup including a few shipping containers and a water storage tank 

● Regan Engineering and the City Engineer developed a cost estimate for the full 
project buildout at the Upper East Broadway site including 2,300 feet of water 
and sewer main 

● DPU removed 19 bags of contaminated soil and continues remediation of the 
fuel oil spill behind the existing Old Chlorine building 

● There is a USGS seismic monitoring station on the property that DPS is 
coordinating activities with to avoid conflicts 

● It is anticipated that this facility may be constructed at the present DPS site
● The Upper East Broadway site is being utilized in its present configuration 

pending new DPS Police facility construction but has proven to be inadequate 
due to lack of fire hydrant, classroom setting, and distance from fire station.

Packet Page Number 45 



33

Fire Training Facility (PS19A)

PS19A Fire Training Facility 12,000$               6,400$                 -$                          5,600$                 -$                          5,600$                 
General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

• The project is temporarily paused, pending an assessment by the fire and police 
departments to determine the station's requirements.

Packet Page Number 46 



34

Fire Training Facility (PS19A)

Upper East Broadway Site

Proposed Fire Training Site at DPS

Packet Page Number 47 



35

DPS Records Management System (PS23A)
DPS is presently using Sleuth 5, implemented in 2004, that is rapidly 
nearing the end of its useful life; installing a replacement system is 
imperative.  The CAD/RMS, which houses virtually all calls for service 
for Police, Fire, EMS, and Animal Control, is legacy software running on 
legacy server software, and is no longer being update by the parent 
company.  It is also out of compliance with federal requirements for 
storing, classifying, and reporting of criminal justice information.  
Limitations in the CAD/RMS and server software reduce hardware 
upgrade options and affect the ease and speed with which data is 
retrieved, stored and backed up.  It has limited interoperability with 
federal, regional and state information-sharing databases.  Modern 
CAD/RMS software packages are considerably more efficient than our 
current system, and have integrated access to state and/or regional 
criminal information networks, thus reducing the man-hours required for 
data input.  User restrictions in many current CAD/RMS’s can be 
personalized to ensure that users of the system-and the system itself-
are in compliance with Federal requirements.  Modern CAD/RMS 
software packages are also designed to work with Enhanced 9-1-1 call 
systems, which would allow a seamless transition to an E-9-1-1 system 
in Unalaska.

Cost Assumptions

Engineering, Design, Construction Admin

Other Professional Services $410,700

Tel/Fax $300

Subtotal $411,000 

Contingency $39,000 

Total Funding Request $450,000 

Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Actual Available

PS23A DPS Records Management System
$             

450,000 
$             

203,075 
$             

206,331 
$               

40,594 
$                          
-

$               
40,594 Packet Page Number 48 



36

DPS Records Management System (PS23A)

General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

The project team has been finalized, 

key project updates:
• A project timeline has been established, with the potential for a go-live date in March 2024.
• Work is underway to establish a Stateline connection between the State of Alaska and 

Motorola Flex.
• Information Services (IS) has reserved two servers specifically for this project.
• The mapping of the GIS software remains undecided. We need to determine whether 

Cameron can handle this task. If not, there may be a need to allocate $8,000 to Flex for 
building the GIS system and an additional $30,000 for its maintenance.

• Training sessions will be conducted in the Library Community room, where we have the 
necessary computers available for training purposes.

• Trainers are scheduled to start their visits to Unalaska by the end of September.

Packet Page Number 49 



37

Captains Bay Road and Utilities (PW19A)

Packet Page Number 50 



38

Captains Bay Road and Utilities (PW19A)   Funded 4 years ago

● This project provides 0.2 miles of cliff sloping and road realignment (safety improvements), 
2.5 miles of paving/walkways from Airport Beach Road to OSI, and 1.3 miles of electric utility 
extensions from Westward to OSI (this portion is being done under the Makushin Geothermal 
Project; see page 96), and 1 mile of waterline extension from Westward to North Pacific Fuel

● CAPSIS FY23 request $4M ph1 (Safety Improvements / Road Realignment) unsuccessful
● The CBA ratio was <1.0 with scope including utilities and wouldn’t receive DOT funding
● A grant application was submitted via Grants.gov for the USDOT RAISE program for 

$15,396,435 to fund the paving portion but was unsuccessful
● A USDOT grant opportunity, RURAL, applied for $15,396,435 but was unsuccessful
● See page 137 for Waterline from Westward to North Pacific Fuel 
● Mtg at DPW Conference room with Chris Hladick, Bob Cummings, Bil Hompka, Steve 

Tompkins, and Tom Cohenour on 10-12-22 to clarify phasing, component priorities, and 
strategic approach to funding

● Debrief on 11-10-22 with DOT regarding FY22 RAISE grant application - unsuccessful
● FY23 RAISE Notice of Funding Opportunity was released with applications due in February
● Pre-app mtg w/ DOT on 11-14-22 RE CTP app for paving ABR – WSI
● CTP (sub-section of STIP) application has been released along with final criteria; application 

due February 2023
● Cost/Benefit analysis being updated & prepared to reflect reduced scope to be paving from 

ABR to WSI and include associated storm drainage and paved walkway

Packet Page Number 51 



39

Captains Bay Road and Utilities (PW19A)

PW19A Captain's Bay Road Improvements 5,725,703$         1,836,474$         5,104$                 3,884,125$         -$                          3,884,125$         
General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

Packet Page Number 52 



40

Captains Bay Road and Utilities (PW19A)
STIP (Statewide Transportation Improvement Program)
• 4 year program for transportation system preservation & development NOT incl airports or non-ferry related ports
• Primarily driven by federal funds and requirements under the following programs:

o National Highway Performance Program
 Pavement and Bridge Rehabilitation Program (1st funding source for Pavement and Bridge Rehab)

o Surface Transportation Block Grant Program
 Community Transportation Program (CTP)

 Captains Bay Road Project
 Alaska Highway System
 Anchorage Metro Area Transportation Solutions (AMATS)
 Fairbanks Area Surface Transportation (FAST)
 Transportation Alternatives Program
 Pavement and Bridge Rehabilitation Program (2nd funding source for Pavement and Bridge Rehab)

o Highway Safety Improvement Program
o Railway-Highway Crossings Program
o Congestion Mitigation & Air Quality Improvement Program
o Metropolitan Planning Program
o National Highway Freight Program

TIMELINE
• September 11, 2019 our project application was submitted for the 2020-2023 STIP via the CTP
• All projects scored at regional reviews w/ top scoring projects advance to statewide Project Evaluation Board (PEB)
• PEB evaluated and selected projects to be in 2020-2023 Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP)
• April 2020 final project selection awards announced
• Our project was not selected because:

• Too large of request ($54M) for size of available funds ($56M) statewide
• Cost was too high compared to number of residents benefiting
• City contribution not high enough to garner necessary points

• October 31, 2022 COU submitted Notice of Intent to Apply to State DOT for the 2022-2025 STIP
• February 2023 CTP applications due – COU will submit full application on phased, roadway only project w/ paving to Westward
• April 2023 PEB meets to evaluate decide which projects to fund in the 2022-2025 STIP
• May 2023 awards to be announced

Packet Page Number 53 



41

Causeway Culvert Replacement (PW19B)

Packet Page Number 54 



42

Causeway Culvert Replacement (PW19B)   Funded 4 years ago
● This project will replace 3 failing culverts under Broadway Avenue causeway 

between Methodist Church and Dutton Road
● On 12-11-18, Council approved Resolution 2018-72 which authorized the City 

Manager to enter into an agreement with HDL Engineering
● A preliminary design report was received on May 30, 2019 and comments from 

COU provided to HDL who revised and returned the report on 8-22-19
● DPW received the 65% plans, specs, and estimate on 09-02-20 and provided 

preliminary feedback which required a significant redesign.
● DPW received revised hydrological report based on guidance from AK Fish & 

Game and revised 65% design package on 02-16-21
● This project is part of the mitigation for the Captains Bay Road project
● ADF&G provided comments that will require some revisions to the design and 

restricted in water work to June 24 – July 15
● ADF&G and USACOE permits have been submitted to agencies and 

consultation with agencies is ongoing to support approval
● After consultation with ADF&G and HDL, it was determined necessary to obtain 

additional bathymetry and Geotech information for in-water work isolation 
requirement design

● COU received HDL proposal for the additional bathymetry and Geotech work
● COU analyzing possibility of applying for FEMA Hazard Mitigation grant funds to 

complete this project

Packet Page Number 55 



43

Causeway Culvert Replacement (PW19B)

General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
PW19B Causeway Culvert Replacement 799,500$            191,257$            288$                     607,955$            -$                          607,955$            

Packet Page Number 56 



44

Causeway Culvert Replacement (PW19B)

Packet Page Number 57 



45

Burma Road Chapel Upgrades (PW20A)

Packet Page Number 58 



46

Burma Road Chapel Upgrades (PW20A)   Funded 3 years ago

● Close up drone footage of entire roof and eaves conducted by DPW
● Foundation inspection utilizing on-island expertise
● Foundation and lower siding repairs will be conducted in summer 2020
● DPW Director inspected the interior perimeter under building (crawl space)
● Some evidence of mold and deterioration of west foundation (wooden) sill plate
● Lower 3’ of siding will be removed so detailed inspection can be performed
● If damage is minimal, repairs will be conducted and new siding installed
● Howard Henning Construction hired to remove lower 3’ of siding, evaluate degree 

of damage, and make repairs if minimal
● Upon deeper investigation of the foundational members, rotten sill plate, rim joist, 

sheathing, and siding was more extensive than initially thought
● The City purchased materials and Howard Henning began performing the 

restoration work
● Work paused over winter and resumed this spring 2021
● Additional areas of rotten wood were also addressed – siding, sheathing, steps
● Restoration work to stabilize foundation is complete
● Addition shingles are coming loose and will be secured
● Next steps include summer 2023 roof shingle cleaning, replacement of 

compromised shingles, moss removal, and inspection of metal flashing on eaves

Packet Page Number 59 



47

Burma Road Chapel Upgrades (PW20A)

General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
PW20A Burma Road Chapel Roof Upgrade 110,000$            77,151$               -$                          32,849$               -$                          32,849$               

Packet Page Number 60 



48

Burma Road Chapel Upgrades (PW20A)

Packet Page Number 61 



49

DPW Inventory Room Shelving (PW22B)

Closing out project

Packet Page Number 62 



50

DPW Inventory Room Shelving (PW22B)   Funded 1 year ago

● DPW Supply inventory room is overly packed and inefficient
● Rolling high capacity shelving will increase storage capacity by 50%
● Vendor selected - Southwest Solutions Group in Seattle
● Pricing obtained thru Sourcewell of which COU is a member (#136780)
● Floor plan layout reviewed and approved by Supply / Facility Maintenance
● Supply rented a 40’ container for March & April in which to store items from 

storeroom while new shelving was installed
● Shelving system was delivered to freight company in Seattle March 2nd

● Shelving system is installed and in use
● Additional shelves and dividers expected to arrive in March 2023
● Additional shelves and dividers expected to arrive in September 2023

Packet Page Number 63 



51

DPW Inventory Room Shelving (PW22B)

Packet Page Number 64 



52

DPW Inventory Room Shelving (PW22B)

General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
PW22B DPW Inventory Room Shelving 150,000$            120,624$            1,375$                 28,001$               -$                          28,001$               

Closing out project

Packet Page Number 65 



53

Pavement Preservation Sealcoating (PW22C)

Packet Page Number 66 



54

Pavement Preservation Sealcoating (PW22C)

Packet Page Number 67 



55

Pavement Preservation Sealcoating (PW22C)   Funded 1 year ago

● This project will involve the application of a seal coat on our asphalt roads and 
parking lots

● This application will preserve the paved roads and extend their useful life
● Seal coating is typically done every 5 years 
● Bio-Restore is water based and lessens impact on salmon habitat / environment
● Bio-Restore won the GSA pricing bid so competitive bidding has been done
● 50% payment sent to supplier in order to capture $5,000 discount
● 15 Bio-Restore totes are in Unalaska and delivered on 10-14-22
● Lack of heated storage space necessitates need to purchase insulated conexes to 

store product
● Getting ready to conduct sealcoating testing, particularly concerning weather timing 

and road preparation, presents significant challenges.

General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
PW22C Pavement Preservation - Sealcoating 1,000,000$         174,129$            -$                          825,871$            -$                          825,871$            

Packet Page Number 68 



56

DPW Equipment Storage Building (PW23B)

Packet Page Number 69 



57

DPW Equipment Storage Building (PW23B)
General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
PW22C Pavement Preservation - Sealcoating 1,000,000$         174,129$            -$                          825,871$            -$                          825,871$            

we are actively engaged in the scoping process and progressing with engineering tasks, 
including finalizing the building layout.

key highlights of our recent activities:

Scoping Phase: We have made substantial progress in defining the project's scope, 
objectives, and deliverables. Our team has been conducting thorough research and analysis to 
ensure that we capture all essential details required for a successful project execution.
Engineering Tasks: Our engineering team is working diligently to meet the project's technical 
requirements and standards.
Building Layout: The building layout design is near completion, with the final touches being 
made to ensure optimal space utilization, functionality, and aesthetics. Our goal is to create a 
layout that not only expectations.

Packet Page Number 70 



58

DPW Equipment Storage Building (PW23B)

Packet Page Number 71 



59

DPW Warehouse Fire Alarm & Sprinklers (PW23C)

DPW Warehouse does not have a fire 
alarm system nor a fire sprinkler system 
yet building contains large amounts of 
flammables in storage.

FY22-31 CMMP
DPW Warehouse Fire Alarm & Sprinklers (PW23C)

Public Works

Estimated Project & Purchase Timeline
Pre Design FY22

Engineering/Design FY22
Purchase/Construction FY22

Packet Page Number 72 



60

DPW Warehouse Fire Alarm & Sprinklers (PW23C)

Boiler exterior of 
Warehouse 
caught fire in 
2020 but was 
contained inside 
boiler room 
thanks to fire 
rated drywall and 
alert employee!

Interior of DPW Warehouse 
does not have a fire alarm 
system nor a fire sprinkler 
system.

Packet Page Number 73 



61

DPW Warehouse Fire Alarm & Sprinklers (PW23C)

Paint storage room inside 
DPW Warehouse.  

General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
PW23C DPW Warehouse Fire Alarm/Sprinklers 45,000$               -$                          -$                          45,000$               -$                          45,000$               

Packet Page Number 74 



62

DPW Warehouse Fire Alarm & Sprinklers (PW23C)

Large amount of flammables inside DPW Warehouse.

Packet Page Number 75 



63

DPW Warehouse Fire Alarm & Sprinklers (PW23C)

PW23C DPW Warehouse Fire Alarm/Sprinklers 45,000$               -$                          -$                          45,000$               -$                          45,000$               
General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

Packet Page Number 76 



64

DPW Warehouse Electrical Panel (PW24A)

PW24A DPW Warehouse Electrical Panel 152,500$            -$                          -$                          152,500$            -$                          152,500$            
General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

the City of Unalaska Supply Warehouse associated with relocating 
the main electrical panel, upgrading
the service disconnects and replacing all fixtures with new LED 
High bay fixtures

Task 1 - Temporary Power
Task 2 - Service Replacement
Task 3 - Relocation of Panel
Task 4 - Branch Circuit and Lighting Contactor 
Relocation
Task 5 - LED Upgrade

Requesting updated quotes for the project without altering the existing interior panel while 
ensuring codes compliance. Moved shelving removing the code violation.  

Packet Page Number 77 



65Closing out project Packet Page Number 78 



66

UCSD Playground Renovation (SS601)   Funded 7 years ago
 Scope Includes:

 Multi-use court (full-court basketball, volley-ball)
 Grass play field construction (soccer, touch football)
 Perimeter running track and fence
 Benches and trash receptacles
 4 Square court, Swingset, Play equipment (2 climbing structures)

 The existing fuel tank, which was located on the former 4-Square concrete slab 
play area, was relocated which increased playground area 

 Basketball court slab poured, play structure concrete foundations installed, play 
field graded and seeded

 Items received from contractor and stored at PCR include:
 1 box of two soccer goal nets
 1 box of soccer goal accessories including straps, clips, and ties
 2 volleyball poles with crank
 1 box of volleyball nets including allen wrench

 Certified playground inspector approved playground for use
 Grand Opening held on March 23rd at 3:00 PM
 Contractor and COU are monitoring the basketball court concrete and a decision 

on repairs will be made in the summer of 2022 pending recommendations from 
Mark Hanson

 Mark Hanson submitted repair recommendation on 07-13-22
 Basketball court stripping will occur in spring of 2023
 Concrete repair on west side of basketball court was performed by contractor
 Closing out project

Packet Page Number 79 



67

UCSD Playground Renovation (SS601)

Packet Page Number 80 



68

UCSD Playground Renovation (SS601)

New Tank

Grand Opening held on 
March 23rd at 3:00 PM

General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
SS601 UCSD Playground 1,326,485$         1,197,882$         92,700$               35,903$               -$                          35,903$               

Closing out project

Packet Page Number 81 



69

Elementary School Heating Repairs (SS22A)

Estimated Project & Purchase Timeline
Pre Design FY23

Engineering/Design FY23
Purchase/Construction FY23

FY22-31 CMMP
Elementary School Heating Repairs

Schools

This project involved immediate need to 
repair leaking glycol lines.  Subsequent 
investigation indicated pumps and valves 
also required replacement.  

Ordinance 2022-07 – FY22 Budget 
Amendment Request passed on May 24, 
2022 providing funding to complete this 
work.

Closing out project

Packet Page Number 82 



70

Elementary School Heating Repairs (SS22A)

Project Need:  This project involved immediate need to repair leaking glycol lines.  
Subsequent investigation indicated pumps and valves also required replacement. 

Project Status:  Materials were ordered, received, and installed just prior to the start of 
school in 2022.  Work is complete.  A new water heater correctly sized is pending.

BACKGROUND: In the past several years, school staff has repaired various leaks in the pipe 
heating system piping that carries hot water/glycol mix to various parts of the building.  The 
City of Unalaska is responsible for major maintenance and construction at the schools.  In 
2020, DPW staff assisted with leak repairs during the school’s summer vacation due the large 
number of leaks.  Knowing the heating system needed widespread repairs and fell within the 
realm of City responsibility, the replacement of the heating system piping and valves was 
placed on the 10 year Facilities Maintenance Plan for FY24.  Due to the extent of repairs 
needed and the increasing rate of failure, the need to make repairs sooner is now evident.  
The summer of 2022 is the optimum time to perform the work while class is not in session.
Eagle’s View Elementary School Capital Project was initially funded in FY94. Major 
maintenance performed on the building and funded by the City within the past decade includes 
new carpet and exterior painting but no work on the internal systems since its construction. 
Consequently, we are experiencing a major heating system deterioration.  

Closing out project

Packet Page Number 83 



71

Elementary School Heating Repairs (SS22A)
General Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
SS22A Elementary School Heating Repairs 100,000$            69,240$               -$                          30,760$               -$                          30,760$               

Closing out project

Packet Page Number 84 



72

Automatic Meter Read (EL18B)

Packet Page Number 85 



73

Automatic Meter Read (EL18B)

Packet Page Number 86 



74

Automatic Meter Read (EL18B)   Funded 5 years ago

● The Electric Utility AMR (Automatic Meter Reading) System project 
encompasses the final design, installation and commissioning of a system 
capable of integrating with our existing automatic meter reading and financial 
billing systems 

● In FY17 Boreal Controls conducted a scoping study and costs were solicited 
from 3 vendors: Sensus, Itron and General Electric. Itron had the lowest cost at 
$316,867 for both water and electric combined

● DPU Electric negotiated with Itron for a 3 phased approach to install the 
meters, handheld reader and software for $98,096 as Phase 1

● Once all 3 phases are complete, it will fully automate the system and a drive-by 
will no longer be necessary to collect meter readings

● On 12-11-18, Council approved Resolution 2018-64 which authorized the City 
Manager to enter into an agreement with Itron to conduct Phase 1 for 
$98,096.00

● Phase 2 & 3 funding requested in the FY20-FY24 CMMP cycle 
● Residential meters built at Itron factory (Texas) and received in October 2019  
● Commercial meters built to COU spec and programmed to match our demand 

load and system
● Installation began on Standard Oil Hill residential area and proceeding as time 

and manpower allows
● All 1032 meters are installed (777 res / 255 industry)
● Last phase of project is MUNIS integration; this portion is on-going.

Packet Page Number 87 



75

Automatic Meter Read (EL18B)

EL18B Automatic Meter Read 523,362$            107,249$            82,238$               333,875$            -$                          333,875$            
Electric Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

Packet Page Number 88 



76

Wind Power Development (EL18C)

Packet Page Number 89 



77

Wind Power Development (EL18C)   Funded 5 years ago
 Phase I:  Past Assessments

 Phase II: Pre-Design Site Selection
 November 2017, V3 Energy (V3) and Electrical Power Systems (EPS) were selected to assess prospective 

temporary Meteorological Tower (MET) sites and basic grid requirements
 The first 3 MET stations went up in October 2018. We have a September 1, 2018 through September 1, 2020 lease 

agreement with OC for the sites – including Hog Island

 Phase III:  Data Collection
 Industry standard study.  One to two years of data minimum IUC 61 400-1 Turbine Design Standard to obtain 5 year 

warranties from turbine manufacturers for extreme winds and turbulence
 If initial wind data exhibits undesirable characteristics such as excessive turbulence or shear, a tower may be 

moved to the next site on a prioritized list.  The prioritized list emphasizes open exposure, proximity to electrical 
grid, future site development costs and FAA restrictions

 The AEA recommended to the legislature to approve the feasibility study portion of the grant ($139,000) and not the 
final design portion of the application. Final decision on funding will not be complete until legislature approval, 
expected by summer’s end. Drafting of final report is on hold until legislature decides on funding the feasibility 
study grant application. If feasibility study is funded, the final report will be limited to a final wind resource 
assessment report. If the feasibility grant application is not funded the final report will incorporate as many 
elements of a feasibility study as the budget allows in an effort to give council more actionable information that 
would be useful if further development of the islands’ wind resource is desired.

 Phase IV:  Design
 A $139,000 Alaska Energy Authority grant for a feasibility study was approved and funds appropriated by the state 

legislature
 Ordinance 2021-16, BA #2, 1st Reading went before Council on 11-09-21 via Consent Agenda; 2nd reading will be at 

the 12-14-21 Council Meeting
 Final Wind Resource Assessment has been completed
 V3 Energy selected a turbine model for the site and is analyzing a 1 or 2 turbine, low/medium penetration scenario
 Met towers, solar panels, control box sold at Surplus Sale for $1,000
 Cost estimate being prepared by V3
 Turbine contractor on-site 10-12-22 to evaluate site access and determine installation costs
 V3 presented final wind resource assessment and preliminary economic analysis to City Council on 11-10-22
 Another grant opportunity is available from AEA for maximum amount of $4M with applications due 12-05-22
 Staff submitted an AEA grant application for final design and construction of wind generation project in lower 

Pyramid Valley
 Staff completed Resolution 2022-47 to formalize City Council support for AEA grant applicationPacket Page Number 90 



78

Wind Power Development (EL18C)

Packet Page Number 91 



79

Wind Power Development (EL18C)

EL18C Wind Power Development 634,000$            458,617$            58,728$               116,654$            -$                          116,654$            
Electric Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

Packet Page Number 92 



80

Makushin Geothermal (EL22B)

Packet Page Number 93 



81

Makushin Geothermal (EL22B)   Funded 1 year ago

● This project is the City’s estimated portion of reliability upgrades for the City electrical 
distribution system required to accept energy from the Makushin Geothermal Plant

● DPU supporting data requests from USDOE Office of Indian Energy to complete 
Socioeconomic Study of the effects of geothermal power on City

● On-Site meetings with PDC Engineers, Haight & Associates, and PND Engineers on 
upgrading the Coast Guard Dock electrical service to supply more power to the new 
generation of cutters and ice breakers

● UTI crews working to install two 6” conduit and two 2” conduit down Captain’s Bay Rd 
(CBR) as part of the geothermal upgrades with 7,629 LF of trench complete and three 
vaults installed.

● CBR portion of the project is complete except for Pyramid Creek crossing and some 
vault locations. Due to anticipated traffic disruptions with the vault installations, this 
work is being scheduled for after “B” Season

● DPU received ROM cost analysis for electrical extension from OSI to Trident
● DPU evaluated costs if Trident demand exceeds capacity of existing 1/0 cable and 

dedicated line is required from Town Substation to Trident
● OCCP continues to submit monthly progress reports
● OCCP indicates they are on the threshold of securing funding
● USDOE Office of Indian Energy released a report entitled Socioeconomic Study of the 

Effects of Geothermal Power on the City of Unalaska
● The City of Unalaska secured $2.5 Million in Federal funding to invest in electrical 

infrastructure improvements
● OCCP finalized the EPC contract with Ormat Technologies which was signed on 

January 17, 2023

Packet Page Number 94 



82

Makushin Geothermal (EL22B)

Packet Page Number 95 



83

Makushin Geothermal (EL22B)

EL22B Makushin Geothermal 7,720,000$         1,293,461$         96,394$               6,330,146$         -$                          6,330,146$         
Electric Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

Packet Page Number 96 



84

Electrical Distribution Equipment Replacement (EL22D)

Packet Page Number 97 



85

Electrical Distribution Equipment Replacement (EL22D) 
Funded 1 year ago

● This project funds the ongoing replacement equipment for the electrical 
distribution system

● Included are electrical switches, section cans, transformers, and cables
● DPU ordered 100 kVA pad mount transformers and feeder protection relays
● This project will be closed and replaced by EL23D
● Supply chain delays and large pricing increases combined with more demand 

for infrastructure improvements is placing a strain on City inventories of these 
items

● Equipment purchased in FY22 has been received
● On going ready for replacement .

EL22D Electrical Distribution Equip. Replacement 115,000$            42,174$               -$                          72,826$               -$                          72,826$               
Electric Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

Packet Page Number 98 



86

Electrical Distribution Equipment Replacement (EL22D)

Packet Page Number 99 



87

Electrical Distribution Equipment Replacement (EL22D)

Electric Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
EL22D Electrical Distribution Equip. Replacement 115,000$            42,174$               -$                          72,826$               -$                          72,826$               

Packet Page Number 100 



88

Generator Sets Rebuild (FY23)  (EL23B)

Closing out project

Packet Page Number 101 



89

Generator Sets Rebuild (FY23)  (EL23B)

• Parts to perform in-frame major overhaul of Caterpillar Unit #13 ordered 
in July 2022

• Ordinance 2022-17 second reading for BA #2 passed on 10-11-22
• Additional funds requested for labor, rebuild 4 Wartsilla heads, and send 

Unit #7 generator out for rewinding
• Work was ordered on PO #23410039 to rebuild four Wartsilla heads and 

two turbos
• In-frame major overhaul of Unit #13 is substantially complete except a 

replacement turbo shaft and exhaust lagging
• Unit #13 will be on-line by January 31, 2023

Packet Page Number 102 



90

Generator Sets Rebuild (FY23)  (EL23B)

EL23B Generator Sets Rebuild (FY23) 1,002,154$         884,667$            18,138$               99,349$               -$                          99,349$               

Closing out project

Packet Page Number 103 



91

Electrical Distribution Equipment Replacement  (EL23C)

Packet Page Number 104 



92

Electrical Distribution Equipment Replacement  (EL23C)

● Supply Division is soliciting quotes to order another round of stainless steel 
replacement transformers to upgrade failing units in the field

● FY23 purchases are focusing on 25 & 50 kVA transformers to support 
upgrade and expansion of existing residential electrical distribution

● Material & equipment lead times and pricing remain historically high with 
no relief in sight

● Long lead time on these items, still active project.

EL23C Electrical Distribution Equip. Replacement 200,000$            -$                          -$                          200,000$            -$                          200,000$            

Packet Page Number 105 



93

Generator Sets Rebuild (FY24) (EL24A)
Project Description: This project consists of inspection, major maintenance, and 
rebuilds of the primary generator sets in the Unalaska Powerhouse. The 
maintenance schedule for the generator sets at the Unalaska Powerhouse is 
determined by engine hours. Engine inspections are also conducted by the 
manufacturer's mechanics to determine if engine rebuilds are needed or if they 
can be prolonged according to the hourly schedule.

Project Need: These generator set rebuilds are needed to maintain our 
equipment and the reliability of our electrical production. Our Certificate of 
Fitness from the Alaska Energy Authority states that we must keep all electrical 
generating equipment in good running condition.

Development Plan & Status :   Due to the high cost of the engine rebuilds, it has 
been determined that the cost will be capitalized. Costs for the Generator Sets 
rebuilds can fluctuate greatly according to what is determined by the 
maintenance inspections. Costs for these rebuilds has been determined by the 
worst case scenario according to the history of the engines. Money that is not 
used for rebuilds by the end of the fiscal year, will be returned to the proprietary 
fund.

Cost Assumptions

Repair & Maintenance $1,000,000

Other Professional Services

Construction Services

Machinery & Equipment

Subtotal $1,000,000

Contingency (30%)

Total Funding Request 1,000,000

EL24A Generator Sets Rebuild (FY24) 1,000,000$         -$                          142,862$            857,138$            -$                          857,138$            

Packet Page Number 106 



94

Generator Sets Rebuild (FY24) (EL24A)

Wartsila contracted to perform on-site head rebuilds and train staff to perform these in the 
future.  Work is scheduled for November 

Packet Page Number 107 



95

Large Transformer Maintenance & Svc. (EL24B)
Project Description: A qualified industry service company who specializes in in the 
maintenance of utility electrical equipment will service all power transformers at the 
New Power House and Town Substation. Transformers will be assessed and serviced, as 
required. Transformer assessment includes insulation testing, dissolved gas analysis, 
sweep frequency response analysis and other tests. After testing is completed, a detailed 
report indicating condition and test results would be provided along with recommended 
service maintenance intervals per the relevant industry codes. It is also understood that 
components on the transformers are failing due to long term exposure to the corrosive 
environment due to the marine atmosphere. This will necessitate a more thorough repair 
in order to ensure long term reliability of the power transformers.

Project Need: The City owns four power transformers at the NPH and two at the Town 
Substation. Three of the NPH transformers are approximately 13 years old, with the 
fourth only 4 years old. The transformers at the Town Substation are original from the 
substation construction approximately 20 years ago. While these transformers should 
have many more years of service, proper and timely maintenance will help prolong their 
lives. Testing transformers over a period of many years also allows a utility to develop a 
baseline for each unit, which in turn can identify a developing problem that may not 
otherwise be discovered until the transformer fails. Replacement of failing monitoring 
devices is also critical as these are often the utility’s first indication of a problem. The 
devices can also operate to quickly deenergize a transformer should a more serious 
condition become present. Without operating protective devices, the utility experiences 
a higher risk of significant damage if a transformer fails.

Development Plan & Status :   Funding for this project will come from the Electric 
Proprietary Fund.

Cost Assumptions
Engineering, Design, Construction Admin
Other Professional Services $150,000 

Construction Services

Machinery & Equipment

Subtotal $150,000 

Contingency (30%) $45,000 

Total Funding Request $195,000 
Source Appropriated 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 10 Yr. Total

Electric Proprietary Fund 0 195,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 195,000
Total 0 195,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 195,000

Packet Page Number 108 



96

Large Transformer Maintenance & Svc. (EL24B)

EL24B Large Transformer Maintenance & Svc. 195,000$            -$                          -$                          195,000$            -$                          195,000$            
Work is on-going and is the source of the scheduled outages throughout the summer.  Staff 
have identified a "Top 10" list to replace and recondition the most urgent infrastructure items.

Packet Page Number 109 



97

Fiber Optic Development (WA17B)

Packet Page Number 110 



98

Fiber Optic Development (WA17B)   Funded 6 years ago

● This is the first phase of a multiphase project to develop a communications 
utility infrastructure (fiber optic) between the various departments and 
outlying utility locations

● DPU is leading implementation of this project as opportunities arise
● No additional funding requested for this project

Water Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
WA17B Fiber Optic Development 59,127$               15,313$               -$                          43,814$               -$                          43,814$               

Packet Page Number 111 



99

Fiber Optic Development (WA17B)

Fiber optic cable is typically laid in 2” orange conduit.
Packet Page Number 112 



100

Pyramid Micro Turbines (WA17C)

Packet Page Number 113 



101

Pyramid Micro Turbines (WA17C)   Funded 6 years ago
● This project installs inline micro-turbines i.e. generating pressure reducing valves (GPRVs) in the 

Pyramid WTP to produce electricity from process water only
● Rentricity did an analysis and selected specific hydro-turbine equipment based on the anticipated 

flow range and pressures.  They developed 15% mechanical and electrical design drawings and 
prepared a construction cost estimate based on the anticipated scope of work.  They provided an 
estimate for detailed design and preparation of bid ready documents which is now in progress 

● Construction will be conducted in fall 2021 during the period of low water demand preceding the 
holidays and fishing A season

● Budget amendment approved by Council on July 28, 2020 to fully fund project
● Resolution 2020-48 approved on July 28, 2020 authorizing the City Manager to enter into an 

agreement with the Low Bidder – Industrial Resources, Inc.(IRI)
● IRI given Notice to Proceed on August 20, 2020 
● Due to long lead times for critical valves, construction window has been moved to October 1, 2021 

to December 1, 2021
● Final completion date December 15, 2021
● The micro hydro turbine generators and the electrical control panels were directly procured by the 

COU and have been delivered to IRI in Washington
● Pre-construction meeting held on November 13, 2020
● IRI brought on additional staff to improve project communication and coordination
● IRI submitted a submittal registry and has started submitting submittals for review• On-site commissioning completed on 12-7-21• Resolution 2021-80 authorized an addendum to IRI contract to construct the Chlorine Upgrade 

Project for $441,474.73• The contractor continues work on completing punch list items• The City is working with the design engineer to troubleshoot turbine operational issues• Staff prepared memo for BA #4 to add funds in order to complete the project• Replacement of V234B remaining for full commissioning.

Packet Page Number 114 



102

Pyramid Micro Turbines (WA17C)

WA17C Pyramid Micro Turbines 2,317,019$         2,212,235$         61,532$               43,252$               -$                          43,252$               
Water Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

Packet Page Number 115 



103

Pyramid Micro Turbines (WA17C)

Packet Page Number 116 



104

Generals Hill Water Booster Pump Station (WA18A)
Closing out project

Packet Page Number 117 



105

Generals Hill Water Booster Pump (WA18A)   Funded 5 years ago
 This project consists of installing a water booster station on General Hill at approximately 100 feet of 

elevation. It will include underground plumbing, a small building, two pumps with controls and a fire 
department connection to connect a fire engine to boost pressure to fire flows during an emergency

 A 4050 SF parcel purchased from each of 2 land owners
 Planning Commission Resolutions 2021-04 and 2021-05 for a Conditional Use Permit and Preliminary 

Platt were approved
 Remaining tasks to complete land acquisition:

 Certificate to Plat (recently received)
 Edits required for final plat (in process by LCG Lantech)
 Mylar of final plat received
 Record final plat with State
 Have deed prepared

 This can be done by a title company or the City Attorney
 This will require several signatures including landowners, lending institutions, City

 Record deed with State
 Two bids for construction received on 03-09-21

 Available Budget $888,833
 Northern AK Contractors $916,537
 Wolverine Supply $1,235,000

 NAC connected to existing water main and set blowoff MH and blowoff pipe all piping in complete and 
has been chlorinated and tested

 Procurement delay prevents the door and Toyo stove from being installed
 Site work complete and project is 95% complete
 Approx 1200 LF of electrical and spare conduit were installed from lower Eagle Drive to the Booster 

Station to provide power to the building
 IS installed wireless intranet connection to DPU SCADA system to allow remote monitoring
 UFD, Boreal, DPU-Water, DPW, and NAC collaborated to perform water flow test and commission the 

project on 9-15-22 and 9-16-22
 Pump station is turned on and is operational, customers have good water pressure

Closing out project Packet Page Number 118 



106

Generals Hill Water Booster Pump Station (WA18A)
Water Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
WA18A Generals Hill Water Booster Pump 1,241,000$         1,159,380$         42,537$               39,083$               -$                          39,083$               

Closing out project

Packet Page Number 119 



107

CT Tank Interior Maintenance & Painting (WA20A)

Packet Page Number 120 



108

CT Tank Interior Maintenance & Painting (WA20A)   Funded 3 years ago

● A scope of work is being developed for a tank inspection which will go out 
for bids

● DPU is leading implementation of this project with 2023 being the soonest 
work would take place

Packet Page Number 121 



109

CT Tank Interior Maintenance & Painting (WA20A)

WA20A CT Tank Interior Maintenance/Painting 1,053,000$         -$                          -$                          1,053,000$         -$                          1,053,000$         

• Draining the tank in October / November (after B Season) to remove sludge and document 
condition of the tank for the purpose of issuing a RFQ in January 2024 for interior 
maintenance and painting after "A" Season 2024.

Packet Page Number 122 



110

CT Tank Interior Maintenance & Painting (WA20A)

Packet Page Number 123 



111

Pyramid WTP Chlorine Upgrade (WA21A)

Closing out project

Packet Page Number 124 



112

Pyramid WTP Chlorine Upgrade (WA21A)   Funded 2 years ago

● This project includes the removal of the existing chlorine gas system and the installation of 
an on-site system which generates liquid chlorine (sodium hypochlorite) using salt and 
electricity.

● EPA standards call for phasing out shipping and handling cylinders of chlorine gas
• An RFP for on-site sodium hypochlorite generation system equipment was advertised on 

April 16th
● Design sole sourced to Taku Engineering who did mechanical design for WTP Micro 

Turbines Project
● An RFP for the supply of On-Site Sodium Hypochlorite Generation System was advertised 

on May 16, 2021 with 5 proposals being submitted
● PSI was selected as the supplier of the equipment for the On-Site Sodium Hypochlorite 

Generation System
● Materials for on-site sodium hypochlorite generation system have been received from 

vendor
● A 95% design plan set has been completed by Taku Engineering
● A pre-bid meeting was held on July 7th with 4 participants
● One bid was received and it exceeds the available budget. A request for additional funds is 

being prepared
● Council approved Resolution 2021-80 which authorized sole sourcing this work to IRI for 

$441,474.73
● T&M contract with IRI has been terminated due to expected costs exceeding budget based 

on increased material costs
● A bid package was prepared, and the project was re-bid with bid opening July 21, 2022
● A request for additional funding approved via BA #2 on 10-11-22
● Contract award to IRI will go before Council on 11-22-22 via Resolution 2022-44
● Work will proceed in spring 2023

Packet Page Number 125 



113

Pyramid WTP Chlorine Upgrade (WA21A)

WA21A Pyramid WTP Chlorine Upgrade 1,507,947$         1,113,593$         215,344$            179,010$            -$                          179,010$            

Closing out project

Packet Page Number 126 



114

Pyramid WTP Chlorine Upgrade (WA21A)

Packet Page Number 127 



115

Westward to NPF Waterline (WA22D)

Red line in photo shows location of proposed waterline from Westward to North Pacific Fuel.

FY22 – 32 CMMP
Westward to NPF Waterline
Project added in May 2022

Packet Page Number 128 



116

Westward to NPF Waterline (WA22D)   Funded 1 year ago

● This work was initially part of the Captains Bay Road project but was taken out 
based on information gleaned from the Cost Benefit Analysis conducted by HDR

● Grand funds became available to help fund this work
● Ordinance 2022-06 Budget Amendment #4 passed on May 10, 2022 recognized 

receipt of ARPA grant (American Rescue Plan Act) and appropriated $800,000 for 
use on the waterline project

● Staff is seeking additional grant funding but are prepared to fund the balance of the 
project from the Water Proprietary Unrestricted Retained Earnings if necessary

● Regan Engineering provided initial cost estimate 
● A scope of work is being developed for this work which will go out for bids
● DPU is leading implementation of this project with summer 2023 (FY24) being the 

likely time work would begin
● HDR drafted a grant application requesting $1.5M from the Denali Commission to 

extend the water main from Westward to NPF with an award of $386,400 granted 
for the design and permitting portion of this project

● City met with Denali Commission on 10-12-22 to finalize scope of grant award and 
clarify reporting schedule

● Staff prepared memo for BA #4 to accept grant funds from Denali Commission to 
cover project design which was accepted via Ordinance 2022-22 

● Resolution 2022-55 dated December 27, 2022 authorized the City Manager to 
contract with Regan Engineering for design of the Captain’s Bay Road Waterline 
Extension Project and design work is underway

Packet Page Number 129 



117

Westward to NPF Waterline (WA22D)

WA22D Captains Bay Rd Waterline Extension 1,198,646$         245,167$            153,479$            800,000$            -$                          800,000$            

Packet Page Number 130 



118

Westward to NPF Waterline (WA22D)

The chart below shows the Captains Bay Road project phasing.  The portion in the red box is the Westward to NPF 
Waterline portion that was removed to become a stand alone project.  The amount of ARPA funds appropriated to 
this project is $800,000.  A revised cost estimate will be developed to determine cost escalations.

Packet Page Number 131 



119

East Point Crossing Water Line Inspection (WA23B)

Packet Page Number 132 



120

East Point Crossing Water Line Inspection (WA23B)

● Existing 12” ductile iron pipe underwater crossing to Amaknak Island at East 
Point was installed in 1977

● This project will employ a See Snake or similar device to determine the 
anticipated remaining life of the existing East Point Crossing pipe

● COU will identify other critical pipes for inspection to take advantage of the 
mobilized, specialized technology

● Verifying the condition of the Captains Bay Road waterline to Westward 
Seafoods will provide valuable insight into waterline extension design 
parameters

● COU will attempt to schedule this work for after 2023 “B” seaso

Packet Page Number 133 



121

East Point Crossing Water Line Inspection (WA23B)

WA23B East Point Crossing Water Line Inspection 162,500$            -$                          -$                          162,500$            -$                          162,500$            

Packet Page Number 134 



122

East Point Crossing Water Line Inspection (WA23B)

See Snake Tools represent a new technological breakthrough for the rapid 
inspection of pipelines for internal and external flaws including sizing of corrosion 
pits.  See Snake Tools are so flexible they can negotiate multiple 90 degree bends.  
They are completely water proof and can be pumped through the pipeline with the 
product flow, or with compressed air.

Packet Page Number 135 



123

(WA24A) Icy Lake Hydrographic Survey
Project Description: This project consists of constructing one or more sediment 
traps in Icy Creek upstream of the reservoir. The sediment trap system should 
essentially be a series of deep, wide step pools with rock check dams along the creek 
that decrease the flow velocity and allow rocks and sediment to settle out. The 
sediment traps should also create a location for rocks and sediment to accumulate 
that would be easier for heavy equipment to access, easier to clean out, and 
potentially allow the reservoir and Pyramid WTP to remain in service while the 
upstream sediment traps are being cleaned. Although the sediment traps will not 
eliminate shutdown of the Pyramid WTP due to turbidity spikes during high flow 
events, it could reduce the occurrence and duration of shutdowns.

Project Need: Large amounts of rock and sediment move downstream along Icy 
Creek during high flow events. The rocks accumulate at the inlet end of the Icy Creek 
Reservoir as seen in Figure 30 and heavier sediment accumulates behind the dam. 
The rocks and sediment reduce the capacity of the reservoir. Draining of the 
reservoir and removal of rocks and sediment is a challenging exercise that is required 
periodically and also requires a lengthy shutdown of the Pyramid WTP. Turbidity 
issues due to suspended fine-grained sediments during high flow events also 
regularly cause shutdown of the Pyramid Water Treatment Plant.

Development Plan & Status :   The budget for this project was estimated from the 
Water Master Plan. A more accurate budget will be determined during the design 
phase of the project. Funding for this Project will come from the Water Proprietary 
Fund.

FY24-33 CMMP
Sediment Traps Between Icy Lake and Icy Creek 

Reservoir
Water

Estimated Project & Purchase Timeline
Pre Design:  FY26

Engineering/Design:  FY26
Purchase/Construction:  FY27

Cost Assumptions

Engineering, Design, Construction Admin $50,000 

Other Professional Services $50,000 

Construction Services $400,000 

Machinery & Equipment

Subtotal $500,000 

Contingency (30%) $150,000 

Total Funding Request $650,000 

Packet Page Number 136 



124

(WA24A) Icy Lake Hydrographic Survey

WA24A Icy Lake Hydrographic Survey 72,800$               -$                          -$                          72,800$               -$                          72,800$               

Packet Page Number 137 



125

(WA24B) WH1 & WH2 On-Site Chlorine Generation
Project Description: This project in both Well House 1 and Well House 2 will include the removal of the 
existing Chlorine Gas system and the installation of an on-site system which generates liquid Chlorine 
(Sodium Hypochlorite) using salt and electricity. 

Project Need: Using stringent regulations, the EPA is doing away with Chlorine Gas as the primary 
method of disinfecting potable water.  

Vendors for Chlorine Gas are becoming scarce as most Water Treatment Plants and other users have 
already changed over to an alternative. There are only two remaining Chlorine Gas vendors located on 
or near the west coast which will ship to Alaska. We are currently using the vendor who is located on 
the coast. If they cease to carry Chlorine Gas, the remaining vendor is twice the price due to the extra 
cost involved in shipping the Chlorine Gas to the west coast from Nevada. In June of 2021, Chlorine Gas 
manufacturers across the US declared a “Force Majeure” due to production issues. The price for 
Chlorine Gas increased in mid-August 2021.  

Since both well houses are located in residential areas, using Chlorine Gas at these locations is a clear 
safety concern due to the possibility of a Chlorine Gas leak.  This hazard continues to increase as more 
housing is developed and constructed. On-site generation at the well houses will eliminate this safety 
issue.   

Also, potable water treated with Chlorine Gas is more acidic than Sodium Hypochlorite. Combined with 
the rise in EPA’s standards, there is a very high possibility that we will be required to perform a 
corrosion control study and begin adding a corrosion control inhibitor to our potable water. Switching 
to Sodium Hypochlorite will help lower the acid index of our drinking water. This will lessen the 
possibility of having to perform the study or add an inhibitor. 

In addition, the multiple safety items associated with Chlorine Gas that we are required to own are very 
expensive, highly regulated and take a significant amount of time to maintain. 

Development Plan & Status :   This project will require a consultant for design and engineering to 
obtain Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation approval. A contractor will be needed for 
construction. 

FY24-33 CMMP

Source Appropriated 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 10 Yr. Total
Water Proprietary Fund 0 448,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 448,500

Total 0 448,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 448,500

Packet Page Number 138 



126

WA24B WH1 & WH2 On-Site Chlorine Generation 448,500$            -$                          -$                          448,500$            -$                          448,500$            

Packet Page Number 139 



127

Pyramid Water Storage Tank (WA501)

Packet Page Number 140 



128

Pyramid Water Storage Tank (WA501)   Funded 8 years ago

● Constructing a second Chlorine Contact Tank (CT Tank) next to the 
existing CT Tank to provide clear water storage and enable interior 
maintenance to be done on either tank regardless of process seasons 
or weather. The project also requires installing about 200’ of 16” water 
main, 200’ of 8” drain line and 100’ each of 1” sample line and control 
wiring

● Design is scheduled for near future and will be conducted by HDL 
Engineering and JV Jones who performed the previous 35% level 
design after being awarded the design contract through a competitive 
RFP process 

● Additional funds will be requested in a future year

Packet Page Number 141 



129

Pyramid Water Storage Tank (WA501)

WA501 Pyramid Water Storage Tank 1,228,750$         93,662$               -$                          1,135,088$         -$                          1,135,088$         

Packet Page Number 142 



130

Pyramid Water Storage Tank (WA501)

New tank will be sited between existing tank and new WTP building

Packet Page Number 143 



131

Water Utility Auto Meter Read (WA504)

Packet Page Number 144 



132

Water Utility Auto Meter Read (WA504)   Funded 8 years ago

● The Water Utility AMR (Automatic Meter Reading) project 
encompasses the final design, installation and commissioning of a 
system capable of integrating with our existing automatic meter 
reading and financial billing systems 

● In FY17 Boreal Controls conducted a scoping study and costs were 
solicited from 3 vendors: Sensus, Itron and General Electric. Itron 
had the lowest cost at $316,867 for both water and electric 
combined

● DPU Electric is proceeding but the Water portion is pending funding
● DPU will reevaluate and request increased funding in CMMP cycle
● There are 602 water services total (residential + commercial)
● 300 water services are presently read by a Sensus reader
● All 602 water services will be switched to an Itron reader
● Project will not begin until Electric Utility MUNIS integration is complete 

(likely funding and execution in FY24 for Water portion)

Packet Page Number 145 



133

Water Utility Auto Meter Read (WA504)

Packet Page Number 146 



134

Water Utility Auto Meter Read (WA504)

WA504 Water Utility Auto Meter Read 106,052$            33,384$               4,192$                 68,476$               -$                          68,476$               

Packet Page Number 147 



135

Fiber Optic Infrastructure (WW17B)

Packet Page Number 148 



136

Fiber Optic Infrastructure (WW17B)   Funded 6 years ago

● This is the first phase of a multiphase project to develop a communications 
utility infrastructure (fiber optic) between the various departments and 
outlying utility locations

● DPU is leading implementation of this project as needs and opportunities 
arise

● No additional funds requested for this project

Packet Page Number 149 



137

Fiber Optic Infrastructure (WW17B)
Wastewater Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
WW17B Fiber Optic Intrastructure Development 59,127$               6,887$                 -$                          52,240$               -$                          52,240$               

Packet Page Number 150 



138

Fiber Optic Infrastructure (WW17B)

Packet Page Number 151 



139

(WW24A) CBR Wastewater Line Installation
Project Description:   This project will cover 2.5 miles of wastewater line from Airport Beach 
Road to OSI

Project Need: This funding is required for the CTP grant. Captains Bay Road is the logical 
location for future commercial and residential expansion for the community of 
Unalaska. Captains Bay has the docking facilities and space for equipment storage to 
accommodate this and other industrial growth. Oil companies have expressed interest in 
Unalaska’s deep-water port as a resupply port for their northern seas oil exploration and 
drilling operations. Construction of the road and utility improvements needs to begin now so 
Unalaska can meet the current and future needs of the community.

Development Plan & Status :   Captains Bay Road currently has sewer line services from the 
intersection of Airport Beach Road to Westward Seafoods, a distance of one mile. This project 
will eventually install a new wastewater line from Westward Seafoods entirely to OSI.
The additional wastewater funds are necessary to extend the wastewater line an additional 
1,200 feet from the current terminus to the end of the CTP paving project. Reagan 
Engineering has quoted the design at $50,000, and the construction cost estimate at $987,600 
($823/ft * 1200’).  
HDR Engineering performed a Cost-Benefit Analysis (CBA) of the proposed Captains Bay Road 
Paving and Utilities Upgrade Project. The purpose of the CBA is to justify project costs to 
support funding requests to upgrade, pave, illuminate, provide pedestrian walkway, and 
extend utilities. The range of project benefits includes reduced road maintenance costs, 
reduced vehicle maintenance costs, reduced vehicle emissions, improved safety, travel time 
savings, avoided road closures (rock slides, avalanches, accidents). The project is at 65% 
design and broken into 3 segments over 3 years. The CBA compares project costs against 
project benefits by segment and by phase to enable decisions to be made regarding the best 
approach going forward.

Cost Assumptions
Other Professional Services
Engineering, Design, Construction Admin 50,000
Construction Services 11,187,600
Machinery & Equipment
Subtotal
Contingency (15%)
Total Funding Request 11,237,600

Packet Page Number 152 



140

WW24A CBR Wastewater Line Installation 50,000$               -$                          -$                          50,000$               -$                          50,000$               

(WW24A) CBR Wastewater Line Installation

Wastewater Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available

Packet Page Number 153 



141

Solid Waste Gasifier (SW21A)

Packet Page Number 154 



142

Solid Waste Gasifier (SW21A)   Funded 2 years ago

● This project will construct a gasifier to incinerate garbage
● Landfill cells are rapidly reaching capacity
● It’s estimated that we have 5 years to come up with another method of dealing with 

the City’s garbage or begin construction of additional lined cells
● DPU has identified multiple vendors interested in helping us develop this project
● Staff worked with Waste Management to pinpoint a precise per ton quote for 

removal of all waste via barge to allow better cost analysis. Using this metric to 
evaluate gasifier financials and alternatives

● Grant application submitted to the Department of Energy Office of Energy 
Efficiency & Renewable Energy for technical assistance in plotting the best way 
forward

● Grant was awarded and confirmed that gasification of anaerobic digestion was the 
best waste reduction strategy for our location

● Another grant application to the DOE was applied for and awarded to assist with 
RFP preparation and proposal scoring

● DPU plans to issue an RFP for design services in 2023
● Utility staff are preparing materials for a work session for City Council to update 

them on progress summarizing the steps taken to this point with a particular focus 
on the anticipated economic impacts to the rate payers

Packet Page Number 155 



143

Solid Waste Gasifier (SW21A)

Packet Page Number 156 



144

Solid Waste Gasifier (SW21A)
Solid Waste Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
SW21A Solid Waste Gasifier 700,000$            -$                          -$                          700,000$            -$                          700,000$            

Packet Page Number 157 



145

CEM Breakwater Repair (PH17C)

This is a project primarily in the hands of the US Army Corp of Engineers

Packet Page Number 158 



146

CEM Breakwater Repair (PH17C)   Funded 6 years ago

● This is a project primarily in the hands of the US Army Corp of 
Engineers (USACE)

● The original installation has been problematic with the breakwater 
sections getting caught on each other.

● The USACE issued a contract for the repair of the breakwaters which 
was completed but did not resolve the issues

● After repairs are successfully completed USACE will ask the COU to 
accept the CEM Harbor as complete

● USACE is waiting on their Congressional Reprogramming Request 
(CGR) for funding to complete the work

● USACE will have a team on-site in late January to assess the overall 
condition and performance of the breakwaters

Packet Page Number 159 



147

CEM Breakwater Repair (PH17C)
Ports Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
PH17C CEM Breakwater Repair 150,000$            110,000$            -$                          40,000$               -$                          40,000$               

Packet Page Number 160 



148

CEM Breakwater Repair (PH17C)

Packet Page Number 161 



149

Cruise Ship Terminal Design (PH20A)
We believe that a comprehensive demand study is essential for making 
informed decisions about these significant developments. consulting firms 
with expertise in the fields of maritime economics, environmental impact 
assessment, and urban planning.

Once we have a clear understanding of the demand and associated 
considerations, we can proceed with the necessary planning, permitting, and 
funding efforts. 

Scope of the Demand Study:

Cruise Ship Terminal Demand Analysis:
a. Analyze the current and projected cruise ship industry trends and their 
potential impact on our region.
b. Assess the capacity and infrastructure requirements needed to 
accommodate different sizes and types of cruise ships.
c. Evaluate the economic benefits, including tourism revenue and job creation, 
associated with the cruise ship terminal.
d. Identify potential environmental and sustainability considerations related to 
cruise ship operations.

Barge Navy Demand Analysis:
a. Examine the demand for barge navy services, both in terms of military and 
civilian applications.
b. Assess the strategic importance of a barge navy facility in our region, 
including national security and defense implications.
c. Analyze the economic benefits and job opportunities associated with the 
development of a barge navy facility.
d. Investigate potential environmental and infrastructure requirements for 
barge navy operations.

Market Feasibility:
a. Identify potential stakeholders and partners for both projects, including 
cruise lines, naval agencies, and private sector investors.
b. Evaluate the competitive landscape, including existing cruise ship terminals 
and barge navy facilities in neighboring regions.
c. Analyze potential funding sources, public-private partnership opportunities, 
and revenue models for these projects.

Community Impact Assessment:
a. Engage with the local community and gather their input on the proposed 
developments.
b. Assess potential social and cultural impacts, including the effects on local 
residents, businesses, and tourism.
c. Identify mitigation strategies for addressing any adverse impacts on the 
community.

Environmental Impact Assessment:
a. Conduct an environmental impact assessment to determine the potential 
effects of both projects on the surrounding ecosystem.
b. Identify measures to mitigate any negative environmental impacts and 
promote sustainability.

Timeline and Budget:
a. Provide a detailed timeline for completing the demand study.
b. Estimate the budget required for the study, including any necessary 
consultants or experts.

Packet Page Number 162 



150

Cruise Ship Terminal Design (PH20A)

Packet Page Number 163 



151

Cruise Ship Terminal Design (PH20A)
Ports Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
PH20A Cruise Ship Terminal Demand Study 390,000$            -$                          -$                          390,000$            -$                          390,000$            

Packet Page Number 164 



152

Mooring Buoy Maintenance (PH20B)

Packet Page Number 165 



153

Mooring Buoy Maintenance (PH20B)

Packet Page Number 166 



154

Mooring Buoy Maintenance (PH20B)   Funded 3 years ago
● Scope of work being developed by Ports
● Typical scope for this type of work would include:

● Anchor chain inspection
● Anchor inspection
● Marine growth removal from buoy and chain
● Inspection & repair of buoy
● GPS confirmation of anchor locations and buoy location
● ROV is scheduled to conduct a survey in October  

Ports Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
PH20B Emergency Mooring Buoy Maint. 50,000$               -$                          -$                          50,000$               -$                          50,000$               

Packet Page Number 167 



155

UMC Restrooms (PH23A)

Packet Page Number 168 



156

UMC Restrooms (PH23A)   Funded 3 months ago

● Scope of work being developed by Ports and DPW
● Scope to include:

● Precise site considering access/parking/traffic flow
● Number of users
● Maintenance issues
● Materials
● Capacity
● Ventilation
● Pre-built units being evaluated

Ports Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
PH23A Unalaska Marine Center Restroom 530,160$            -$                          -$                          530,160$            -$                          530,160$            

Packet Page Number 169 



157

Entrance Channel Dredging (PH201)

Packet Page Number 170 



158

Entrance Channel Dredging (PH201)   Funded 11 years ago

● This project will remove 182,000 cubic yards of material from an area 600’ x 
600’ at the channel bar that crosses the entrance of Iliuliuk Bay enabling 
vessels to enter Dutch Harbor safely

● The bar causes inefficiencies in the delivery of fuel, durable goods, and 
exports to/from Dutch Harbor

● USACE completed their Final Feasibility Report and Final Environmental 
Assessment dated November 2019

● USACE will be in Unalaska to present a project update to the COU in January 
2023 as well as hold a public meeting

● Design plans are at the 65% level
● Funding looking like it will be in place for dredging to proceed in 2024
● Estimated Total Cost is $30,445,000 with the City share at $7,611,250
● USACE Recommended Plan:

● Dredge Channel to -58 feet MLLW
● Dredge Volume 182,000 CY
● Length of Channel 600 Feet
● Width of Channel 600 Feet
● Maintenance Dredging 16,000 CY @ 25 yrs

Packet Page Number 171 



159

Entrance Channel Dredging (PH201)
Ports Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
PH201 Entrance Channel Dredging 11,489,000$      1,554,560$         -$                          9,934,440$         -$                          9,934,440$         

Packet Page Number 172 



160

Entrance Channel Dredging (PH201)

Packet Page Number 173 



161

LCD and UMC Dredging (PH602)

Packet Page Number 174 



162

LCD and UMC Dredging (PH602)   Funded 7 years ago

● This project includes the engineering, permitting, and dredging at the faces 
of the Light Cargo Dock and the Unalaska Marine Center positions 1-7. The 
completion of this dredging will enhance current and future operations by 
creating useable industrial dock face that is designed for vessels in varying 
lengths and tonnage

● Ports is working with PND Engineers on the initial planning phases with 
dredging in conjunction with the Entrance Channel Dredging project

● No additional funding requested for this project

Ports Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
PH602 Light Cargo Dock & UMC Dredging 2,654,145$         -$                          -$                          2,654,145$         -$                          2,654,145$         

Packet Page Number 175 



163

LCD and UMC Dredging (PH602)

Typical dredging operation

Packet Page Number 176 



164

Robert Storrs Harbor A & B Floats (PH905)

Packet Page Number 177 



165

Robert Storrs Harbor A & B Floats (PH905)   Funded 14 years ago

● Ports worked with PND Engineers developing conceptual plans which 
are complete. Scoping is complete and the Port would like to pursue 
this replacement project upon completion of the present UMC Positions 
3&4 project

● Additional tideland lease from the State is required for float extension 
and land use agreement or land swap with Unisea for uplands 
development (parking)

● Ports is currently working with Planning on complex tideland acquisition 
from the State and a property swap with UniSea

● The design will be used to apply for matching ADOT grant funding with 
possible construction in FY23

● Council will be briefed/presented with options for Design/Build, Design 
Best Value Bid, and Design/Bid/Build for the A and B Float replacement

● Ports will not pursue construction without matching grant funds through 
the Harbor Grant matching program

● DPW contracted LCG Lantech to survey Pacesetter Way R/W
● DNR provided approval for additional tidelands pending successful 

public review process
● Tidelands decision expected by 2-22-23 following 30 review
● Harbor Matching Grant Program accepts new applications in spring 

2023 which the City will apply for Packet Page Number 178 



166

Robert Storrs Harbor A & B Floats (PH905)
Ports Fund Budget Expensed Encumbered Available Pending Actual Available
PH905 Robert Storrs SBH Improvments A&B 6,695,000$         1,798$                 22,360$               6,670,841$         -$                          6,670,841$         

Packet Page Number 179 



167

Robert Storrs Harbor A & B Floats (PH905)

Packet Page Number 180 



168

The End

For more information about this project update, contact:
Tom Cohenour
Director of Public Works / Contracting Officer
City of Unalaska, AK  99685
907-581-1260 office
907-359-5056 cell

Packet Page Number 181 



CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 
RESOLUTION 2023-36 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL APPOINTING JUDGES AND CLERKS FOR THE 
REGULAR MUNICIPAL ELECTION ON OCTOBER 3, 2023 AND JUDGES TO SERVE ON THE CANVASS 
COMMITTEE 
 
WHEREAS, Unalaska City Code § 4.08.020(A) states that before each city election, the City Council shall 
appoint three election judges to constitute the Election Board, one who is designated the Chair and may 
appoint two election clerks; and 
 
WHEREAS, Unalaska City Code § 4.04.050 states that wages for non-employee election judges and clerks 
shall be established by resolution of the City Council; and 
 
WHEREAS, Unalaska City Code § 4.08.020(B) states that the City Council will serve as a canvass committee, 
or may appoint three judges to constitute the canvass committee, who will canvass all votes after the election 
judges have completed their tally. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Unalaska City Council that the following persons are appointed 
judges and clerks for the October 3, 2023 General Election and shall attend at the Unalaska Precinct Polling 
place, namely Unalaska City Hall, at 7:30 a.m. on October 3, 2023 and shall continue until polls close at 8:00 
p.m. Thereafter, the judges and clerks shall count and check all votes cast against the poll listed in the manner 
required by law: 
 

ELECTION BOARD 
 
Judges :   Clerks: 
Estkarlen Magdaong, Chair Shelly Blakeley 
Alicia Aguilar   M. Lynn Crane 
Elizabeth Whitaker   

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the following persons are appointed as judges to constitute the Canvass 
Committee, who shall meet on Friday, October 6, 2023, at 10:00 a.m., to canvass all votes after the election 
judges have completed their tally: 
 

CANVASS COMMITTEE JUDGES 
 
Estkarlen Magdaong, Chair 
Alicia Aguilar 
Shari Coleman 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that non-employee election judges and clerks shall be paid twenty dollars ($20) 
per hour. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on September 12, 2023. 
 
 
 
      ________________________________________  

Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. 
Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________  
Estkarlen P. Magdaong 
City Clerk 

Packet Page Number 182 



 
MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Estkarlen P. Magdaong, City Clerk 
Through: William Homka, City Manager 
Date:  September 12, 2023 
Re: Resolution 2023-36: Appointing Judges and Clerks for the regular municipal 

election on October 3, 2023 and Judges to serve on the Canvass Committee 
 
 
SUMMARY: City Code requires Council to appoint three judges and Council may appoint two 
clerks to serve as the Election Board for the municipal election to be held on October 3, 2023; 
and Council is to appoint three judges to serve as the Canvass Committee on October 6, 2023. 
Resolution 2023-36 accomplishes these mandates. 
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Council adopts a similar resolution for each local election. 
 
DISCUSSION: UCO 4.08.020 requires appointment of three judges and states council may 
appoint two clerks to serve as the Election Board, and allows for the City Clerk to appoint 
additional clerks should the need arise.  
 
City Council is to act as the Canvass Committee or may appoint three judges to constitute the 
Canvass Committee, which is the option typically taken. Traditionally, one Council member serves 
on the Canvass Committee and this year Shari Coleman has agreed to serve in this capacity.  
 
Additionally, Code states that Council determines the rate of pay for non-employee election 
workers by resolution. Resolution 2023-36 sets the hourly rate of pay at $20 per hour. The City 
Clerk feels this rate of pay is fair and reasonable, as it matches what the State of Alaska, Division 
of Elections pay their election workers, and the Clerk’s Department budget contains sufficient 
funds to cover the expense. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: None. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Pay for non-employee election workers is included in the Clerk’s 
Office FY24 budget. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends adoption of Resolution 2023-36. 
 
PROPOSED MOTION: This is a consent agenda item and will be included in the motion to adopt 
the consent agenda. 

CITY MANAGER’S COMMENTS: The City Manager concurs with the Staff Recommendation. 
 

Packet Page Number 183 



 

 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 
RESOLUTION 2023-37 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL APPROVING A 30-YEAR LEASE 
PERIOD FOR A TIDELAND LEASE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF UNALASKA AND 
THE OUNALASHKA CORPORATION, FOR A PORTION OF TRACT D OF UNALASKA 
TIDELANDS SURVEY NO. 103 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska is the owner of Unalaska tideland Tract D of Unalaska Tidelands 
Survey No.103, containing 310.11 acres, more or less, according to the Survey Plat recorded in 
the Aleutian Islands Recording District as Plat 2013-13; and 
 
WHEREAS, Ounalashka Corporation, desires to lease a 7.86-acre portion of Tract D of UTS 
No.103, for a 30-year period to provide storage space in support of Trident’s new facility 
construction and future needs; and 
 
WHEREAS, Unalaska Code of Ordinances § 7.12.020 UCO requires City Council approval of any 
lease of City property having a term greater than 5 years; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that a new 30-year lease is of benefit to the City as 
it promotes long-term, substantial, durable, and desirable investment in the City of Unalaska’s 
tidelands and allows for an existing business to expand its practices in our community. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL approves the 
30-year lease period for a tideland lease between the City of Unalaska and the Ounalashka 
Corporation for a 7.86-acre portion of Tract D of Unalaska Tidelands Survey No.103 in 
accordance with the City Manager Regulations for Tideland Leasing. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on 
September 12, 2023. 
 
 
      _______________________________ 
      Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Estkarlen P. Magdaong 
City Clerk 
 
 

Packet Page Number 184 



 

-1- 
 

 
MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Marjorie Veeder, Acting Planning Director  
Through: William Homka, City Manager 
Date:  September 12, 2023 
Re: Ordinance 2023-37: Approving a 30-year lease period for a Tideland Lease 

Agreement between the City of Unalaska and the Ounalashka Corporation, for a 
portion of Tract D of Unalaska Tidelands Survey No. 103 

 
 
SUMMARY: A tideland lease between the City of Unalaska and the Ounalashka Corporation (OC) 
has been drafted and is being processed in accordance with City code and policies. City Council 
approval is required for the lease because the term is greater than five (5) years. Staff 
recommends approval of Resolution 2023-37. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: None.  

BACKGROUND: OC submitted an application in July for a previously unleased tideland. This 
lease application is for a 7.86-acre portion of a City-owned tideland known as Tract D of Unalaska 
Tideland Survey (UTS) 103. OC was the upland owner, and as such, no notification of adjacent 
owners was needed.  

Pursuant to UCO 7.12.020, no lease shall exceed thirty (30) years unless the City Council 
determines the purpose of the lease, or the nature of improvements placed thereon, provide 
benefits to the city that warrant a longer lease term. City Council shall approve leases with terms 
greater than five years. Any renewal period or option to renew the lease period shall be included 
in the term of the lease in computing the five-year period of time. 

DISCUSSION: OC submitted an application to lease approximately 7.86 acres of UTS 103 (Plat 
2013-13). At the time of the application, this parcel was undeveloped and sits south the City’s 
Trident lease area and the future Trident site. OC then intends to sublease the parcel to Trident 
for fill in support of their construction efforts and future use.  

OC has provided proof of insurance, meeting all insurance requirements as identified in the lease 
agreement. Additionally, as described in the Regulations, a performance bond based on 5% of 
the estimated value of the existing improvements will need to be provided to the city prior to the 
signing the agreement.  

Army Corps of Engineers permits have been acquired for fill. Due to the nature of construction 
timelines, the area is already approved for fill in order to maintain the flow of construction at the 
Trident site.  

All other required permits will need to be obtained by prior to any new development. Additionally, 
required building permits will need to be obtained from the Department of Public Works. No 
construction will be permitted by the City until documentation is provided to verify that these 
permits have been issued, as noted in the lease agreement. 

Packet Page Number 185 



 

-2- 
 

The City Manager Regulations for Tidelands recommend lease terms of 30-years. This application 
seeks a 30-year term. 

ALTERNATIVES: If the City Council finds that it is not in the best interest of the City to approve 
Resolution 2023-37 as is, it may alternatively grant the lease agreement for less than 30 years, 
or reject the application for lease altogether. Any further extension of the lease must come from 
the applicant. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: The appraisal firm photographed and toured the site and an 
appraisal is forthcoming. City regulations and policies establish the annual lease rate to be 10% 
of the property’s unimproved value over 30 years, plus additional rent with reappraisals, tax 
revenue and reimbursement for the cost of the initial appraisal. 

LEGAL: The lease was developed in consultation with the City Attorney. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends adoption of Resolution 2023-37. 

PROPOSED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution 2023-37.  

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I support staff’s recommendation. 

ATTACHMENTS:  
1) Proposed Lease with Exhibit A 
2) UTS 103 Tr. D - Trident South Lease Area Map 

 

Packet Page Number 186 



 
Form A: 7.86-Acre Portion of UTS 103, Tract D Tideland Lease Agreement – Ounalashka Corporation, 
Page 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
TIDELAND LEASE AGREEMENT 
FOR CITY OWNED TIDELANDS 

UTS 103, Tract D: 7.86 Acres 
 

This Lease Agreement is made and entered into this ___day of ________, 2023, between the City of 
Unalaska, a first-class Alaska municipal corporation (“Lessor”), whose address is P.O. Box 610, Unalaska, 
Alaska 99685, and Ounalashka Corporation (“Lessee”), whose address is P.O. Box 149, Unalaska, Alaska 
99685. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the Lessor and the Lessee, in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions 
stated in this Lease, agree as follows: 
 
Leased Premises. The Lessor hereby leases to the Lessee, and the Lessee hereby leases from the Lessor, the 
following parcel of land (collectively “Parcel”), which is situated in the State of Alaska, identified as 
follows: 
 

A portion of Tract D of Unalaska Tideland Survey No. 103, containing 7.86 acres, more or 
less, according to the survey plat recorded in the Aleutian Islands Recording District, on 
December 9, 2013, as plat number 2013-13 as shown in the attached Exhibit A 

 
EXCEPTING AND RESERVING THEREFROM, to the Lessor and its assigns during the term of this 
Lease, the following specific interests, which shall be in addition to and not in derogation of any general 
reservations to the Lessor which may be stated elsewhere in this Lease:  

 
A. Easements, rights of way and reservations of record. 

 
B. The rights of the public to access tidelands under the Alaska Constitution. 

 
C. The rights of the public to access tidelands under the Public Trust Doctrine 

 
1. Term.  (a) The term of this Lease shall be for a period of 30 years, commencing on the 1st day of 

September, 2023 and ending on the 31st day of July, 2053, unless sooner terminated as herein 
provided. 
 

(b) Lessee may terminate this Lease prior to the end of the Term by providing written notice 
of termination 30 days prior to the termination together with payment of an early 

Packet Page Number 187 



 
Form A: 7.86-Acre Portion of UTS 103, Tract D Tideland Lease Agreement – Ounalashka Corporation, 
Page 2 

termination fee equal to 20% of the annual Rent for the year in which such notice is given 
multiplied by the number of full years then remaining in the Term. 

 
2. Rent. The Lessee shall pay to the Lessor the following rent (“Rent”) for the Parcel: equal annual 

payments, in advance, on or before the 10th day of the first month of the period of said rental term 
at the rate of                                   for the 7.86 Acre Parcel per annum, such annual rental payments 
to be subject to adjustment in accordance with Paragraph 3 of this Agreement. 

 
The cost of the reappraisal used to calculate this lease rate was $_________, originally paid for by 
the City.  The Lessee shall pay the Lessor the following reimbursement for the Initial Appraisal of 
the Parcel:  on or before the 10th day of the first month of the period of said rental term at the rate 
of                                     . 

 
3. Adjustments to Rent. Rent due under this Agreement shall be adjusted upward or downward as 

follows: 
 

The annual rent will typically be 10% of the appraised value of the tideland, including 
all previously existing improvements, as determined by an appraiser or based on the 
Fair Market Rent as established by an appraiser.  Commencing at the end of the fifth 
(5th) year of the term, and continuing at  the end of every five (5) years thereafter the 
Parcel, including any previously existing improvements included in this Lease 
Agreement, but excluding improvements made by Lessee, shall be reappraised by the 
City of Unalaska and the annual rent shall be adjusted accordingly.  In some instances, 
a letter of opinion from an appraiser may be all that is warranted and may be considered 
every five years with a reappraisal every 10 years.  Rent shall at no point be less than 
$2,250 per acre with a $2,250 minimum annual rent. The cost of subsequent 
reappraisals will be split equally between the City and the Lessee. 

 
4. Payment of Rent. Rent payments shall be made payable to the City of Unalaska and delivered to 

the City of Unalaska Finance Department, P.O. Box 610, Unalaska, Alaska 99685, or to any other 
address which Lessor may designate in writing. 

 
5. Interest on Delinquent Payments. All unpaid rents and fees shall accrue interest at the rate of ten 

and one-half per cent (10.5%) per annum beginning thirty (30) days after payment is due. 
 

6. Use of Parcel. The Lessee shall use and occupy the Parcel in compliance with all applicable laws, 
regulations, ordinances and orders which a public authority has promulgated or may promulgate, 
including those of a building or zoning authority and those relating to pollution and sanitation 
control and those relating to City of Unalaska sales taxation . The Lessee shall not permit any 
unlawful occupation, business, or trade to be conducted on the Parcel. The Lessee shall properly 
locate itself and its improvements on the Parcel, and shall not commit waste of the Parcel, whether 
ameliorated or otherwise. Notwithstanding such laws, regulations, ordinances and orders, the 
Lessee shall maintain the Parcel in a reasonably neat and clean condition, and take all prudent 
precautions to prevent or suppress pollution of the ground, surface water, air, or land, and to prevent 
erosion or destruction of the land. 

 
7. Improvements. The Lessee may make permanent improvements to the Parcel permitted by 

applicable law. Improvements shall be made to the leased tideland within 2 years of the signing of 

Packet Page Number 188 



 
Form A: 7.86-Acre Portion of UTS 103, Tract D Tideland Lease Agreement – Ounalashka Corporation, 
Page 3 

the lease, or lease may be revoked.  The Lessee must within 90 days of completion of any such 
improvements including, but not limited to, structural improvements, clearing, leveling, 
excavation, and backfill, file with the Lessor adequate and reasonable documentation of such 
improvements, setting forth all applicable costs and quantities. Failure to provide such 
documentation may result in a loss of credit to the Lessee for such improvements when the original 
condition of the Parcel is determined for reappraisal purposes under Paragraph 3 hereof. 

 
8. Encumbrance of Parcel. The Lessee, during the term of this Lease, shall not encumber or cloud the 

Lessor’s reversionary interest in the Parcel, without the prior written consent of the Lessor, which 
shall not be unreasonably withheld; and any such act or omission, without the prior written consent 
of the Lessor, shall be voidable by the Lessor. 

 
9. Notices of Non-responsibility and Completion. Prior to commencing any improvements on the 

Premises costing more than twenty thousand dollars ($20,000.00), individually or in the aggregate, 
Lessee shall obtain from Lessor and duly post and record an appropriate notice of Lessor’s non-
responsibility for such Improvements, pursuant to the requirements of AS 34.35.065 or its 
successor. Lessee shall, upon the completion of any improvements to the Property, promptly give 
and record an appropriate notice of completion respecting all such Improvements, pursuant to the 
requirements of AS 34.35.071 or its successor. 

 
10. Assignment of Lease and Sublease of Parcel. The Lessee may not assign this Lease or sublet the 

Parcel, without the prior written consent of the Lessor, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 
No assignment of this Lease shall be approved until the assignee agrees to be subject to and 
governed by the provisions of this Lease in the same manner as the original Lessee to the extent 
that they may be applicable to the sublease except for the payment of Rent and other monetary 
obligations. No such assignment or sublease will be effective until approved by the Lessor in 
writing or shall annul the Lessee’s obligation to pay the rent herein required for the full term of this 
Lease. Except as permitted by the Lessor, no subdivision of the Lessee’s leasehold interest, 
including any exposed airspace thereon, shall occur. 

 
11. Denial of Warranty Regarding Conditions. The Lessor neither makes any warranty, express or 

implied, nor assumes any liability whatsoever, regarding the natural, social, economic, or 
environmental conditions of the Parcel, including, without limitation, the soil, water and drainage 
conditions, natural or artificial hazards, and the profitability or fitness of the Parcel for any use. 

 
Lessee represents and warrants that it has independently inspected the Parcel and made all tests, 
investigations and observations necessary to satisfy itself of the condition of the Parcel. Lessee 
shall and is relying solely on such independent inspection, tests, investigations and observations in 
making this Agreement. Lessee accepts and shall be responsible for any risk of harm to any person 
and property, including but not limited to, employees of Lessee, from any latent defects in the 
Property. 

 
12. Agreement to Terms of Lease. The Lessor and the Lessee agree and recognize that each of the 

covenants and conditions in this Lease and any attachments thereto are merged and incorporated 
into this agreement and shall be binding upon themselves and upon their respective successors, 
successors in interest and assigns and shall inure to their benefit. The Lessor and the Lessee further 
agree and recognize that this Lease shall be conditioned upon satisfactory performance by the 
Lessor and the Lessee of all covenants and conditions contained herein. 

Packet Page Number 189 



 
Form A: 7.86-Acre Portion of UTS 103, Tract D Tideland Lease Agreement – Ounalashka Corporation, 
Page 4 

 
13. Payment of Taxes and Assessments. The Lessee shall pay as additional rent all real property taxes 

and assessments lawfully levied upon the Parcel during the term of the Lease. 
 

14. Utilities and Services. Lessee shall, at its expense, procure and timely pay for all services and 
utilities and hook-ups therefore which are necessary or appropriate for its operation or use of the 
Parcel. 
 

15. Easements. Lessor reserves the right to make grants to third parties or reserve to the Lessor 
easements through, on or above the Parcel for the purpose of providing water, sewer or electric 
services to the Parcel or to adjacent properties, or for the purpose of providing reasonable public 
access to public waters, provided that no such easement or may be granted or reserved which 
unreasonably interferes with the Lessee’s use of the Parcel. 

 
16. Condemnation of Leasehold Improvements. If the whole or any part of the Parcel is taken by any 

authorized body or person vested with the power of eminent domain, by negotiation, court action, 
or otherwise, the following provisions control: 

 
(a) If all of the Parcel is taken by condemnation, this Lease and all rights and obligations of 

the Lessee will immediately terminate, and the rent will be adjusted so that it is due only 
until the date the Lessee is required to surrender possession of the Parcel. The Lessor is 
entitled to all the condemnation proceeds, except that the Lessee will be paid the portion 
of the proceeds attributable to relocation costs or to improvements located on the Parcel. 
 

(b) If the taking is of a substantial part of the Parcel, the following rules apply: 
 

(1) If the taking reduces the ground area of the Parcel by at least 30 percent or materially 
affects the use being made by the Lessee of the Parcel, the Lessee has the right to 
elect to terminate or not to terminate this Lease by written notice to the Lessor not 
later than 180 days after the date of taking. 

 
(2) If the Lessee elects to terminate this Lease, the provisions in (a) of this subsection 

govern the condemned portion of the Parcel and the terms of the Lease govern 
disposal of the remainder if any. 

 
(3) If the Lessee elects not to terminate, the Lease continues and the Lessor is entitled to 

the full condemnation proceeds, except the Lessee will be paid the portion 
attributable to relocation costs or to improvements located on Parcel. Except as it 
may be adjusted from time to time under the terms of this Lease, rent for the balance 
of the term will be equitably adjusted by the Lessor to reflect the taking. 

 
(c) If the taking by condemnation reduces the ground area of the Parcel by less than 30 percent 

and the Lessee’s use of the Parcel is not materially affected, the provisions of (b)(3) of this 
subsection will govern. 

 
17. Access. The Lessor makes no representations or warranty that it will construct or maintain access 

to the Parcel. 
 

Packet Page Number 190 



 
Form A: 7.86-Acre Portion of UTS 103, Tract D Tideland Lease Agreement – Ounalashka Corporation, 
Page 5 

18. Valid Existing Rights. This Lease is entered into and made subject to all valid existing rights, 
including easements, rights-of-way, reservations, or other interests in land of record on the date of 
execution of this Lease. 

 
 

19. Inspection. The Lessor shall have reasonable access to the Parcel for purposes of inspection 
regarding the faithful performance by the Lessee of the covenants and conditions of this Lease and 
for the performance of other lawful requirements. 

 
20. Mineral Reservations. The Lessor hereby expressly saves, excepts, and reserves out of the grant 

hereby made, unto itself, its lessees, successors, and assigns forever, all oils, gases, coal, ores, 
minerals (other than sand, gravel and rock), fissionable materials, geothermal resources, and fossils 
of every name, kind or description, and which may be in or upon said lands above described, or 
any part thereof, and the right to explore the same for such oils, gases, coal, ores, minerals (other 
than sand, gravel and rock), fissionable materials, geothermal resources, and fossils. The Lessor 
also hereby expressly saves and reserves out of the grant hereby made, unto itself, its lessees, 
successors, and assigns forever, the right to enter by itself, its or their agents, attorneys, and servants 
upon said lands, or any part or parts thereof, at any and all times, for the purpose of opening, 
developing, drilling and working mines or wells on these or other lands and taking out and 
removing therefrom all such oils, gases, coal, ores, minerals (other than sand, gravel and rock), 
fissionable materials, geothermal resources, and fossils, and to that end it further expressly reserves 
out of the grant hereby made, unto itself, its lessees, successors, and assigns forever, the right by 
its or their agents, servants and attorneys at any and all times to erect, construct, maintain, and use 
all such buildings, machinery, roads, pipelines, power lines, and railroads, sink such shafts, drill 
such wells, remove such soil, and to remain on said lands or any part thereof for the foregoing 
purposes and to occupy as much of said lands as may be necessary or convenient for such purposes, 
hereby expressly reserving to itself, its lessees, successors, and assigns, as aforesaid, generally all 
rights and power in, to and over said land, whether herein expressed or not, reasonably necessary 
or convenient to render beneficial and efficient the complete enjoyment of the property and rights 
hereby expressly reserved. 

 
Provided, however, that no rights reserved hereunder shall be exercised by the Lessor or its 
subsurface lessees, until provision has been made by the Lessor or its subsurface lessees to pay to 
the Lessee of the land upon which the rights are herein reserved, full payment for all damages and 
losses sustained by said Lessee by reason of entering upon said land; and provided further that, if 
the Lessee for any cause whatever refuses or neglects to accept such damage or loss payment, the 
Lessor or its subsurface lessees, or any applicant for a subsurface lease, contract or option from the 
Lessor or its subsurface lessee for the purpose of exploring for or extracting valuable minerals 
(other than sand, gravel and rock), coal, petroleum, natural gas, or geothermal resources shall have 
the right, after posting an adequate surety bond for the Lessee, as the obligee, issued by a 
corporation qualified to do business in Alaska and licensed to sell insurance in Alaska, or after 
posting for the Lessee, as the obligee, an adequate bond executed by one or more individual sureties 
approved by the Lessee and after due notice and an opportunity to be heard, to exercise rights 
granted to it for reasonable use of the surface required for the full enjoyment of the reserved 
subsurface rights which it holds. Each surety bond shall be sufficient in amount and security to 
secure the affected rights of the Lessee, and the Lessee and the Lessor or its subsurface lessee shall 
have the standing which may be necessary to seek a determination of the damages and losses which 
the Lessee may suffer, and the security appropriate to hold the Lessee harmless in relation thereto. 

Packet Page Number 191 



 
Form A: 7.86-Acre Portion of UTS 103, Tract D Tideland Lease Agreement – Ounalashka Corporation, 
Page 6 

 
21. Appropriation or Disturbance of Waters. During the term of this Lease, the Lessee shall have the 

right to apply for an appropriation of ground or surface water on the Parcel in accordance with the 
Alaska Water Use Act. All water applied for and appropriated during the term of this Lease shall 
remain appurtenant to the Parcel during said term, and such water and water rights shall not be 
severed or transferred from the Parcel or any part thereof during said term without the prior consent 
of the Lessor. The Lessee’s rights under any permit or certificate of appropriation shall revert to 
the Lessor upon termination of the Lease or forfeiture of the Lease for cause. 

 
22. Acquisition of Rights or Interests. Any right or interest acquired during the term of this Lease and 

accruing to the benefit of the Parcel shall remain appurtenant to the Parcel during that term, and 
shall not be severed or transferred from the Parcel without the prior consent of the Lessor. In the 
event of termination or forfeiture of this Lease, any such right or interest shall revert to the Lessor 
along with the Parcel. 
 

23. Land Alterations Due to Natural or Artificial Causes. The Parcel described herein shall constitute 
the entire Parcel of property to be leased by the Lessor to the Lessee pursuant to this agreement. If, 
through natural or artificial causes, accretion or reliction of land occurs on property contiguous to 
the Parcel that is owned by the Lessor, the Lessee shall have no right to occupy or use such 
contiguous property unless a separate lease is entered with the Lessor with respect to such property. 
The parties agree and stipulate that the rules of law usually applicable to accretion or reliction of 
land shall not apply to this Lease, nor to the Parcel leased hereunder, in order that the parties may 
give effect to the provision agreed upon herein. 

 
24. Environmental Indemnification. If any hazardous substances are released or discharged on or from 

the Parcel to, on or about the Parcel or other properties, including, but not limited to, the surface or 
subsurface waters adjacent to the Parcel during the term of this Agreement, Lessee shall indemnify, 
defend, and hold Lessor harmless from any and all claims, judgments, damages, penalties, fines, 
costs, liabilities or losses, including, but not limited to, costs incurred in connection with any 
investigation of site conditions or any cleanup, remediation, removal, or restorative work required 
by any federal or state agency due to the presence of hazardous substances in the soil or 
groundwater on or under the Parcel or other affected properties, whether such losses arise during 
or after the term of this Agreement, but only to the extent that such release or discharge is not 
caused by the fault of Lessor or its agents, representatives, contractors or employees. 
 

25. Lease Subject to Public Trust. This Agreement is subject to the principles of the Public Trust 
Doctrine. 

 
26. Hazardous Substances. Lessor represents and warrants to Lessee that, to the best of its information, 

knowledge and belief, no hazardous substances have been released, discharged or spilled on the 
Parcel; however, Lessor does not represent, warrant or guarantee that this is necessarily the case. 
Otherwise, Lessor has made no express or implied representations or warranties to Lessee with 
respect to the release, discharge or spillage of any hazardous substances in, on or about the Parcel. 
Lessee hereby releases and discharges Lessor, its affiliates and all of their respective past, present 
and future officials, employees, agents, attorneys, insurers and representatives, with prejudice, from 
any and all claims, obligations or liabilities which have arisen, resulted from or are based upon, or 
may in the future arise out of, result from or be based upon, in whole or in part, the past release, 
discharge or spill of any hazardous substances or other environmental pollution in, on or about the 

Packet Page Number 192 



 
Form A: 7.86-Acre Portion of UTS 103, Tract D Tideland Lease Agreement – Ounalashka Corporation, 
Page 7 

Parcel, regardless of whether such claim, obligation or liability, or the type or extent thereof, is now 
known or foreseeable; provided, however, that such release and discharge shall be inapplicable to 
claims, obligations and liabilities that are based upon a material breach of the representations and 
warranties made by Lessor in this Agreement. 
 

27. Definition of Hazardous Substance. Hazardous substance, as such term is used in this Agreement, 
includes: (a) (1) crude oil, (2) petroleum, (3) diesel fuel, (4) marine fuel, (5) heating oil, (6) 
gasoline, (7) motor oil, (8) kerosene, (9) aviation fuel, (10) other petroleum products, additions and 
derivatives, (11) urea formaldehyde foam insulation, (12) asbestos, and (13) polychlorinated 
biphenyls; and (b) any other (1) pollutant, (2) contaminant or (3) toxic, flammable, explosive, 
radioactive, noxious, hazardous, extremely hazardous, dangerous or potentially dangerous waste, 
material or substance, the response to which or the remediation or removal of which is required, or 
the manufacture, preparation, production, use, maintenance, treatment, storage, transfer, disposal, 
handling, processing or ownership of which is restricted, prohibited, regulated or penalized by any 
federal or state law or regulation as now or hereafter in effect. 

 
28. Spill Prevention. Any fuel or oil stored on the Parcel shall be stored so as to prevent the discharge 

thereof from entering any ground or surface waters. Lessee shall promptly clean or mop up any 
fuel or oil spilled on or about the Parcel. If Lessee’s use of the Parcel results in hazardous substances 
being on or about the Parcel, Lessee shall: 

 
(a) Have materials and equipment available on the Parcel at all times sufficient to contain and 

clean up any hazardous substance that may reasonably be expected to be spilled on or about 
the Parcel. A list of said material and equipment shall be provided to Lessor for approval 
at the request of Lessor which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Lessee shall 
comply with all reasonable requests of Lessor regarding the amount and type of equipment 
and material to be kept available on the Property to contain and clean up any hazardous 
substance that may reasonably be expected to be spilled on or about the Property. 

 
(b) Prior to commencing operations from any improvement on the Parcel for which a DEC-

approved Spill Contingency Plan is required, Lessee shall provide evidence of the existence 
of such an approved plan in a form acceptable to Lessor. 

 
(c) Lessor’s inspection rights identified in paragraph 24 specifically include the right to inspect 

the materials indicated as present and stored for purposes of responding to spills of 
hazardous substances on the Parcel. 
 

29. Erosion Prevention. Lessee shall prevent unwarranted erosion of the Parcel that is caused by 
Lessee’s use or occupancy of the Parcel. Any such erosion shall be repaired in a manner satisfactory 
to Lessor at Lessee’s sole expense. 
 

30. Waiver or Forbearance. The receipt of rent by the Lessor, with or without knowledge of any breach 
of the Lease by the Lessee, or of any default on the part of the Lessee in the observance or 
performance of any of the terms, conditions or covenants of this Lease, shall not be deemed to be 
a waiver of any provision of this Lease. No failure on the part of the Lessor to enforce a condition 
or covenant of this Lease, nor the waiver of any right hereunder by the Lessor, unless in writing, 
shall discharge or invalidate the application of such term or covenant; nor shall any forbearance or 
written waiver affect the right of the Lessor to enforce any term or covenant in the event of any 

Packet Page Number 193 



 
Form A: 7.86-Acre Portion of UTS 103, Tract D Tideland Lease Agreement – Ounalashka Corporation, 
Page 8 

subsequent breach or default. The receipt by the Lessor of rent or any other sum of money, or the 
termination in any manner of the Lease, or the giving by the Lessor of any notice hereunder to 
effect such termination, shall not reinstate, continue, or extend this Lease, nor destroy or in any 
manner or impair the validity of any such notice of termination which may have been given 
hereunder by the Lessor to the Lessee prior to the receipt of any such sum of money or other 
consideration, unless the contrary effect shall be expressed in writing and signed by the Lessor. 
 
 

31. Bankruptcy. In the event Lessee becomes insolvent, makes an assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, becomes the subject of a bankruptcy proceeding, reorganization, arrangement, 
insolvency, receivership, liquidation, or dissolution proceedings, or in the event of any judicial sale 
of Lessee’s interest under this Lease, Lessor shall have the right to declare this lease in default. 

 
32. Breach and Remedies. 

 
(a) Time is of the essence of this Lease. If the Lessee shall materially breach any of the terms, 

covenants, conditions or stipulations contained in this Lease or attached hereto which are 
applicable to it, and said breach shall not be completely cured within 60 days after written 
notice of such breach has been served by the Lessor upon the Lessee and each holder of a 
security interest in the Lessee’s interest under this Lease that has notified the Lessor of such 
security interest, the Lessee shall be subject to such legal rights and remedies as the Lessor 
shall have available to it under applicable law, including, but not limited to, the termination of 
this Lease; provided, however, that no improvements now upon the Parcel, or which may be 
placed thereon during the term of this Lease, may be removed therefrom during any time in 
which the Lessee may be in material breach of this Lease. In the event that this Lease is 
terminated by the Lessor for a material breach by the Lessee of this Lease, all rents paid by the 
Lessee shall be forfeited to and retained by the Lessor, not as a penalty, but as liquidated 
damages for such breach. The Lessor shall not be liable for any expenditures made by the 
Lessee or undertaken by the Lessee under this Lease prior to such termination. 
 

(b) If the Lessee fails to completely cure a material breach of this Lease by it within the time 
allowed in (a) of this paragraph, any holder of a security interest in the Lessee’s interest under 
this Lease who has notified the Lessor of such security interest may cure or remedy such breach 
if the breach can be cured by the payment of money or, if this cannot be done, by performing, 
or undertaking in writing to perform, the Lessee’s obligations which are the subject of such 
breach that are capable of performance by the holder. The holder shall act within 60 days from 
the date of receipt of notice under (a) of this paragraph, or within any additional period which 
the Lessor may allow for good cause. 

 
(c) In the event that this Lease is terminated, or in the event that the Parcel is abandoned by the 

Lessee during the term of this Lease, the Lessor may immediately, or at any time thereafter, 
enter or reenter and take possession of such Parcel and without liability for any damage 
therefore, remove all persons and personal properties therefrom, either by summary 
proceedings or by suitable action at law; provided, however, that the words “enter” and “re-
enter” as used herein are not restricted to their technical legal meaning. Any entry or re-entry, 
possession, repossession, or dispossession by the Lessor, whether taken by summary 
proceedings or otherwise, shall not be deemed to absolve, relieve, release or discharge the 
Lessee, either in whole or part, for any monetary liability under the Lease. 

Packet Page Number 194 



 
Form A: 7.86-Acre Portion of UTS 103, Tract D Tideland Lease Agreement – Ounalashka Corporation, 
Page 9 

 
33. Disposition of Improvements and Personality After Termination: 

 
(a) Improvements, fixtures, machinery and equipment owned by lessee shall be removed by lessee 

from the Property within sixty (60) days after the expiration or termination of this Lease; 
provided that such removal will not cause injury or damage to the Property, or if it does, Lessee 
shall indemnify Lessor for the full amount of such damage; and further provided that any 
improvements, fixtures, machinery or equipment left on the Property by Lessee shall be in 
good, safe and tenantable or operable condition; and further provided that Lessee shall not 
commit, create, leave or allow to exist on the Property any nuisance or public nuisance.  The 
Lessor may extend the time for such removal in case hardship is shown to Lessor’s satisfaction, 
provided application for extension has been made in writing and received by Lessor within said 
sixty (60) day period.   

 
(b) Any buildings, improvements, fixtures, machinery, equipment or other items of real or personal 

property, which are not removed from the Property within the time allowed in paragraph 33 (a) 
of this Lease, shall immediately become the property of Lessor and title thereto shall vest in 
Lessor without further action on the part of Lessee or Lessor.  Lessor may use, sell, destroy, or 
otherwise dispose of any such property in any matter that it sees fit, without further obligation 
to Lessee.    

 
34. Indemnification. To the fullest extent allowed by law, Lessee shall defend, indemnify and hold 

harmless Lessor from and against all claims and demands for loss or damage, including property 
damage, personal injury, wrongful death, and wage or employment claims arising out of or in 
connection with the use or occupancy of the Parcel by Lessee or by any other person holding under 
Lessee from any accident or fire on the Parcel and from any nuisances made or suffered thereon; 
and from any failure by Lessee to keep the Property in a safe and lawful condition except to the 
extent that such claims or demands are caused by the fault of Lessor or its agents, representatives, 
employees or contractors. 
 

35. Surrender of Leasehold. Upon the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, the Lessee shall 
quietly and peaceably leave, surrender and yield up unto the Lessor all of the Parcel. In the event 
that Lessee remains in possession of the Parcel after the expiration of this Agreement with Lessor’s 
permission, Lessee shall be deemed to be occupying the Property as a month-to-month tenant, 
subject to all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the law, to the extent that they may 
be applicable to a month-to-month tenant. 
 

36. Required Insurance. The following insurance coverage is required to be furnished by the Lessee 
and is subject to annual review and adjustment by the Lessor, who may require reasonable increases 
in such coverage based on increased risks. Proof of the following coverage must be shown prior to 
execution of this Lease. A current certificate of insurance shall be submitted to the City each year.  

 
The insurance policies must be written by a company or companies that are on the Alaska Division 
of Insurance’s “admitted list” or “surplus lines insurance list”. The broker/agent must be licensed 
to do business in the State and, if surplus lines insurance is provided, the broker must have a surplus 
broker license. 

 
(a) Comprehensive (Commercial) General Liability Insurance. Such insurance must have coverage 

Packet Page Number 195 



 
Form A: 7.86-Acre Portion of UTS 103, Tract D Tideland Lease Agreement – Ounalashka Corporation, 
Page 10 

limits of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limits per occurrence and not less than two 
million dollars ($2,000,000) aggregate limits and shall include premises operations, 
independent contractors, products/completed operations, broad form property damage, blanket 
contractual and personal injury endorsements. 
 
The policies evidencing such coverage shall contain, or be endorsed to: 
 
(1) The Lessor, its officers, its agents and its employees are to be covered as additional 

insureds with respect to liability arising out of use of the Parcel or operations of the Lessee 
with respect to the Parcel. 
 

(2) The Lessee’s insurance coverage shall be primary insurance with respect to the Lessor, its 
officers, agents, and employees. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the Lessor 
shall be excess of the Lessee’s insurance and shall not contribute to it. 

 
(3) Coverage shall state that the Lessee’s insurance shall apply separately to each insured 

against whom claim is made or suit brought except with the respect to the limits of 
insurer’s liability. 

 
(4) That, as respects the interests of Lessor, such insurance shall (A) not be invalidated by 

any action or neglect of any person other than Lessor and (B) insure Lessor regardless of 
any misrepresentation, breach or non-observance of any warranty, declaration or 
condition contained in any applications by Lessee for, or policy evidencing, such 
insurance; and 

 
(5) That no such insurance shall be canceled or materially changed as respects the interests 

of Lessor on less than thirty days prior written notice to Lessor; 
 

(b) Workers’ Compensation and the Employer’s Liability Coverage. The Lessee shall be covered 
with workers compensation insurance and employer’s liability insurance in the required 
statutory amounts. 
 

37. Notices. All notices required or permitted under this Lease shall be personally delivered or sent by 
certified mail, postage prepaid, to the parties at the following addresses: 

 
   To Lessor: City of Unalaska 
     P.O. Box 610 

Unalaska, Alaska 99685 
 

To Lessee: Ounalashka Corporation 
     P.O. Box 149 
     Unalaska, Alaska 99685 
 

Any notice or demand which must be given or made by the Lessor or the Lessee shall be in writing 
and shall be complete if personally delivered or sent by United States certified mail to the address 
shown in the Lease Agreement, or to such other address as each of the parties may designate in 
writing from time to time. A copy of any such notice shall be forwarded to the Lessor, and to the 
holder of any security interest in the Lessee’s interest in the Lease has properly given notice of its 

Packet Page Number 196 



 
Form A: 7.86-Acre Portion of UTS 103, Tract D Tideland Lease Agreement – Ounalashka Corporation, 
Page 11 

security interest in the Lease to the Lessor. 
 

38. Integration and Modification. This Lease, including all attachments and documents which by 
reference are incorporated herein or made a part hereof, contains the entire agreement between the 
parties hereto. 
 

39. Amendments. This Lease may not be modified or amended except by a document signed by both 
parties hereto, and any purported amendment or modification shall be without legal effect until 
reduced to writing and signed by both parties hereto. 
 
 

40. Severability of Clauses of Lease Agreement. If any clause, or provision, herein contained, shall be 
adjudged to be invalid or unenforceable, it shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other 
clause or provision of this Lease or give any cause of action in favor of either party as against the 
other. 
 

41. Applicable Law. This Lease shall be governed by the laws of the State of Alaska. The venue for 
any dispute between the parties shall lie exclusively with the courts for the Third Judicial District 
for the State of Alaska at Anchorage, or, alternatively, with the United States District Court for the 
District of Alaska at Anchorage, unless a nonwaivable federal or Alaska law should require to the 
contrary. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Lessor and the Lessee have caused these presents to be executed in duplicate, 
and have hereunto set their respective hands, agreeing to keep, observe and perform the terms, conditions 
and provisions herein contained or attached, which on the Lessor’s or the Lessee’s respective parts are to 
be kept, observed and performed. 
 
      LESSEE: 
 
 
      _______________________________ 
      Natalie Cale, Interim CEO 
      Ounalashka Corporation 
 
 
STATE OF ALASKA ) 

) ss. 
Third Judicial District ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledge before me on the _____ day of ______________ 2023, by 
Natalie Cale, Interim CEO of Ounalashka Corporation, an Alaska Corporation, on behalf of the 
corporation. 
 

 
____________________________________________  
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the State of Alaska 
My Commission Expires: _______________________ 

  

Packet Page Number 197 



 
Form A: 7.86-Acre Portion of UTS 103, Tract D Tideland Lease Agreement – Ounalashka Corporation, 
Page 12 

LESSOR: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
William Homka, City Manager 
City of Unalaska 

 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
    ) ss. 
Municipality of Unalaska )  
 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of _______________, 2023, by 
William Homka, City Manager for the City of Unalaska, a First Class Alaska Municipal Corporation, on 
behalf of the City of Unalaska. 
 

 
____________________________________________ 
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the State of Alaska 
My Commission Expires: _______________________ 

Packet Page Number 198 



Packet Page Number 199 



UTS 103 Tr. D - Trident South Lease

Parcels

Streets

9/7/2023, 10:48:40 AM
0 0.1 0.20.05 mi

0 0.15 0.30.07 km

1:10,321

Web AppBuilder for ArcGIS

City of Unalaska, Geographic Technologies Group, Inc. | City of Unalaska; Geographic Technologies Group, Inc. | City of Unalaska Department of Planning, Geographic Technologies Group, Inc. | DOWL |

Packet Page Number 200 



 

 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 
RESOLUTION 2023-38 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL APPROVING A 20-YEAR LAND LEASE 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF UNALASKA AND EARTHSCOPE CONSORTIUM INC., 
FOR A CORS STATION ON A PORTION OF LOT 1 NEEDLE SUBDIVISION, PLAT 95-32 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska is the owner of Lot 1, Needle Subdivision, Plat File No. 95-32, 
City of Unalaska, Aleutian Islands Recording District, Third Judicial District, State of Alaska; and 
 
WHEREAS, EarthScope Consortium, Inc., desires to lease a portion of Lot 1 shown in the 
attached Exhibit A, for a 20-year period to maintain operation of an existing Continually Operating 
Reference Station (CORS); and 
 
WHEREAS, Unalaska Code of Ordinances § 7.12.020 UCO requires City Council approval of any 
lease of City property having a term greater than 5 years; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that a new 20-year lease is of benefit to the City as 
it promotes long-term, substantial, durable, and desirable investment in the City of Unalaska’s 
cadastral framework, use of the Real-Time Kinematic Positioning (RTK) data, Geographic 
Information Systems (GIS) program, and support of the State of Alaska’s and United States 
Government’s spatial management, scientific data, and research. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL approves the 
land lease between the City of Unalaska and EarthScope Consortium, Inc. for a portion of Lot 1 
shown on attached Exhibit A, in exchange for use of the RTK signal generated by the CORS 
station. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on 
September 12, 2023. 
 
 
      _______________________________ 
      Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Estkarlen Magdaong 
City Clerk 
 
 

Packet Page Number 201 



Packet Page Number 202 



-1- 
 

 
MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Marjorie Veeder, Acting Planning Director  
Through: William Homka, City Manager 
Date:  September 12, 2023 
Re: Ordinance 2023-38: Approving a 20-year land lease agreement between the City 

of Unalaska and EarthScope Consortium Inc., for a CORS station on a portion of 
Lot 1, Needle Subdivision, Plat 95-32 

 
 
SUMMARY: A land lease between the City of Unalaska and EarthScope Consortium Inc., has 
been drafted and is being processed in accordance with City code and policies. City Council 
approval is required for the lease because the term is greater than five (5) years. Staff 
recommends approval. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: None.  

BACKGROUND: Since 2004, the City of Unalaska’s Lot 1, Needle Subdivision on top of haystack 
has hosted a Continually Operating Reference Station (CORS) in support of the United States 
Geological Survey. The CORS equipment emits a Real-Time Kinematic Positioning (RTK) data 
signal that allows surveyors and City officials to accurately locate and reference points on the 
ground. 

DISCUSSION: EarthScope Consortium Inc. applied to renew their lease of approximately 12 
square feet of land on Lot 1 of Needle Subdivision, Plat 95-32 (Exhibit A). This parcel is at the top 
of Haystack Hill and is the hub location for all radio-communications in town. Since 2004, a CORS 
station has been on this parcel in the same spot. In the past, these have been 5-year leases, but 
in the best interest of a permanent station, Staff and EarthScope are seeking a longer-term lease. 

It is in the City’s best interest to maintain this CORS station lease as it is the basis of our 3-
dimensional position finding. In town alone, the station impacts locates of property corners, 
utilities, the GIS system, surveyors, and builders. Beyond the City’s interests, geologic research 
at Makushin and tectonic research in the region on a state, federal, and international level, as part 
of the Plate Boundary Observatory, and the Network Of The Americas. 

Pursuant to UCO 7.12.020, any lease having a term of greater than five years shall first be 
approved by the City Council. Staff would like to step out of the revolving door of five-year leases 
for permanent fixtures such as this one. 

ALTERNATIVES: If the City Council finds that it is not in the best interest of the City to approve 
Resolution 2023-38 as is, it may alternatively grant the lease agreement for less than 20 years. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: The maximum 180 kW electric charge to the City would be $80 per 
year, while the data itself is invaluable. 

LEGAL: The lease was developed in consultation with the City Attorney. 

Packet Page Number 203 



-2- 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends adoption of Resolution 2023-38. 

PROPOSED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution 2023-38.  

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I support staff’s recommendation. 

ATTACHMENTS:  
1. Proposed lease 
2. Image of CORS unit 

 

 

Packet Page Number 204 



 

Page 1 of 10 
 

LEASE AGREEMENT 

This Lease Agreement is made and entered into this ____ day of _______________ 2023, 
between the City of Unalaska, a first-class Alaska municipal corporation ("Lessor”), whose 
address is P.O. Box 610, Unalaska, Alaska 99685, and EarthScope Consortium, Inc. ("Lessee"), 
whose address is 1200 New York Avenue NW, Suite 400, Washington, DC 20005. To be recorded 
in Aleutian Islands Recording District, Third Judicial District, State of Alaska. 

NOW THEREFORE, the Lessor and the Lessee, in consideration of the mutual covenants and 
conditions stated in this Lease, agree as follows: 

1. Leased Parcel: The Lessor hereby leases to the Lessee, and the Lessee hereby leases from 
the Lessor, the following parcel of land (collectively "Parcel") located within a portion of Lot 1, 
Needle Subdivision, Plat File No. 95-32, City of Unalaska, Aleutian Islands Recording District, 
Third Judicial District, State of Alaska, as shown in the shaded area of attached Exhibit A. 

EXCEPTING AND RESERVING THEREFROM, to the Lessor and its assigns during the term 
of this Lease, the following specific interests, which shall be in addition to and not in derogation 
of any general reservations to the Lessor which may be stated elsewhere in this Lease: 
easements, rights of way and reservations of record. 

2. Term: The term of this Lease shall be for a period of 20 years commencing on the 19th day of 
June, 2022 and ending on the 18th day of June, 2042, unless sooner terminated as herein 
provided. 

3. Rent: The Lessee and Lessor agree to the following terms for exchange of services, to be 
considered ‘rent’: 

a. Lessor shall provide lessee, free of charge, electrical power for the GPS Station 
and associated hardware not to exceed 180 kWh per year. 

b. Lessee shall pay for electrical power used in excess of 180 kWh per year. 

c. Lessee shall provide Lessor access to the RTK signal generated by Lessee’s 
equipment, free of charge. 

4. Use of Parcel: The Lessee shall use and occupy the Parcel in compliance with all applicable 
laws, regulations, ordinances, and orders which a public authority has promulgated or may 
promulgate, including those of a building or zoning authority and those relating to pollution or 
sanitation control. The Lessee shall not permit any unlawful occupation, business, or trade to 
be conducted on the Parcel. The Lessee shall properly locate itself and their improvements 
on the Parcel, and shall not commit waste of the Parcel, whether ameliorated or otherwise. 
Notwithstanding such laws, regulations, ordinances, and orders, the Lessee shall maintain 
the Parcel in a reasonably neat and clean condition, and take all prudent precautions to 
prevent or suppress pollution of the ground, surface water, air, or land, and to prevent erosion 
or destruction of the land. 

a. Lessee may use the Parcel for any lawful purpose in connection with its one GPS 
Station and associated hardware. 

i. All equipment on the Parcel shall not interfere with other equipment which 
is located on or about the same general site. 

Packet Page Number 205 



 

Page 2 of 10 
 

ii. All equipment shall be grounded to meet the National Electric Code (NEC). 
The antenna/equipment facilities wind support guide lines shall include 
anti-reflective insulators as to prevent any Electromagnetic Interference 
(EMI) with any other equipment on or about the site. The Lessee will 
investigate any and all interference reports sent in written form. The Lessee 
will maintain technical support to correct any and all reports of interference 
by the Lessee’s equipment. The Lessee will install any equipment 
necessary to filter, tune, and isolate any interference developed by the 
installed equipment. 

iii. All towers shall be designed to prevent the climbing of the towers by the 
general public. 

5. Quiet Enjoyment: Lessor covenants and agrees that Lessee, upon performance of all of 
Lessee’s obligations under this Lease, shall lawfully, quietly, and exclusively hold, occupy, 
and enjoy the Parcel during the term of this Lease without disturbance by Lessor or by any 
person having title paramount to Lessor’s title or by any person claiming under Lessor, 
provided, however, that Lessor expressly reserves the right, without compensation or 
adjustment of rentals to Lessee, to grant surface, underground, or overhead easements or 
rights-of-way for public improvements and purposes in or upon the Parcel if the exercise of 
this right will not unreasonably interfere with Lessee’s improvements and use of the Parcel. 

6. Alterations and Improvements: Upon receiving written permission from Lessor, Lessee may 
make alterations, additions and improvements to the Parcel, at Lessee’s sole cost and 
expense. Lessor’s consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Lessee shall remove all 
improvements and personal property of Lessee from the Parcel at the end of the Lease term 
and the Parcel shall be restored to the condition prevailing on the effective date of this Lease.  

7. Title to Improvements: All buildings, structures, fixtures and permanent improvements placed 
or attached on or about the Parcel by Lessee shall remain the property of Lessee until such 
time as the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

8. Removal of Improvements and Chattels After Termination: 

a. Lessee shall, within three (3) months after termination of this Agreement, remove 
all improvements and chattels from the Parcel, provided that Lessor first 
determines that such removal will not cause injury or damage to the Parcel or 
seriously impair its redisposal. 

b. If any improvements or chattels having an appraised value exceeding $20,000.00 
as determined by the Lessor, are not removed from the Parcel within the time 
allowed, they shall, upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to Lessee, be sold at 
public auction under the direction of Lessor. 

c. Any chattels or improvements having a total appraised value of $20,000.00 or less, 
as determined by the Lessor, and which are authorized for removal by Lessor but 
are not removed within the time allowed, shall become the absolute property of the 
Lessor. 

d. Lessee shall reimburse Lessor for damages to the Parcel caused by the removal 
of fixtures and improvements. 

9. Encumbrance of Parcel: The Lessee, during the term of this Lease, shall not encumber or 
cloud the Lessor's reversionary interest in the Parcel, without the prior written consent of the 

Packet Page Number 206 



 

Page 3 of 10 
 

Lessor, which shall not be unreasonably withheld; and any such act or omission, without the 
prior written consent of the Lessor, shall be voidable by the Lessor. 

10. Assignment of Lease and Sublease of Parcel: The Lessee may not assign this Lease or sublet 
the Parcel, without the prior written consent of the Lessor, which shall not be unreasonably 
withheld. No assignment of this Lease shall be approved until the assignee agrees to be 
subject to and governed by the provisions of this Lease in the same manner as the original 
Lessee to the extent that they may be applicable to the sublease except for the payment of 
Rent and other monetary obligations. No such assignment or sublease will be effective until 
approved by the Lessor in writing or shall annul the Lessee's obligation to pay the rent herein 
required for the full term of this Lease. Except as permitted by the Lessor, no subdivision of 
the Lessee's leasehold interest, including any exposed airspace thereon, shall occur. 

11. Denial of Warranty Regarding Conditions: The Lessor makes no warranty, express or implied, 
nor assumes any liability whatsoever, regarding the natural, social, economic, or 
environmental conditions of the Parcel, including, without limitation, the soil, water and 
drainage conditions, natural or artificial hazards, and the profitability or fitness of the Parcel 
for any use. Lessee represents and warrants that it has independently inspected the Parcel 
and made all tests, investigations and observations necessary to satisfy itself of the condition 
of the Parcel. Lessee shall and is relying solely on such independent inspection, tests, 
investigations and observations in making this Agreement. Lessee accepts and shall be 
responsible for any risk of harm to any person and property, including but not limited to, 
employees of Lessee, from any latent defects in the Parcel. 

12. Agreement to Terms of Lease: The Lessor and the Lessee agree and recognize that each of 
the covenants and conditions in this Lease and any attachments thereto are merged and 
incorporated into this agreement and shall be binding upon themselves and upon their 
respective successors, successors in interest and assigns and shall inure to their benefit. The 
Lessor and the Lessee further agree and recognize that this Lease shall be conditioned upon 
satisfactory performance by the Lessor and the Lessee of all covenants and conditions 
contained herein. 

13. Utilities and Services: Lessee shall, at its expense, procure and timely pay for all services and 
utilities and hook-ups therefore which are necessary or appropriate for its operation or use of 
the Parcel. 

14. Easements: Lessor reserves the right to make grants to third parties or reserve to the Lessor 
easements through, on or above the Parcel for the purpose of providing water, sewer or 
electric services to the Parcel or to adjacent properties, or for the purpose of providing 
reasonable public access to public waters, provided that no such easement or may be granted 
or reserved which unreasonably interferes with the Lessee's use of the Parcel. 

15. Access: The Lessor makes no representations or warranty that it will construct or maintain 
access to the Parcel. 

16. Valid Existing Rights: This Lease is entered into and made subject to all valid existing rights, 
including easements, rights-of-way, reservations, or other interests in land of record on the 
date of execution of this Lease. 

17. Inspection: The Lessor shall have reasonable access to the Parcel for purposes of inspection 
regarding the faithful performance by the Lessee of the covenants and conditions of this Lease 
and for the performance of other lawful requirements. 

Packet Page Number 207 



 

Page 4 of 10 
 

18. Acquisition of Rights or Interests: Any right or interest acquired during the term of this Lease 
and accruing to the benefit of the Parcel shall remain appurtenant to the Parcel during that 
term, and shall not be severed or transferred from the Parcel without the prior consent of the 
Lessor. In the event of termination or forfeiture of this Lease, any such right or interest shall 
revert to the Lessor along with the Parcel. 

19. Environmental Indemnification: If any hazardous substances are released or discharged on 
or from the Parcel to, on or about the Parcel or other properties, including, but not limited to, 
the surface or subsurface waters adjacent to the Parcel during the term of this Agreement, 
Lessee shall indemnify, defend, and hold Lessor harmless from any and all claims, judgments, 
damages, penalties, fines, costs, liabilities or losses, including, but not limited to, costs 
incurred in connection with any investigation of site conditions or any cleanup, remediation, 
removal, or restorative work required by any federal or state agency due to the presence of 
hazardous substances in the soil or groundwater on or under the Parcel or other affected 
properties, whether such losses arise during or after the term of this Agreement, but only to 
the extent that such release or discharge is not caused by the fault of Lessor or its agents, 
representatives, contractors or employees. 

20. Hazardous Substances: Lessor represents and warrants to Lessee that, to the best of its 
information, knowledge and belief, no hazardous substances have been released, discharged 
or spilled on the Parcel; however, Lessor does not represent, warrant or guarantee that this 
is necessarily the case. Otherwise, Lessor has made no express or implied representations 
or warranties to Lessee with respect to the release, discharge or spillage of any hazardous 
substances in, on or about the Parcel. Lessee hereby releases and discharges Lessor, its 
affiliates and all of their respective past, present and future officials, employees, agents, 
attorneys, insurers and representatives, with prejudice, from any and all claims, obligations or 
liabilities which have arisen, resulted from or are based upon, or may in the future arise out 
of, result from or be based upon, in whole or in part, the past release, discharge or spill of any 
hazardous substances or other environmental pollution in, on or about the Parcel, regardless 
of whether such claim, obligation or liability, or the type or extent thereof, is now known or 
foreseeable; provided, however, that such release and discharge shall be inapplicable to 
claims, obligations and liabilities that are based upon a material breach of the representations 
and warranties made by Lessor in this Section. 

21. Definition of Hazardous Substance: Hazardous substance, as such term is used in this 
Agreement, includes: (a) (1) crude oil, (2) petroleum, (3) diesel fuel, (4) marine fuel, (5) heating 
oil, (6) gasoline, (7) motor oil, (8) kerosene, (9) aviation fuel, (10) other petroleum products, 
additions and derivatives, (11) urea formaldehyde foam insulation, (12) asbestos, and (13) 
polychlorinated biphenyls; and (b) any other (1) pollutant, (2) contaminant or (3) toxic, 
flammable, explosive, radioactive, noxious, hazardous, extremely hazardous, dangerous or 
potentially dangerous waste, material or substance, the response to which or the remediation 
or removal of which is required, or the manufacture, preparation, production, use, 
maintenance, treatment, storage, transfer, disposal, handling, processing or ownership of 
which is restricted, prohibited, regulated or penalized by any federal or state law or regulation 
as now or hereafter in effect. 

22. Erosion Prevention: Lessee shall prevent unwarranted erosion of the Parcel that is caused by 
Lessee's use or occupancy of the Parcel. Any such erosion shall be repaired in a manner 
satisfactory to Lessor at Lessee's sole expense. 

23. Waiver or Forbearance: The receipt of rent by the Lessor, with or without knowledge of any 
breach of the Lease by the Lessee, or of any default on the part of the Lessee in the 

Packet Page Number 208 



 

Page 5 of 10 
 

observance or performance of any of the terms, conditions or covenants of this Lease, shall 
not be deemed to be a waiver of any provision of this Lease. No failure on the part of the 
Lessor to enforce a condition or covenant of this Lease, nor the waiver of any right hereunder 
by the Lessor, unless in writing, shall discharge or invalidate the application of such term or 
covenant; nor shall any forbearance or written waiver affect the right of the Lessor to enforce 
any term or covenant in the event of any subsequent breach or default. The receipt by the 
Lessor of rent or any other sum of money, or the termination in any manner of the Lease, or 
the giving by the Lessor of any notice hereunder to effect such termination, shall not reinstate, 
continue, or extend this Lease, nor destroy or in any manner or impair the validity of any such 
notice of termination which may have been given hereunder by the Lessor to the Lessee prior 
to the receipt of any such sum of money or other consideration, unless the contrary effect 
shall be expressed in writing and signed by the Lessor. 

24. Bankruptcy: In the event Lessee becomes insolvent, makes an assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, becomes the subject of a bankruptcy proceeding, reorganization, arrangement, 
insolvency, receivership, liquidation, or dissolution proceedings, or in the event of any judicial 
sale of Lessee's interest under this Lease, Lessor shall have the right to declare this Lease in 
default. 

25. Breach and Remedies: 

a. Time is of the essence of this Lease. If the Lessee shall materially breach any of 
the terms, covenants, conditions or stipulations contained in this Lease or attached 
hereto which are applicable to it, and said breach shall not be completely cured 
within 60 days after written notice of such breach has been served by the Lessor 
upon the Lessee and each holder of a security interest in the Lessee's interest 
under this Lease that has notified the Lessor of such security interest, the Lessee 
shall be subject to such legal rights and remedies as the Lessor shall have 
available to it under applicable law, including, but not limited to, the termination of 
this Lease; provided, however, that no improvements now upon the Parcel, or 
which may be placed thereon during the term of this Lease, may be removed 
therefrom during any time in which the Lessee may be in material breach of this 
Lease. In the event that this Lease is terminated by the Lessor for a material breach 
by the Lessee of this Lease, all rents paid by the Lessee shall be forfeited to and 
retained by the Lessor, not as a penalty, but as liquidated damages for such 
breach. The Lessor shall not be liable for any expenditures made by the Lessee 
or undertaken by the Lessee under this Lease prior to such termination. 

b. If the Lessee fails to completely cure a material breach of this Lease by it within 
the time allowed in (a) of this paragraph, any holder of a security interest in the 
Lessee's interest under this Lease who has notified the Lessor such security 
interest may cure or remedy such breach if the breach can be cured by the 
payment of money or, if this cannot be done, by performing, or undertaking in 
writing to perform, the Lessee's obligations which are the subject of such breach 
that are capable of performance by the holder. The holder shall act within 60 days 
from the date of receipt of notice under (a) of this paragraph, or within any 
additional period, which the Lessor may allow for good cause. 

c. In the event that this Lease is terminated, or in the event that the Parcel are 
abandoned by the Lessee during the term of this Lease, the Lessor may 
immediately, or at any time thereafter, enter or reenter and take possession of 
such Parcel and without liability for any damage there for, remove all persons and 

Packet Page Number 209 



 

Page 6 of 10 
 

personal properties therefrom, either by summary proceedings or by suitable 
action at law; provided, however, that the words "enter” and "re-enter” as used 
herein are not restricted to their technical legal meaning. Any entry or re-entry, 
possession, repossession, or dispossession by the Lessor, whether taken by 
summary proceedings or otherwise, shall not be deemed to absolve, relieve, 
release or discharge the Lessee, either in whole or part, for any monetary liability 
under the Lease. 

26. Indemnification: To the fullest extent allowed by law, Lessee shall defend indemnify and hold 
harmless Lessor from and against all claims and demands for loss or damage, including 
property damage, personal injury, wrongful death, and wage or employment claims arising 
out of or in connection with the use or occupancy of the Parcel by Lessee or by any other 
person holding under Lessee from any accident or fire on the Parcel and from any nuisances 
made or suffered thereon; and from any failure by Lessee to keep the Parcel in a safe and 
lawful condition except to the extent that such claims or demands are caused by the fault of 
Lessor or its agents, representatives, employees or contractors. 

27. Surrender of Leasehold: Upon the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, the Lessee 
shall quietly and peaceably leave, surrender and yield up unto the Lessor all of the Parcel. In 
the event that Lessee remains in possession of the Parcel after the expiration of this 
Agreement with Lessor's permission, Lessee shall be deemed to be occupying the Parcel as 
a month-to-month tenant, subject to all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the 
law, to the extent that they may be applicable to a month-to-month tenant. 

28. Required Insurance: The following insurance coverage is required to be furnished and 
maintained throughout the duration of this lease agreement by the Lessee and is subject to 
annual review and adjustment by the Lessor. Proof of insurance in the form of certificates of 
insurance and their endorsements are to be received by the City at the signing of this 
agreement. Acceptance by the City of deficient evidence of insurance does not constitute a 
waiver of contract requirements. The City reserves the right to request certified copies of full 
insurance policies and their endorsements required by these specifications.  

The insurance policies must be written by a company or companies that are authorized to 
conduct business in the State of Alaska with a current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A, A-
:VII, unless otherwise acceptable to the City. 

a. Commercial General Liability Insurance: Insurance must have coverage limits of 
not less than $1,000,000 combined single limits per occurrence and not less than 
two million dollars ($2,000,000) aggregate limits and shall include Parcel 
operations, independent contractors, products/completed operations, broad form 
property damage, blanket contractual and personal injury endorsements. 

The policies evidencing such coverage must be endorsed to contain, the following 
provisions: 

i. The Lessor, its officers, its agents and its employees are to be covered as 
additional insureds with respect to liability arising out of use of the Parcel 
or operations of the Lessee with respect to the Parcel. 

ii. The Lessee's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance with respect 
to the Lessor, its officers, agents, and employees. Any insurance or self-
insurance maintained by the Lessor shall be excess of the Lessee's 
insurance and shall not contribute to it. 

Packet Page Number 210 



 

Page 7 of 10 
 

iii. Coverage shall state that the Lessee's insurance shall apply separately to 
each insured against whom claim is made or suit brought except with the 
respect to the limits of insurer's liability. 

iv. That, as respects the interests of Lessor, such insurance shall (A) not be 
invalidated by any action or neglect of any person other than Lessor and 
(B) insure Lessor regardless of any misrepresentation, breach or 
non-observance of any warranty, declaration or condition contained in any 
applications by Lessee for, or policy evidencing, such insurance; and 

v. That no such insurance shall be canceled or materially changed as 
respects the interests of Lessor on less than thirty days prior written notice 
to Lessor; 

b. Workers’ Compensation and the Employer’s Liability Coverage: The Lessee shall 
be covered with workers compensation insurance and employer's liability 
insurance in the required statutory amounts. 

29. Notices: All notices required or permitted under this Lease shall be personally delivered or 
sent by certified mail, postage prepaid, to the parties at the following addresses: 

To Lessor: 

City of Unalaska 
  P.O. Box 610 
  Unalaska, AK 99685 

To Lessee: 

EarthScope Consortium, Inc 
  1200 New York Avenue NW, Suite 400 

Washington, DC 20005 
Any notice or demand which must be given or made by the Lessor or the Lessee shall be in 
writing and shall be complete if personally delivered or sent by United States certified mail to 
the address shown in the Lease Agreement, or to such other address as each of the parties 
may designate in writing from time to time. A copy of any such notice shall be forwarded to 
the Lessor, and to the holder of any security interest in the Lessee's interest in the Lease has 
properly given notice of its security interest in the Lease to the Lessor. 

30. Integration and Modification: This Lease, including all attachments and documents which by 
reference are incorporated herein or made a part hereof, contains the entire agreement 
between the parties hereto. 

31. Amendments: This Lease may not be modified or amended except by a document signed by 
both parties hereto, and any purported amendment or modification shall be without legal effect 
until reduced to writing and signed by both parties hereto. 

32. Severability of Clauses of Lease Agreement: If any clause, or provision, herein contained, 
shall be adjudged to be invalid or unenforceable, it shall not affect the validity or enforceability 
of any other clause or provision of this Lease or give any cause of action in favor of either 
party as against the other. 

33. Applicable Law: This Lease shall be governed by the laws of the State of Alaska. The venue 
for any dispute between the parties shall lie exclusively with the courts for the Third Judicial 

Packet Page Number 211 



 

Page 8 of 10 
 

District for the State of Alaska at Anchorage, or, alternatively, with the United States District 
Court for the District of Alaska at Anchorage, unless a nonwaivable federal or Alaska law 
should require to the contrary. 

34. Effective Date: This Lease shall not be effective until and unless approved by the City Council 
of Lessor as required and the Board of Directors of Lessee. This Lease shall become effective 
upon the occurrence of the last such approval. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Lessor and the Lessee have caused these presents to be executed 
in duplicate, and have hereunto set their respective hands, agreeing to keep, observe and perform 
the terms, conditions and provisions herein contained or attached, which on the Lessor's or the 
Lessee's respective parts are to be kept, observed and performed. 

  LESSOR: CITY OF UNALASKA 
  

 
 

  By: ____________________________ 
William Homka 

   City Manager 
 
 
STATE OF ALASKA   ) 
     ) ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT  ) 

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of _______________, 
2023, by the WILLIAM HOMKA, City Manager for the City of Unalaska, a First Class Alaska 
Municipal Corporation, on behalf of the City. 
 

  _____________________________ 
      NOTARY PUBLIC, State of Alaska 
  My Commission Expires: __________ 

Packet Page Number 212 



 

Page 9 of 10 
 

LESSEE: EarthScope Consortium, Inc. 
 

        By: ______________________________ 
   ___________________ (Name) 
   ___________________ (Title) 
 
 

STATE OF__________________ ) 
     ) ss. 
County of ____________________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of _______________, 
2023, by _________________________________, the _______________________________ 
of EarthScope Consortium, Inc., on behalf of the corporation. 
 
 
 

  _____________________________ 
      NOTARY PUBLIC 
      State of ______________________  

My Commission Expires: __________ 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
After Recording, Return to: 
 

Planning Department  
City of Unalaska 
P.O. Box 610 
Unalaska, AK 99685 

 
  

Packet Page Number 213 



 

Page 10 of 10 
 

EXHIBIT A 

Packet Page Number 214 



Packet Page Number 215 



Packet Page Number 216 



-1- 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Estkarlen P. Magdaong, City Clerk 
Through: William Homka, City Manager 
Date:  September 12, 2023 
Re:  J&G Airport Restaurant, LLC Liquor License Application 

 
SUMMARY: On August 8, 2023 the City was notified by Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office that 
the previously approved liquor license transfer from Tuyen & Tran Dinh to Johnny & Genevieve 
Rabanal was inaccurate as AMCO recently discovered that the new owners had an LLC on their 
business. AMCO has amended the necessary forms with the Rabanals’ written permission.  

The type of license is for a Beverage Dispensary-Tourism. The local governing body may protest 
approval of the application. Staff recommends no protest. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Council reviews liquor license applications and renewals as they 
are submitted to the city by the state. Council discussed protesting specific license renewals in 
the past due to delinquent utility bills but did not file any protests. In 2010 Council protested the 
renewal of a liquor license due to delinquent sales tax, property tax and utility bills, and because 
the business had no physical location due to fire. 

BACKGROUND: Pursuant to Alaska Statute 04.11.480, the Alcohol & Marijuana Control Office 
issued the attached notice to the City of Unalaska as the local governing body. A local governing 
body may protest the approval of an application pursuant to AS 04.11.480 by furnishing the 
director and the applicant with a clear and concise written statement of reasons for the protest 
within 60 days of receipt of the notice, and by allowing the applicant a reasonable opportunity to 
defend the application before a meeting of the local governing body, as required by 3 AAC 
304.145(d). If a protest is filed, the board will deny the application unless the board finds that the 
protest is arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable.  

DISCUSSION: Johnny & Genevieve Rabanal, doing business as J & G Airport Restaurant LLC 
applied to transfer ownership of the Airport Restaurant liquor license.  

The new business is compliant with their obligations to the City of Unalaska (business license, 
reporting and payment of taxes, concession reports, utilities and lease payments). The Rabanals 
and the Ports Department are working with the State of Alaska to finalize the lease within the 
airport terminal building.  

Public Safety completed a licensed premises inspection on March 2, 2023. Council also considers 
the number of public safety calls made to an establishment each year, which are detailed below 
for 2022. Unalaska’s Department of Public Safety has no concern about the transfer of this liquor 
license.  

 

 

 

 

Packet Page Number 217 



-2- 

CALL TYPE 2022 Calls 
Ambulance Request 1 
Assistance Rendered 1 
Drunk Disturbance 2 
Traffic Crime 1 
Welfare Check 2 
Total Calls to Establishment 7 
Calls initiated by officer 3 
Calls initiated by staff/civilian 4 

 
 
ALTERNATIVES: Council may choose to protest the license, but must provide the applicant an 
opportunity to present a defense to the protest at a future council meeting. This must be 
accomplished no later than October 7, 2023. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:  Probable loss of tax revenue if a license is not granted. 
 
LEGAL:  None 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends no protest. 
  
PROPOSED MOTION: No action is necessary unless Council wishes to lodge a protest. 
 
CITY MANAGER’S COMMENTS: I concur with the staff recommendation. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 

 Electronic mail from Alcohol and Marijuana Control Board 
 Updated Notice to Local Governing Body 
 Updated Form AB-01: Transfer License Application 
 Updated Form AB-02: Premises Diagram 
 Updated Form AB-03: Restaurant Designation Permit Application 

 

Packet Page Number 218 



From:                               AMCO Local Government Only (CED sponsored)
Sent:                                Tuesday, August 8, 2023 3:05 PM
To:                                   Estkarlen Magdaong
Cc:                                   AMCO Local Government Only (CED sponsored)
Subject:                          #3759 Airport Restaurant Amended Transfer Applica�on
A�achments:                  3759 Updated LGB No�ce.pdf; 3759 Updated AB-01.pdf; 3759

Updated AB-02.pdf; 3759 Updated AB-03.pdf

 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organiza�on. Do not click links
or open a�achments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Good afternoon,
 
This was a previously approved transfer from Tuyen & Tran Dinh to Johnny & Genevieve
Rabanal, however it was discovered today that the Rabanal’s have a LLC that is the authentic
owner of the business. Therefore, we have amended the necessary forms, with the Rabanal’s
written permission, to reflect the correct ownership and we felt if would be best to notify the
local government of the change.
 
Attached is correspondence regarding a complete liquor license application within your
jurisdiction. 
 
Also attached is a copy of the application and Form AB-03: Restaurant Designation Permit
Application, which will require a separate local government approval.
 
If you have any questions or concerns, please direct them to
amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov.
 
Respectfully,
 

Carrie Craig
Records and Licensing Supervisor
Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office

550 West 7th Avenue, Suite 1600
Anchorage, AK 99501
907-269-0350
 

Packet Page Number 219 

mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov
mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov
mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov
mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov
mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov
mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov
mailto:emagdaong@ci.unalaska.ak.us
mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov
mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov


Department of Commerce, Community, 
and Economic Development 
ALCOHOL & MARIJUANA CONTROL OFFICE 

550 West 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 
Anchorage, AK 99501 

Main: 907.269.0350

August 8, 2023 

City of Unalaska  
Via Email:  emagdaong@ci.unalaska.ak.us
 

License Type: Beverage Dispensary- Tourism License Number: 3759 

Licensee: J&G Airport Restaurant LLC 

Doing Business As: J&G Airport Restaurant 

Premises Address Unalaska Airport Terminal 

☐ New Application ☒ Transfer of Ownership Application
☐ Transfer of Location Application ☐ Transfer of Controlling Interest Application

We have received a completed application for the above listed license (see attached application documents) within 
your jurisdiction. This is the notice required under AS 04.11.480. 

A local governing body may protest the approval of an application(s) pursuant to AS 04.11.480 by furnishing the 
director and the applicant with a clear and concise written statement of reasons for the protest within 60 days of 
receipt of this notice, and by allowing the applicant a reasonable opportunity to defend the application before a 
meeting of the local governing body, as required by 3 AAC 304.145(d). If a protest is filed, the board will deny the 
application unless the board finds that the protest is arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable. To protest the 
application referenced above, please submit your protest within 60 days and show proof of service upon the 
applicant. 

AS 04.11.491 – AS 04.11.509 provide that the board will deny a license application if the board finds that the 
license is prohibited under as a result of an election conducted under AS 04.11.507. 

AS 04.11.420 provides that the board will not issue a license when a local governing body protests an application 
on the grounds that the applicant’s proposed licensed premises are located in a place within the local government 
where a local zoning ordinance prohibits the alcohol establishment, unless the local government has approved a 
variance from the local ordinance. 

Sincerely, 

Joan Wilson, Director 
amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov 

GOVERNOR MIKE DUNLEAVY

THE STATE

"ALASKA

Packet Page Number 220 

mailto:jgrabanal@yahoo.com
mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov


Akohoi.< Beverage Control Board

• • j v» »»,.-••'•-

A •-» ., . 'r -•
AC WrUll

*tut ji*ww
Mc*« K1.W01W

Form AB-01: Transfer License Application
Why >v thn Ioth n««drd '

bc*n^ »«4 h. n irwrr *4 x anttr *• rfo« -eV-t «M>«
i:»*i^fj(roil!.'1ij),(i.r. . !t.-...i o-. . A r AcaUa ttaucev « J Chaetar AM 4 ttw AXmjM
Adm«M«trativeC<»4e 4 ' ' a.;. 4 . 4 . .
i»M. KM JOS

Thtt *o<^ mmi be romp(rted and v-t»-.'lrd to AM< CX» Anc^ryfe off.. * w<th all otAer required form* and
ckX^^ant* before any Uen$e applcaton ail by (O**w<k-'rd tompivte

Soction 1 Transferor Information

Mean*** Tuyon A Tran Thuy D»nh UcanM1 '3759
IK«HM Tv»« Bovoraoa Daponoary - Tounsm Statutory RHyrmca A, >4 t «».d

Do«nc Butin*™ At
L

Airport Rr*tt»u ant & LOu'hjc

Ura Ji.* a Arpcxt Icrmnal

Ldy UnaAasAa Mala A is>a nr. 99692

Lik a Ucraerrvni Body City o< OwiMbAa

AMCO Received 11/17/2022

J rocn 100*4^ lx? 7-33
\ ©o b ^3S

11

or««cf uWMar

car w war Pear '<«M«<Twr

. 3/Z /2^3 Carw r**«
-1

t*MxOa«e
'—I

Packet Page Number 221 



tw W f Mmu« tuft* iMO
«ra*«ra*r M WW>1

•««*«* i«lMia*«M*4*7r
•<w» J j awaasnvMrsaatanMMfMWMM

rtw« K' zan ono
Alaska Altohdic Beverage Control Board

Form AB-01: Transfer License Application

Section 2 - Trtntltfw Infoemotion
> ’ -j :• new •. > • « : • r . . i

Ikrmw £U/pCV+- VLG

Community Council N< •' •?

Oc>ng Bvvnoi As J4G Airport RcUaurant

Prtm.ses Address UnalAtAA Airport fArmru

City UnalasKd Stole Alaska ZIP: 99692

lUl^Alld^e A <4^4^ ^4 a HD Bo* 921240

City Dutch Harpor Mat* AlusAa ZIP 99692

Drugnatrd iMensee Johnny Habarai

Contact Phone (907)359 5657 (907,561-6007

Contact 1mat jgrahara •• yahoo erm

Pre«r«wc to *•Ueased h

If "Y»»\ wnte your Ma month operating ponod

Section 3 - Promise* Information

« nna OsaUng

"M nerr tw<i *M»«nom muU be ;orr>«>: by &♦»» *<» dop*r>«ary tovrnmi and |M> *M* stivr apH^e’H an>»

*Mt Brw Ontam* the thertant •••••MaA fMMMm«MpvM< ••*•0« •<MwM*»t «4 your r»"M«i«•
IMouln tHxmdorm o* tM ««a»rU Khoot yourda’ Ir»du4» IM and of maoiurameHf n ertwer

3 CMOS

<Mtama «/ tM Mm tM pUM«ww of tMMMing O< 0«••►•*•< amr.'**-* W
IM auWh mbo'ce •< tM -•*»»»» iM«<.h bwMmg?
3 m os

form W41|pn J/*VXJiJ r^Jof?
AMCO Received 11/17/2022

Packet Page Number 222 



Alaska Alcoholic Beverage Control Board

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office
550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600

Anchorage, AK 99501
alcohol.Iicensing(3>alaska.gov

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco
Phone: 907.269.0350

Form AB-01: Transfer License Application

Section 4- Sole Proprietor Ownership Information

This section must be completed by any sole proprietor who is applying for a license. Entities should skip to Section 5.
If more space is needed, please attach a separate sheet with the required information.

Section 5 - Entity Ownership Information

This section must be completed by any entity, including a corporation, limited liability company (LLC), partnership, or limited
partnership, that is applying for a license. Sole proprietors should skip to Section 6.
If more space is needed, please attach a separate sheet with the required information.
• If the applicant is a corporation, the following information must be completed for each stockholder who owns 10% or more of

the stock in the corporation, and for each president, vice-president, secretary, and managing officer.
• If the applicant is a limited liability organization, the following information must be completed for each member with an

ownership interest of 10% or more, and for each manager.
• If the applicant is a partnership, including a limited partnership, the following information must be completed for each partner

with an interest of 10% or more, and for each general partner.

Entity Official: GgaW i od
Title(s): Phone: ^353 % Owned:

Address: fro ftox: ^7-17-34°
City: State: ZIP:

[Form AB-01] (rev 2/24/2022) Page 3 of 7

AMCO Received 12/27/2022
Packet Page Number 223 



AUvk« Akohoht B»vrr*<e Control Bo*-d

Form AB’01: Transfer License Application
""" "' !'■ I '■

(ntnyOHwiH Johnr
VYtMYt’

pj V 1
®hon* Hol 3SR -5U5n 50^

Adt»r»«L
W

pi Qfcx
np

f nn»Vy Off*.*

r«MM
! — rr«n» H Owned

Addmt

cm State: BP:

<nt»tV 0*1kill

TW») &- • *Own«4

Addrexx

Gt> Mate: ar: I

OOC tntttvf Al Formed 0«*e 31 12- Home State.

R*tMrrHf A<»nt GonwtWRx pckxvxoJ A<e*c'i teMMW

‘ s * * * — -1 • 4>o G?ox _
City Met* CAc or

AMCO Received 11/17/2022

Packet Page Number 224 



A,*»ka Akohoi < Beverage Control Hoard

O rotnd V, , UWM O*<»

VnK* Al WWt
tiAibjtarrtHatten

Form AB-01: Transfer license Application

Sectton 6 Other Liceneea
O»rwr^., t"J I p -.rr »M n „p.r. m<o*»ok jfr

Own *-> 'eprrie»«atN« O owner named m a trarwierw nttn aoicaianha*« anyinat m^Kt
’'*•■• * ' I •| '•»’ *•> Adi feSMRgl laMMM — • * • - | >■ •-< ^,1H •» • •-

M 'Vn*, ditciote wh«h Ma*•AmhcnI mterwet «A«t the t«- o» k«wne«* mW * «ce*Md W AAeUr «h.h

t :<r txt’ •.•’•.-o w’”' *Wi“> a**1

Section 7 Authorization

0,^*1, eenon oe»er own a kceme* namedn tfm «t«»* Naw «.<ho«rtv Io Sxuu IN* kceme wm
AMCO

AMCO Received 11/17/2022
Packet Page Number 225 



Alaska Akohcfec Beverag* Control Board

<'4V* »' 4 (a***^ -”u»
SK * U«« HOC

a^ a» tawi
r l-q

r-'* ii tMMianzW»T«r
»**•« kuhok

Form AB-01: Transfer License Application

Section 8 Transferor Certification*
Xi,l .< »-> tr ...pl|.. . , ' r. t •1 '• • ,>1. < . . .f • • . , ,., •,:

ShiifuMcpM’Hb ' . : r>. t curtr«M«x **•*»♦• i»r»»r- r-.w »• »M! X -* < »■- 1»

- .;• i’ •• ' r I • ' ' ’ > • • ‘ ” • • • .. . 4' : • : • t-r*

No<«rr K»t*< * *'O Vtalr ,v/r .7.* ’

M» torrvwMK*' raprvt cS

Se'eli/** ol ft’mvWror
Tr., r'af Oin*-

rord and wr><i U> twlrzr nr

• <4 • | l| • • it. 6
M, convnKwr rapm

AMCO Received 11/17/2022

Packet Page Number 226 



Alaska Akohobr Btwrafo Control

MctM «M Comm 0*t«»
SM W X* ••***•_ $w*r 1*00

*»»<•««• ** WWl

^UkM-CTW^gSOt JWrfciiKlr-yA

"on* tor jm dmc

Form AB-01: Transfer License Application

Section 9 Transfer** Certification*
••ad mc* tew OaCow and *w- Mgn yw woait ar «*w tw* te th* r^t o< «*ch *l*m«*m

<•*•** that «1 oropxao temwwslm drhnae n AS 04 II ’«), anj IMhIw, Pn arfteanvs

?O(> ‘aekrnarthMf •••"■. »<•. ..
*’’ s ft H ta„; that pro..1. 4 » •* ' '»lr-, • . • < . „>.lb| AMCC. ,k r...„>

*•* 'Ojtttert or dam* of *** apetcaeonor 'avocation of any teama nwTif

r**^^ tfvat a* •.’•maws aftmU ar* w*c vM or m* w. #»•• ta-v*1****^ * (ha •th* »ten<rwata' st a
^‘O’ *' r an adverted atuanal r*rw* »<<X. m rn erm .» rnh^rdH AS <4 1 :.,’l mt. •’•rtr^O
*♦*»’'< akehc« trw«at*r •* ca»rv or ha»» »«Matte ss «/*»•a cwn*wt (<vw <tr4 0» a (A«Q<of*r r* th* card
-■• ’»»»< 11";M <>- :/ apc< :w»«j ^,r< adkXjt.-^ < ... . t f ...•,,1 trr • A»<

•<rw to proxte >1 n*5r^wr«o>» rvcy^rd t», tfw A* Cor":( B Md r- al ttu, apfteMcn

that mt> -te pmcn h»r*<n narwd jnd uewr^rg to ih* »nl 1’ «1 ">*»* -rad thr
•pCtKae**> aM mow r*a tut conm-1 tlwrrot I tew that di c* thr t-ltr-mwe t 'ted **»r«n a-d rvttenc* or
»*>tr docMmnn VXWM1*4 Mr trv* and(enact ^ndteUand th* anr lahA« *foht» «>rw«ar*Mr>taben o’ any ••«« or
r*vpo-w n*nIfahko', o> >«» attacterteM. or Jocu-mrvti Io vjcv^» IHs ***>»<alo* O su*t<rte< I'wnh ter
da**VM< or roaokar* a tao*M/|M«w* •1»ri»w» uatdontand *ot •o a Oom A (MMlaMonor «ndar Marta Matdte
UM 2)0 to ••■^t *t a*pxat«x» and«M*T»< th* crww ot 'duRat-xi

r 4 • t#

-
r

t-w AAOl r. < . . .

AMCO Received 11/17/2022
Packet Page Number 227 



AUlka Akohok< ni*wrjKr ( m-vd Bo* d

Form AB-02: Premises Diagram

Ar r ••u«r <■«Oxiw
VW A r* Annu.

u
<M%tXt3£C£Me. ftnt y^

A ’. '.-rm -ereMd '

*''»'»*! >L»'bKl[»»'-r I iR)v.rr<1ti. XIK.» «rH»10(S»bxn je* AS (M I. MO e-d
1 • • ’ •' t'H'i’l ! •‘x*r <>”•" • rdr’u' rr , xv tr.rd.n al tte .Mt. be K

r>Mt«rao«<* wrece ton^rr^t^, tm *>er>x<eiln>'< ” W»< p'XKSed iren/K-i nocM wr^n * tvator< cr
"•"«l •".'•<•t. •■ .» . .1 - j. i r. •••, 'Sr

tout . . w procKMed *<err>s«s •'Sr r-r tvton* tr t».«Oe<;nnfui •**< *rth t*» an&or u*«a nu-XMri g< yw. ! ' . •. •••,' ••• t , • , . . .
*S< ho’ Storpn AD <>-•«-<. or u*»«- < x4 rW Ar«p*>n rs*y be

' ' t’ • . ’ •(• '■ . ' ' ' ."*'•• ’
It^gtMTv *T 4M(0'-'i’ ’tw 'nrp^i ir GU loi:rrv«- < ’-r •• . -d PMC* 0< rss *<or<«> 4 **><> •ntuMmUten

yOu/ pr •»*•••» A*cr*»r m seeded

• te»...' l.-1ede-<l>«»rr,tW«loAM'.i ’ A- ^.. r , i r< >• .,v u» .. it* o^.teux
c«*n^e*e

• - sr> *D 1'U -f -<r» 4p? •« t>.s ."rot; *>'■•• • • • *ev • «e te« '*s|

pa<r c# ttx form

Sectton 1 Establishment Information

fr

|r«ne A»4t|W* VM/M13}

1.<en*«« LKerne 3759

L^enw T,»e B^wfrage Dipefva'y Touh«un

Do "< > Al J4G Airport Rr Maurant
. . r-^ • < AddressI 1.t-i.jl.fi> 1 Alp «’ Il’ffT 11-^1

^otr Unaia-i>a Met* A* re 99692

AMCO Received 11/17/2022

mh?

Packet Page Number 228 



28’ 1”

Minors are
anticipated to
have acesss to
the dining area
in the
restaurant.

38’ 2”

Packet Page Number 229 



AMCO Received 11/17/2022
Packet Page Number 230 



North

Door is secured by a double lock,
Deadbolt and knob

Surveillance camera for security of the storage unit

Packet Page Number 231 



Alatka Alcohol < B#vrr Coct-ol Boro

A*t*r» W u-f* 0M««
W * f* $•«» ICOO

Ax^<«f« Mmo
c AfirM>ttouan

^t— —rnrrnimmti—iWlm
nww K’^wano

Form AB 03: Restaurant Designation Permit Application

A’” > if ‘.-rm frroad *

A •*.' • , . I !r-M^X<n pannf *QfM acre » ra^/rad let •m** .rr lkv''< tV- jMl.y- jn^rf J AA: MM Hi- J AAC tMTOfU
'■ •• • - •■ » a < . 4' - , ! ,

MUx o< ii»' Owm»end Mte gcM ctMW. e rsttaMrame •Mnggax* Wemc. »M w*h * th»
1 < AA < <4 * • )AAJ *«d * M- <4 ?4$ • •«>♦. »t.r. * » awt 1 a»nu t. upKtAt m»nj I-.:ng tfw. x.’ e > *«a (•'rpAtnl Qr. ire »-<J CM’"’"- x«1 > Or i^«h» C.<i * <i:d >. r.a Pw'trd Itx co-TMixOni D*#<S

’ • M • • . ' ' . . ' ' • • A /

•AU M Md 1 AAL KM *1*. !M£ IMm n»r»»M»4('X)p»<!T»t tee
~4> t* ’»■*0» t> <r»Ot cmA check. o< »M»««Y 0»«M

Section 1- Eatabli

JtG iWpeirl- Uss+oxAtran^- i_uj
l>te - «• Vvp»: Bs.etaos D loanur* Tourism iwmu hb^naae 3759
r> .. - c t -*u a» JSG Atrpon Restauranf

» <e«»: Unaaska Akpcrt T^r.nal
Cny Unalaska Maia: A* Z!P: J99692
Cont>rt K»m< Johnny Rabat * CoMKt P‘on< (9071581-6007

Section 2 - Type of Designation Requested

‘r,’ tha rti.ad id S«sqnM«M> M » 6*<MMr reUn.r jnt. h<X»4. X »*bf»< plM» n<
AS 04 It 010(<l W AS 04 1A 0*9, <<M ttw rweiwt of tta 4o4<n>tr< 4ngnX>xi(i) irhect «•th«t «ppM:

1 tj -ingxhar itAndard Mmo AS 04 1' • i

2 in*g Sy s»»v>n* IS - 20 y»*n of *c» A 4 1» U i

I .H' ’'•■r-''' x<<<m^jn^d 4 jwruar cr»r« lh» Age uf 21 •• 4 )». 4 - < . 1

4 i •t ♦,.< p«'.-It- 1? fTMl ill »<« I •

. > i nel. / 4 Ji d** • th. n ...'•.i^( l y 4 . 14 .11 >*> i nt »ga

•■ • . <

AMCO Received 11/17/2022
Packet Page Number 232 



Alaska AkoKoiir :urrrN Hoard

'•»'' * ” Al»^<* oil IMl'

Form AB 03: Restaurant Designation Permit Application

Section 3 Minor Access
Rtw* AS 04 1» MM>« J! AS >4 1« <MO i) J UM 11 >*1i 1

Off ortSn tM ywMaai•*•<>»> art aaaxeatad to Saw k<»m* tha comtw at a»ar Sa**^ or ao^topaaa** M«a*<Mfod *Wet"..' J fW , V- wl ,~1 .Mpiwr "»lh1** ,
*.' ’ * . : .1 .••• 1 i” 1 • . ar .

: wv , t,t tr- a> »-'■ r* a<>* *■ ri '< «<** » hr .- » *> ... HMn->»h 1« rwr fx'KiiM to aiiobot wMa

Dikgenoe wtl be pieced on checking ID tax indvtduaH who lock underage to ensure they are not
served

t* »• >.'-•• • - .ri.v.lr'1 . 21 f- o it*ryi 4« ttw piKT-m
Sv«m*m hmrtF

Mi

Section 4 - DEC Food Service FernMt
rv* 1AAC KM *10 *oi ar e»taUn ro Q»atrt a Sana •KW SaiMirarM a load Sonata AartMl or Ika Mar»ai
Iha MvTK^altiof Arctic* ae*l <e**MainO<tC Caaaif'n**'* if ^tah* ant Munan Sanae** duci/nantato* 4 HQ»ao<

Raaaa *»♦«<• »ha Mi* *•tha C« load SaM’ y *»tn/ia • .•»*(>, h t
Kataa Maow trio Ima to tha Mm»«- a at* load W*aty SlaOMta
-• j r r Arn •. i i >■•(.(■

4gl>* >**■**

i .^ Aeor *• . i r.

AMCO Received 11/17/2022
Packet Page Number 233 



* DUTCH HARBOR, AUXSKA 99692

Alcohol In-House Policies

• It is everyone’s job to ensure patrons who are buying or drinking alcohol are
at least 21 years of age.

• We will request proof of age (LD.) from any patron who appears 30 years of
age or younger.

• We have the right to, and will, refuse service to any patron who cannot
produce proper LD.

• We may accept the following as proof of age:
• California driver’s license
• California identification card
• Military identification
• Passport

• If we must refuse service, we will tell a supervisor.
• Management and supervisors will support servers’ decisions to stop

service to any patron. If they don’t, the server might not act so responsibly
in the future.

• We will discourage intoxication and not serve any person who looks or
acts intoxicated, even if they are “ride-sharing” or have a “designated
driver.” This includes employees and regular patrons who may “always act
that way.

• When a patron has been “cut off” in one person’s station, that person will
tell other employees.

Alcohol is stored in designated areas. The office has limited access and
can be locked. The bar allows for only alcohol servers to have access.
Overflow storage of alcohol is in a locked storage in the downstairs with
access for permitted employees.

All alcohol servers will have current alcohol education cards.

AMCO Received 12/27/2022
Packet Page Number 234 



Form AB 03: Restaurant Designation Permit Application
Alaska Alcohcfec Beverage Control Board

*♦ . -"V it —1<»nu

MO• MOC

***** wwono

K-h« “ nV:.

Se<tion5 Hour* of Operation
Hr««e* AS 04 H010PI

‘ >'.>■.■> । -li' • ’..I. , phi w «« „ - •>• < *, ... ,, ~ ,..< ..1.

7 days a ween. Warn 9pm

Section 6 Entertainment A Service
•r. A', -4 .1 1 ;

'n *»)

Art t। >« » if zf^rd ex n»< kJ* — •• 1N» .rurd >x

«•--••» o'.jp.ved I. r- s*«1 (■ j.t.

‘ b« •* rir>». MC^-Mvneetr.ltV'HV • *• '■ » •x-C’JiMix

I '1 '•«.••H" i•- p«f"'

/UH terMr* oner

>«r*> Aoeai i <r« //Mouri

AMCO Received 11/17/2022
Packet Page Number 235 



AUxki Alcoholic Bevrrjcr to-Mrid E-o.irr?

a " a.- .« ,, •, .
A-> ’V Af* A« .

Form AB-03: Restaurant Designation Permit Application

Section 7 - Certifications and Approval*

bm * !«••»• c»*n '<•v < <r.t » » »• >h, t. I !nt-ruhl :»!».•■ t.Ah

* r 4! ,t.. I- . •■ «•.-■■ 4 I • , • I " ” r .< 1

'■>• r . . 4e<1 *.t’ ’ ' h 't. •n."».4 . .. I . ' th* •. . ' "< • . t" {Ut- •

I ’*♦kirvf »'< oh.h «• >'1** 4 t»,”4|r n 'KlU'KACll<»

r. . c,.r l* t.- T.lAjirC. o Hr^c r n»" *•

' th . 4 pf > ' • c- •- ' • • ’ . '" ' ’ • •■

|4f-<U acp4c«r^«i r*ot <xc»*»)p«nt a new ar finant^r* Mem# acp*c«r*e*i »0

r»a< c. -r ,! • ,t.” . • •. r > . >■’

'>e<et»v : •• 1 *” *** J*'ven br»m «x*nw«j io t»m ax4* *■°* •*<> 1 h*“*
C9»(.r-A •pvTcMon. »nd I »"<•th»M«X*»nt th««««r I «h«t 4* 0# ttw irA»f«wM>an cenrtx'ad

V QCh*» Mj*nrvtt»d •<•tr»* toieo I IWuCkM^O" ot

al any «1<*n at •» *ppAcil>®n « tny at aocunanlt to u*pcxt t«M
tt'tf 1» gr «aM» to «^■•«•'4 ;« 1». I lOOr-i 4>«J rt t» t Ult A

,4f<r^»nty .jMm AJr^« MMvtO 11 M. JId»0 ••*»'»» coo*r»t ttw ctw*< C* iruw^n

•aivfmtKn

OftMMj n««T« tf K^nvM

OwvoO»afrataa

AMCO Received 11/17/2022
Packet Page Number 236 



Ahvha Akohdk levrroc* Control tcord

•Ki*** »MU«>mUvarst CWk
sw •~ 140

**•»«»» Ai mo
»U\- A

”U . •>•* ~ .£4«?->X.«. Atumu
**c»w VKMtaiM

Form AB-03: Restaurant Designation Permit Application
AMCO Ar*MHA I - — « »•* lr, nr. -

' • < ! • • * V • ’ • < .

fniortamarrt l»ox'm«r><ii«oi

AM<O A-T’,..

-t

I>erwn1

» . • 4--. •.w. .

AMCO Received 11/17/2022
Packet Page Number 237 



and Lounge

Packet Page Number 238 



until 12 pm

2. Breakfast Sandwich

Served with eggs, hash browns and toast

1. Three Eggs 11.95
Served with hash browns and toast

2. Breakfast Sandwich 11.95
Eggs ham and cheese served on a sesame bun

3. Ham, Bacon, or Sausage 12.95
Served with eggs, hash browns and toast

4. Three Eggs Cheese Omelet 11.95
Served with hash browns and toast
Add your choice of meat (Ham, Bacon, or Sausage) for 1.95

6. Denver Omelet 14.95
A blend of chopped ham, onions and bell peppers
and cheese, served with hash browns and toast

7. Steak and Eggs
A Sirloin steak served with toast

16.95

13. Garlic Chicken Wings

8. Fried Potstickers

8. Fried Potstickers 9.95

9. Onion Rings 8.95

10. Mozzarella Sticks 12.95

11. Jalapeno Poppers 12.95

12. B.B.QPork 13.95

13. Garlic Chicken Wings 15.95

14. Chicken Strips 13.95

15. Zingy Hot Wings 15.95

16. Crispy Chicken Nuggets 13.95

15. Zingy Hot Wings

12. BBQ Pork

House Salad 6.95

Chicken Salad 15.95
Grilled chicken with a side of garlic bread

Chef Salad 15.95
Ham and Turkey with variety of cheese with a side of garlic bread

AMCO Received 11/17/2022
Packet Page Number 239 



Served with French Fries or Salad

20. Grilled Ham & Cheese 13.95
21. B.L.T Sandwich 12.95

Crispy bacon, lettuce, and tomatoes on toasted bread

22. Club House Sandwich 14.95
Turkey, bacon, ham, lettuce, tomatoes, with American
and Swiss cheese on toasted bread

23. French Dip 13.95
Sliced Roast Beef on a toasted French bread
served with a cup of Au Jus

24. Philly Cheese Sandwich 14.95
Sliced Roast Beef with sauteed mushrooms,
green bell peppers, onions, and cheese with Au Jus

25. Fish ‘N’ Chips 16.95
Local Cod battered and deep fried with tartar sauce

21. B.L.T Sandwich

22. Club House Sandwich

23. French Dip

lettuce, tomatoes, pickles, onions, and french fries or a salad
a side ofAn 8 oz. lean meat patty on a toasted sesame bun served

28. Deluxe Cheese Burger 12.95
29. Bacon Cheese Burger 14.95
30. Avocado Swiss Burger 14.95

With Swiss cheese and Guacamole

31. B.B.Q. Cheese Burger 13.95
With Swiss cheese, BBQ sauce, and grilled onions

32. Mushroom Burger 14.95
With fresh sauteed mushrooms

34. Double Cheese Burger 16.95

35. Double Bacon Cheese Burger 17.95

29. Bacon Cheese Burger

28. Deluxe Cheese Burger

AMCO Received 11/17/2022
Packet Page Number 240 



A breaded, fried chicken patty on a toasted sesame bun served with a side of lettuce,
tomatoes, pickles, onions, and french fries or a salad

36. Deluxe Chicken Burger 12.95
Topped with Swiss cheese

37. B.B.Q. Chicken Burger 12.95
With Swiss cheese, grilled onions, and B.B.Q sauce

39. Ranch Chicken Burger 12.95
With Pepper Jack Cheese and Ranch

40. Teriyaki Chicken Burger 14.95
With grilled pineapple, Teriyaki Sauce, and Swiss cheese

41. Fried Chicken 17.95
Served with French fries

40. Teriyaki Chicken Burger

41. Deep Fried Chicken

All dishes served with a side of steamed white rice
Substitute fried rice at an additional cost

42. Mongolian Beef 18.95
43. Broccoli Beef or Chicken 18.95
44. Garden Vegetables 18.95

with Beef or Chicken
45. Sweet & Sour Pork 18.95
46. Kung Pao Chicken or Beef 18.95
47. General Tso’s Chicken 18.95
48. Mongolian Chicken 18.95
50. Sweet & Sour Chicken 18.95
51. Shrimp with Broccoli 19.95
52. Triple Delight 23.95

Squid, shrimp, fish meatballs sauteed with garden
vegetables in wine sauce

Chow Fun Noodles 18.95
Wide rice noodles stir-fired with your choice if beef,
Chicken, or shrimp (This entree does not include a side of rice)

43. Broccoli Beef

47. General Tso’s Chicken

48. Mongolian Chicken

AMCO Received 11/17/2022Packet Page Number 241 



Small (16oz.) Medium(24oz.) Large (32oz.)
61. Beef Noodle (Pho)

Rare steak & Beef Meatballs, with Rice Noodles
Chicken or vegetables may be substituted

14.95 16.95

62. Special Combination Noodle
B.B.Q. Pork, Shrimp, and Wonton with Egg Noodles

16.95 18.95

64. Seafood Noodle Soup
Shrimp, Squid, and Fish Balls with Egg Noodles

16.95 18.95

65. Wonton Soup 7.95 12.95 15.95
66. Hot and Sour Soup 8.95 12.95 15.95
67. Egg Flower Soup 8.95 12.95 15.95

62. Special Combination Soup 61. Beef Noodle Soup 64. Seafood Noodle Soup 65. Wonton Soup

Airport Chow Mein

(/kow 'J'yie/vvx,
68. B.B.Q. Pork Chow Mein 18 .95

Combination of chicken, shrimp, and BBQ pork

69. Shrimp Chow Mein 18.95
70. Beef Chow Mein 18 .95
71. Chicken Chow Mein 18.95
72. Airport Chow Mein 18 .95

73.
74.
75.
76.
78.

18 .95
18 .95
18.95
18.95
18.95

B.B.Q Pork Fried Rice
Chicken Fried Rice
Beef Fried Rice
Shrimp Fried Rice
Airport Fried Rice
Chicken, Shrimp, and Chinese Sausage Airport Fried Rice

AMCO Received 11/17/2022
Packet Page Number 242 



53. Edamame 9.95
54. Fried Egg Rolls 9.95
55. Spring Rolls 9.95

Rice vermicelli, shrimp and BBQ pork with assorted greens
wrapped in rice paper 53. Edamame

56. Airport Surfs Sandwich 13.95
Grilled BBQ pork served with fresh greens
on French bread roll with a side of chicken soup

57. Pad Thai 17.95
Rice noodles stir-fried with shrimp and chicken 54. Fried Egg Rolls

58. Rice Vermicelli Bowl 18.95
Grilled shrimp and pork topped with greens, and
peanuts; additional shrimp or pork $1.95

59. B.B.Q. Pork and fried eggs 18.95
Served over steamed rice

55. Spring Rolls

60. B.B.Q. Beef Short Ribs 18.95
Served over steamed rice

49. B.B.Q. Teriyaki Chicken 17.95
Served over steamed rice

60. B.B.Q Beef Short Ribs 59. B.B.Q Pork and Fried Eggs

58. Rice Vermicelli Bowl

57. Phad Thai

(/'OTW
Served with an Egg roll and your choice of steamed rice or fried rice

1. Sweet & Sour Pork and Mongolian Beef
2. Sweet & Sour Chicken and Mongolian Beef

3. Mongolian Chicken and Kung Pao Shrimp
4. Sweet & Sour Shrimp and Kung Pao Chicken

24.95
24.95
26.95
26.95

AMCO Received 11/17/2022
Packet Page Number 243 



Please allow aMeast!5 minutes for preparation of the specialty items
Ask your waitress for details as some items are seasonal

Dinner Steak 28.95
16 oz steak served with a salad, and your choice
French fries, steamed rice, or fried rice

Fried Whole Tilapia
Fried Whole Pampano
Fried Whole Milkfish

Seasonal Price
Seasonal Price
Seasonal Price

Salt & Pepper Prawns 30.95
Jumbo Black Tiger Shrimp lightly breaded, deep fried
and sauteed with garlic and onions

Crispy Chow Mein Platter 30.95
Chow Mein noodles fried crispy topped with a variety
of garden vegetables and seafood

Sauteed Mussels 30.95
Mussels on the half shell sauteed in an oyster sauce

19.95

29.95Whole chicken (a la carte)

Fried Hainanese Chicken
Half chicken with side of rice
steamed veggies, or a salad

Lechon 17.95
Pork belly seasoned, fried crispy, served sliced

Crispy Salt & Pepper Calamari 30.95
Squid lightly coated in a salt and pepper batter, deep fried
and sauteed in garlic and onions

Steamed Rice

Salt & Pepper Prawns

Crispy Chow Mein Platter

Crispy Salt & Pepper
Calamari

Small/Large 4.95/7.95
French Fries 7.95
Additional Side Dressing 1.00
Extra Sauce 1.00

Additional charges may apply when splitting orders and
requesting additional sharing plates

AMCO Received 11/17/2022
Packet Page Number 244 



Mozzarella Cheese
One Topping
Two Toppings
Three Toppings
Four Toppings

83. Vegetable Special

10”small 12”med 14”large 16”X-large

16.00 18.00 20.00 22.00
18.00 21.00 23.00 25.00
19.00 22.00 25.00 28.00
20.00 23.00 26.00 29.00
21.00 24.00 27.00 33.00
22.00 25.00 28.00 31.00

Mushrooms, Green Peppers, Onions, Black Olives, and diced Tomatoes

84. Meat Lover’s Special 24.00 27.00 30.00 33.00
Pepperoni, Sausage, Canadian bacon, and Hamburger

86. Airport Special 25.00 28.00 32.00 35.00
Pepperoni, Sausage, Canadian bacon, Green Pepper, Black Olives, Diced tomatoes and

Mushrooms

87. Jumbo Jet Special
Topped with all 12 pizza toppings listed

25.95 29.95 33.95 36.95

Extra Toppings
Anchovies Black Olives

2.00 3.00
Pineapple

4.00 5.00
Diced Tomatoes

Green Peppers Jalapeno Onions Italian Sausage
Hamburger Mushrooms Pepperoni Canadian bacon

2.95

1.95
2.95
2.50
3.50

Coffee
Hot Chocolate
Hot or Iced Tea
Shirley Temple

and other Non-alcoholic mixed drinks
Chilled Juices

Orange Juice, Fruit Punch, or Cranberry Juice
Soda Pop 2.75

Coke, Pepsi, Diet Coke, Diet Pepsi, 7-up, Mt, Dew, Root beer, Dr, Pepper, and Orange Soda
Cafe Sua Da (Cafe Au Lait) 5.50

Slow drip French roast coffee, combined with sweetened condensed milk
Traditionally served ice

Thai Iced Tea 4.50

AMCO Received 11/17/2022
Packet Page Number 245 



* and Lounge

Packet Page Number 246 



2. Breakfast Sandwich

1. Three Eggs 11.95
Served with hash browns and toast

2. Breakfast Sandwich 11.95
Eggs ham and cheese served on a sesame bun

Served with eggs, hash browns and toast

3. Ham, Bacon, or Sausage 12.95
Served with eggs, hash browns and toast

4. Three Eggs Cheese Omelet 11.95
Served with hash browns and toast
Add your choice of meat (Ham, Bacon, or Sausage) for 1.95

6. Denver Omelet 14.95
A blend of chopped ham, onions and bell peppers
and cheese, served with hash browns and toast

7. Steak and Eggs
A Sirloin steak served with toast

16.95

13. Garlic Chicken Wings

8. Fried Potstickers

8. Fried Potstickers 9.95
9. Onion Rings 8.95
10. Mozzarella Sticks 12.95
11. Jalapeno Poppers 12.95
12. B.B.QPork 13.95
13. Garlic Chicken Wings 15.95
14. Chicken Strips 13.95
15. Zingy Hot Wings 15.95
16. Crispy Chicken Nuggets 13.95

15. Zingy Hot Wings

12. BBQ Pork

House Salad 6.95

Chicken Salad 15.95
Grilled chicken with a side of garlic bread

Chef Salad 15.95
Ham and Turkey with variety of cheese with a side of garlic bread

AMCO Received 12/27/2022Packet Page Number 247 



Served with French Fries or Salad

20. Grilled Ham & Cheese 13.95
21. B.L.T Sandwich 12.95

Crispy bacon, lettuce, and tomatoes on toasted bread

22. Club House Sandwich 14.95
Turkey, bacon, ham, lettuce, tomatoes, with American
and Swiss cheese on toasted bread

23. French Dip 13.95
Sliced Roast Beef on a toasted French bread
served with a cup of Au Jus

24. Philly Cheese Sandwich 14.95
Sliced Roast Beef with sauteed mushrooms,
green bell peppers, onions, and cheese with Au Jus

25. Fish ‘N’ Chips 16.95
Local Cod battered and deep fried with tartar sauce

21. B.L.T Sandwich

22. Club House Sandwich

23. French Dip

An 8 oz. lean meat patty on a toasted sesame bun served a side of
lettuce, tomatoes, pickles, onions, and french fries or a salad

28. Deluxe Cheese Burger 12.95
29. Bacon Cheese Burger 14.95
30. Avocado Swiss Burger 14.95

With Swiss cheese and Guacamole

31. B.B.Q. Cheese Burger 13.95
With Swiss cheese, BBQ sauce, and grilled onions

32. Mushroom Burger 14.95
With fresh sauteed mushrooms

34. Double Cheese Burger 16.95

35. Double Bacon Cheese Burger 17.95

29. Bacon Cheese Burger

28. Deluxe Cheese Burger

AMCO Received 12/27/2022Packet Page Number 248 



(//vvcJve^
A breaded, fried chicken patty on a toasted sesame bun served with a side of lettuce,

tomatoes, pickles, onions, and french fries or a salad

36. Deluxe Chicken Burger 12.95
Topped with Swiss cheese

37. B.B.Q. Chicken Burger 12.95
With Swiss cheese, grilled onions, and B.B.Q sauce

39. Ranch Chicken Burger 12.95
With Pepper Jack Cheese and Ranch

40. Teriyaki Chicken Burger 14.95
With grilled pineapple, Teriyaki Sauce, and Swiss cheese

41. Fried Chicken 17.95
Served with French fries

40. Teriyaki Chicken Burger

41. Deep Fried Chicken

fZ'ioeo C'rxA'l'&eA'
All dishes served with a side of steamed white rice
Substitute fried rice at an additional cost

42. Mongolian Beef 18.95
43. Broccoli Beef or Chicken 18.95
44. Garden Vegetables 18.95

with Beef or Chicken
45. Sweet & Sour Pork 18.95
46. Kung Pao Chicken or Beef 18.95
47. General Tso’s Chicken 18.95
48. Mongolian Chicken 18.95
50. Sweet & Sour Chicken 18.95
51. Shrimp with Broccoli 19.95
52. Triple Delight 23.95

Squid, shrimp, fish meatballs sauteed with garden
vegetables in wine sauce

Chow Fun Noodles 18.95
Wide rice noodles stir-fired with your choice if beef,
Chicken, or shrimp (This entree does not include a side of rice)

43. Broccoli Beef

47. General Tso’s Chicken

48. Mongolian Chicken

AMCO Received 12/27/2022Packet Page Number 249 



Small (16oz.) Medium(24oz.) Large (32oz.)
61. Beef Noodle (Pho)

Rare steak & Beef Meatballs, with Rice Noodles
Chicken or vegetables may be substituted

14.95 16.95

62. Special Combination Noodle 16.95 18.95
B.B.Q. Pork, Shrimp, and Wonton with Egg Noodles

64. Seafood Noodle Soup 16.95 18.95
Shrimp, Squid, and Fish Balls with Egg Noodles

65. Wonton Soup 7.95 12.95 15.95

66. Hot and Sour Soup 8.95 12.95 15.95
67. Egg Flower Soup 8.95 12.95 15.95

62. Special Combination Soup 61. Beef Noodle Soup 64. Seafood Noodle Soup 65. Wonton Soup

Airport Chow Mein

(//vow
68. B.B.Q. Pork Chow Mein 18 .95
69. Shrimp Chow Mein 18.95
70. Beef Chow Mein 18 .95
71. Chicken Chow Mein 18.95
72. Airport Chow Mein 18 .95

Combination of chicken, shrimp, and BBQ pork

73. B.B.Q Pork Fried Rice 18 .95
74. Chicken Fried Rice 18 .95
75. Beef Fried Rice 18 .95
76. Shrimp Fried Rice
78. Airport Fried Rice

18.95
18.95

Chicken, Shrimp, and Chinese Sausage Airport Fried Rice

AMCO Received 12/27/2022
Packet Page Number 250 



53. Edamame 9.95
54. Fried Egg Rolls 9.95
55. Spring Rolls 9.95

Rice vermicelli, shrimp and BBQ pork with assorted greens
wrapped in rice paper 53. Edamame

56. Airport Surfs Sandwich 13.95
Grilled BBQ pork served with fresh greens
on French bread roll with a side of chicken soup

57. Pad Thai 17.95
Rice noodles stir-fried with shrimp and chicken 54. Fried Egg Rolls

58. Rice Vermicelli Bowl 18.95
Grilled shrimp and pork topped with greens, and
peanuts; additional shrimp or pork $1.95

59. B.B.Q. Pork and fried eggs 18.95
Served over steamed rice

60. B.B.Q. Beef Short Ribs 18.95
Served over steamed rice

49. B.B.Q. Teriyaki Chicken 17.95
Served over steamed rice

55. Spring Rolls

58. Rice Vermicelli Bowl

60. B.B.Q Beef Short Ribs 59. B.B.Q Pork and Fried Eggs 57. Phad Thai

(/WW 'VOrx/
Served with an Egg roll and your choice of steamed rice or fried rice

1. Sweet & Sour Pork and Mongolian Beef
2. Sweet & Sour Chicken and Mongolian Beef

3. Mongolian Chicken and Kung Pao Shrimp
4. Sweet & Sour Shrimp and Kung Pao Chicken

24.95
24.95
26.95
26.95

AMCO Received 12/27/2022
Packet Page Number 251 



Please allow specialty items
Ask your waitress for details as some items are seasonal

Dinner Steak 28.95
16 oz steak served with a salad, and your choice
French fries, steamed rice, or fried rice

Fried Whole Tilapia
Fried Whole Pampano
Fried Whole Milkfish

Seasonal Price
Seasonal Price
Seasonal Price

Salt & Pepper Prawns 30.95
Jumbo Black Tiger Shrimp lightly breaded, deep fried
and sauteed with garlic and onions

Crispy Chow Mein Platter 30.95
Chow Mein noodles fried crispy topped with a variety
of garden vegetables and seafood

Sauteed Mussels 30.95
Mussels on the half shell sauteed in an oyster sauce

Fried Hainanese Chicken
Half chicken with side of rice
steamed veggies, or a salad 19.95

Whole chicken (a la carte) 29.95

Lechon 17.95
Pork belly seasoned, fried crispy, served sliced

Crispy Salt & Pepper Calamari 30.95
Squid lightly coated in a salt and pepper batter, deep fried
and sauteed in garlic and onions

Small/Large
French Fries
Additional Side Dressing
Extra Sauce

4.95/7.95
7.95

1.00
1.00

Fried Whole Tilapia

Crispy Chow Mein Platter

Crispy Salt & Pepper
Calamari

Additional charges may apply when splitting orders and
requesting additional sharing plates

AMCC Received 12/27/2022
Packet Page Number 252 



10”small 12”med 14”large 16”X-large
Mozzarella Cheese 16.00 18.00 20.00 22.00

One Topping 18.00 21.00 23.00 25.00
Two Toppings 19.00 22.00 25.00 28.00
Three Toppings 20.00 23.00 26.00 29.00
Four Toppings 21.00 24.00 27.00 33.00

83. Vegetable Special 22.00 25.00 28.00 31.00
Mushrooms, Green Peppers, Onions, Black Olives, and diced Toimatoes

84. Meat Lover’s Special 24.00 27.00 30.00 33.00
Pepperoni, Sausage, Canadian bacon, and Hamburger

86. Airport Special 25.00 28.00 32.00 35.00
Pepperoni, Sausage, Canadian bacon, Green Pepper, Black Olives, Diced tomatoes and

Mushrooms

87. Jumbo Jet Special 25.95 29.95 33.95 36.95
Topped with all 12 pizza toppings listed

Extra Toppings 2.00 3.00 4.00 5.00
Anchovies Black Olives Pineapple Diced Tomatoes
Green Peppers Jalapeno Onions Italian Sausage
Hamburger Mushrooms Pepperoni Canadian bacon

Coffee 1.95
Hot Chocolate 2.95
Hot or Iced Tea 2.50
Shirley Temple 3.50

and other Non-alcoholic mixed drinks
Chilled Juices 2.95

Orange Juice, Fruit Punch, or Cranberry Juice
Soda Pop 2.75

Coke, Pepsi, Diet Coke, Diet Pepsi, 7-up, Mt. Dew, Root beer, Dr. Pepper, and Orange Soda
Cafe Sua Da (Cafe Au Lait) 5.50

Slow drip French roast coffee, combined with sweetened condensed milk
Traditionally served ice

Thai Iced Tea 4.50

AMCO Received 12/27/2022Packet Page Number 253 



Alaska Food Code
2023 Establishment Permit

Division of Environmental Health
Food Safety & Sanitation Program

Permit Number: 13842
Issued to: JOHNNY RABANAL

For: Airport Restaurant
For Operation of:

Located at:
FF-1 Food Service
300 Airport Terminal WAY Dutch Harbor, AK 99692

This permit, issued under the provisions of 18 AAC 31, is valid until the noted expiration date or unless
suspended or revoked by the department.

This permit is not transferable for change of ownership, facility location, or type of operation. It must be posted
in plain view in the establishment and is the property of the State of Alaska.

Expiration Date:
December 31, 2023

Program Manager:

If you have questions or concerns regarding
safe food handling practices call toll free:

1-87-SAFEAOOD
(in Anchorage call 334-2560)

Packet Page Number 254 



Alaska Food Code
2023 Establishment Permit

Division of Environmental Health
Food Safety & Sanitation Program

Permit Number: 13843
Issued to: JOHNNY RABANAL

For: Airport Lounge
For Operation of: FN-4 Tavern/Bar

Located at: 300 Airport Terminal WAY Dutch Harbor, AK 99692

This pennit, issued under the provisions of 18 AAC 31, is valid until the noted expiration date or unless
suspended or revoked by the department.

This permit is not transferable for change of ownership, facility location, or type of operation. It must be posted
in plain view in the establishment and is the property of the State of Alaska.

Expiration Date:
December 31, 2023

Program Manager:

If you have questions or concerns regarding
safe food handling practices call toll free:

L-87-SAFE-FOOD
(in Anchorage call 334-2560)

Packet Page Number 255 



- 1 - 
 

 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 
 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Marjie Veeder, Assistant City Manager 
Through: William Homka, City Manager 
Date:  September 12, 2023 
Re: Dutch Harbor Cannabis 
 

 
SUMMARY: On July 19, 2023, the State of Alaska, Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office, notified 
the city of a complete application for a retail marijuana establishment in Unalaska. The application 
was submitted by Dutch Harbor Cannabis Co. The deadline for the city to protest is September 
17, 2023.  
 
There are two potential reasons the city could protest the issuance of the license: the applicant 
has not yet obtained a building permit; and has not applied for a business license in Unalaska. 
Staff recommends submitting a conditional protest, and once the proper permit and license are 
obtained, the protest is null.  
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: None. 
 
BACKGROUND: The applicants have completed a lengthy application process with the state and 
have submitted all the required applications, documents and certifications to the state, including 
their ground lease, operating plan and premises design. The applicant has also accomplished 
public and local government notification. 
 
The State of Alaska regulates retail marijuana and Unalaska’s Code of Ordinances at § 9.24 
contains additional requirements covering prohibited acts, operating hours, restrictions on the 
location of licensed premises, prosecution of licensee for acts of employees and accessibility for 
inspection. UCO Title 11, Health and Safety, contains further marijuana regulations at § 11.28 – 
remedies, prohibition on use of marijuana in public places, prohibiting unlawful use of marijuana, 
prohibiting possession and use by those under age 21 and prohibiting unregistered commercial 
cultivation.  
 
The applicant is Dutch Harbor Cannabis Co., LLC doing business as Dutch Harbor Cannabis Co. 
The designated licensee is Michael Chance Miller. The LLC members are Michael Chance Miller 
and Muhammad Ashraf.  
 
The physical address of the proposed retail store is given as 749 E. Broadway Avenue in 
Unalaska (see aerial photo below). This is a parcel owned by Steve Engman and zoned general 
industrial. The applicant has leased the location from Mr. Engman for a period of three years, with 
three options to renew totaling an additional nine years.  
 
The proposed location meets the city’s requirement that a licensed premises not be located within 
500 feet of any premises used for a school ground, recreation or youth center, a building where 
religious services are regularly conducted, a correctional facility or a facility managed or 
administered by the city Department of Parks, Culture and Recreation.  

Packet Page Number 256 



- 2 - 
 

 
Proposed location: 
 

 
 
DISCUSSION: The applicants are in the process of obtaining a building permit, but review by the 
State Fire Marshall has not yet been completed. Therefore, a building permit has not been issued. 
Utilities must also be extended to the proposed facility. Finally, Dutch Harbor Cannabis has not 
yet applied for a City of Unalaska business license, though a business license may be premature 
at this point given that physical location is not yet constructed. 
 
The local government notice indicated that the application would be reviewed by the Marijuana 
Control Board at their August 23-24, 2023, meeting, which was before the deadline for the city to 
protest. When questioned about the timing of this, Staff was informed that if the license is 
approved by the board in August, that it would be a provisional approval, pending a potential 
protest from the City of Unalaska. The City has since received notification that the provisional 
approval was granted.  
 
If the protest is a “conditional protest” as defined in 3 AAC 306.060(d)(2) and the application 
otherwise meets all the criteria set forth by the regulations, the Marijuana Control Board may 
approve the license, but require the applicant to show to the board’s satisfaction that the 
requirements of the local government have been met before the director issues the license. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: (1) Council could choose not to submit a protest; or (2) submit a protest that is 
not conditional, but the reasons for protest must be stated; or (3) submit the conditional protest 
as recommended by Staff; or (4) alter or amend the recommended conditional protest. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: There are no financial implications in submitting a conditional 
protest. If the applicant’s license is not granted and the business does not begin, the City would 
not receive additional property tax for the increased property value or sales tax on any retail sales 
from the retail marijuana facility. 
 
LEGAL: None. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Submit a conditional protest as set out on the attached document. 

Packet Page Number 257 



- 3 - 
 

 
PROPOSED MOTION: I make a motion that the City of Unalaska submit a conditional protest to 
the application of Dutch Harbor Cannabis Co., LLC for a retail marijuana establishment in 
Unalaska, due to the applicant not securing either a building permit or a business license as 
required in Unalaska.  
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I concur with Staff’s recommendation.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: Proposed conditional protest 

Packet Page Number 258 



                                                             
Unalaska, Alaska 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
Department of Administration 

43 Raven Way - P.O. Box 610 
Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

Tel (907) 581-1252     FAX (907) 581-4469 

September 13, 2023 
 
 
 
State of Alaska 
AMCO 
550 W. 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 
Anchorage, AK 99501 
 
Delivered electronically to: marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 
 
Michael Chance Miller 
Dutch Harbor Cannabis Co., LLC 
18540 Kittiwake Circle 
Anchorage, AK 99516 
 
Delivered electronically to: mike_chance_ak@hotmail.com 
 
 
Re: License 35626 for Retail Marijuana Store 
 Dutch Harbor Cannabis Co, LLC 
 
 
The City of Unalaska submits a conditional protest to the application of Dutch Harbor Cannabis 
Co., LLC for a retail marijuana establishment in Unalaska, due to the applicant not securing either 
a building permit or a business license as required by the City of Unalaska. The applicant is in the 
process of obtaining a building permit, though it has not yet been issued; and an Unalaska 
business license is required before commencement of retails sales in Unalaska.   
 
The City of Unalaska expects that the applicant can meet these requirements within a reasonable 
period of time.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
CITY OF UNALASKA 
 
 
___________________________  
Marjie Veeder 
Assistant City Manager 

Packet Page Number 259 



 

 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 
RESOLUTION 2023-34 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL APPROVING THE VACATION OF 
LAVELLE COURT AND COMBINATION OF BLOCK 1 OF RESERVOIR HILL SUBDIVISION, 
PLAT 92-12, AND BLOCK 2-A of UNALASKA PEDESTRIAN PATHWAY, PLAT 97-14 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska is the owner of Lavelle Court and Block 2-A shown on Unalaska 
Pedestrian Pathway, recorded in the Aleutian Islands Recording District as Plat 97-14; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska is the owner of Block 1, Reservoir Hill Subdivision, recorded in 
the Aleutian Island Recording District as Plat 92-12; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska Planning Commission approved Resolution 2023-06, a 
resolution recommending to the Unalaska City Council the vacation of Lavelle Court on Block 1, 
Plat 92-12 Reservoir Hill Subdivision and Block 2-A, Plat 97-14 Unalaska Pedestrian Pathway for 
the purposes of replatting as a single parcel; and 
 
WHEREAS, Unalaska Code of Ordinances §8.08.020(J) UCO requires City Council approval of 
the vacation of any right of way; and 
 
WHEREAS, the vacation of the right of way and combination of lots is the first step in granting 
site control to Iliuliuk Family Health Services Clinic; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that the vacation of Lavelle Court is of benefit to the 
City as it promotes long-term, substantial, durable, and desirable investment in the City of 
Unalaska’s health and safety and allows for the local clinic to expand their services in our 
community, saving community members money on out of town procedures and medical 
transports. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL approves the 
vacation of Lavelle Court and combination of Block 1, Plat 92-12 and Block 2-A, Plat 97-14. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on 
September 12, 2023. 
 
 
      _______________________________ 
      Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Estkarlen P. Magdaong 
City Clerk 

Packet Page Number 260 



 

-1- 
 

 
MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Marjorie Veeder, Acting Planning Director  
Through: William Homka, City Manager 
Date:  September 12, 2023 
Re: Resolution 2023-34: Approving the Vacation of Lavelle Court and combination of 

Block 1 of Reservoir Hill Subdivision, Plat 92-12, and Block 1-A of Unalaska 
Pedestrian Pathway, Plat 97-14 

 
 
SUMMARY: The Unalaska Planning Commission approved Resolution 2023-06, a resolution 
recommending to the City Council the vacation of Lavelle Court and the combination of the 2 lots, 
the Iliuliuk Family and Health Services Clinic (IFHS, the Clinic) lot and the skate park lot. The 
vacation and combination will allow for the Clinic to secure site control of a single parcel for lease 
from the City. Staff recommends approval of City Council Resolution 2023-34. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Council issued a directive to the City Manager on May 9, 2023 
to bring to Council a plan for site control for IFHS. Vacation of Lavelle Court and the combination 
of two parcels is the first step in that process.   

BACKGROUND: The Unalaska Planning Commission approved Resolution 2023-06 in support 
of the Clinic’s desire to place a mobile CT machine on the front of the building with an overhang. 
The overhang and machine would sit within setbacks placed by Lavelle Court. 

DISCUSSION: The IFHS Clinic holds a 100-year lease from the City on Block 1 of Plat 92-12, 
served by Lavelle Court. Earlier this year, the Clinic applied for a building permit for an overhang 
and placement of a Mobile CT Machine. This would be a significant upgrade in the support of the 
health of our residents and industry. Lavelle Court is a so-called paper street, a street that exists 
on a plat only, in practice it is a portion of the parking lot of the Clinic and the Skate Park. Paper 
or not, the road prevents the placement of the machine due to the setbacks it imposes on the 
Clinic. This led to the request to vacate the lot.  

Lavelle Court is a chief obstacle in any future planning and design of the Clinic. This is an 
opportunity to allow the Clinic ample space to grow, providing greater health and safety for our 
citizens. In addition, the diagnostic capabilities of a CT machine on island means a dramatically 
lowered number of medevacs because local doctors may not need to send a patient off island. 
This is a significant savings for locals, fishermen, and processors.  

In short, the Lavelle Court is a cul-de-sac within a parking lot. It serves no real purpose as the 
Clinic and the Skate Park are served by Airport Beach Road and Raven Way, respectively. There 
is no benefit to the community to maintain this right of way. 

ALTERNATIVES: If the City Council finds that it is not in the best interest of the City to approve 
Resolution 2023-34 as is, it may alternatively allow the 60-day approval period to expire and allow 
the street to vacate by consent. The Council may also alternatively deny the request and leave 
the area as is. 

Packet Page Number 261 



 

-2- 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: N/A 

LEGAL: N/A 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends adoption of Resolution 2023-34. 

PROPOSED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution 2023-34.  

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I support staff’s recommendation. 

ATTACHMENTS: 1) Planning Commission Resolution 2023-06 
        2) Plat 92-12, Reservoir Hill Subdivision  
        3) Plat 97-14, Unalaska Pedestrian Pathway, Page 2 
        4) Area Map 
 

Packet Page Number 262 



Item 1: Laevelle Ct. Vacation (Res. 2023-06)  08.17.2023 
 

1 
 

City of Unalaska, Alaska 
Planning Commission/Platting Board 

Resolution 2023-06 
 

A RESOLUTION RECOMMENDING TO THE CITY COUNCIL THE VACATION OF 
LAVELLE COURT ON BLOCK 1, PLAT 92-12 RESERVOIR HILL SUBDIVISION AND 

BLOCK 2-A, PLAT 97-14 UNALASKA PEDESTRIAN PATHWAY FOR THE PURPOSES OF 
REPLATTING AS A SINGLE PARCEL 

 
WHEREAS, UCO §8.08.020(J) sets forth the procedures for taking action on a Right of Way Vacation; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska, is the owner of Lavelle Court, shown on Block 1, Plat 92-12 
Reservoir Hill Subdivision and Block 2-A, Plat 97-14 Unalaska Pedestrian Pathway, filed in the Aleutian 
Islands Recording District; and 
 
WHEREAS, UCO §8.08.020(J) states: A platted street may not be vacated except on petition of the city 
or of the owners of a majority of the land fronting the part of the street sought to be vacated; and  
 
WHEREAS, UCO §8.08.020(J) further states that said vacation shall be submitted to the Board for 
recommendation to the City Council; and 
 
WHEREAS, the encouragement, and support of the needs of the IFHS Clinic is desirable from the 
standpoint of public interest, as identified in the Unalaska Comprehensive Plan 2020; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska Planning Commission held a public hearing on August 17, 2023 to 
consider this request and to hear testimony of the public, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission reviewed the application and finds that recommending the 
vacation of the Right of Way to be in the interest of the City and its residents; 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission recommends to the Unalaska City 
Council that Lavelle Court shown on Block 1, Plat 92-12 Reservoir Hill Subdivision and Block 2-A, Plat 
97-14 Unalaska Pedestrian Pathway, Aleutian Islands Recording District, be vacated in order to facilitate 
the combination of the adjoining two lots. 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 17TH DAY OF AUGUST, 2023, BY THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF UNALASKA, ALASKA. 
 
 
 
________________________________  __________________________ 
Travis Swangel       William Homka, City Manager 
Commission Chair       Secretary of the Commission  

Packet Page Number 263 



Packet Page Number 264 



Packet Page Number 265 



Lavelle Court

Parcels

Streets

8/15/2023, 7:44:26 PM
0 0.03 0.050.01 mi

0 0.04 0.080.02 km

1:2,580

Web AppBuilder for ArcGIS

City of Unalaska, Geographic Technologies Group, Inc. | City of Unalaska; Geographic Technologies Group, Inc. | City of Unalaska Department of Planning, Geographic Technologies Group, Inc. | DOWL |

Packet Page Number 266 



-1- 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

ORDINANCE 2023-09 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL AMENDING UNALASKA CODE OF 
ORDINANCES, TITLE 3 PERSONNEL, CHAPTER 3.52.010 PERSONAL LEAVE ACCRUAL 
PLAN 

 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UNALASKA, as follows: 

Section 1: Classification. This Ordinance is a Code Ordinance. 

Section 2: Amendment of Section 3.52.010 Personal Leave Accrual Plan. Section 3.52.010 
of the Unalaska Code of Ordinances is hereby amended to read as follows: [New language is 
underlined; and deleted language is overstruck.] 

§ 3.52.010 PERSONAL LEAVE ACCRUAL PLAN. 

(A) All regular full-time employees who are eligible to accrue leave, shall accrue 
personal leave at the rate of: 

(1) First and second years of service beginning on the date of hire and 
ending on the date before the second anniversary date, 16 hours per 
month. 

(2) Third and fourth years of service beginning on the third anniversary 
date and ending on the day before the fourth anniversary date, 20 hours 
per month. 

(3) Fifth and sixth years of service beginning on the fourth anniversary 
date and ending on the date before the sixth anniversary date, 24 hours 
per month. 

(4) Seventh and eighth years of service beginning on the sixth 
anniversary date and ending on the date before the eighth anniversary 
date, 28 hours per month. 

(5) Ninth year of service and beyond beginning on the eighth anniversary 
date and ending on the date of separation from city service, 32 hours per 
month. 

(B) All regular full-time employees who had prior terms of regular full-time 
employment with the city shall receive credit for prior service when calculating 
their personal leave accrual rate. Credit will be granted in whole months with 
each prior term of full-time employment rounded down to the nearest number of 
whole months. Months of prior employment in which the employee was on 
unpaid leave for the entire month will not be credited. 

Packet Page Number 267 



-2- 

 (CB) Accrued unused personal leave shall not exceed 768 hours. Once any 
employee has accrued 768 hours of unused personal leave, the employee shall 
stop accruing personal leave until the employee’s accrued unused personal 
leave is less than 768 hours. 

Section 3: Effective Date. This ordinance is effective upon adoption. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on 
September 26, 2023. 
 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. 
      Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Estkarlen P. Magdaong 
City Clerk 
 

Packet Page Number 268 



- 1 - 
 

 
MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Marjie Veeder, Assistant City Manager 
Through: William Homka, Acting City Manager 
Date:  September 12, 2023 
Re: Ordinance 2023-09: Amending Unalaska Code of Ordinances, Title 3 Personnel, 

Chapter 3.52.010 Personal Leave Accrual Plan 
 
 
SUMMARY: The City Manager sought to be able to negotiate leave with incoming executive 
employees in order to attract very experienced candidates. Code presently limits leave accrual 
(they start at the bottom tier) and use of leave for new employees, including executives. Council 
was not in favor of this change, but was generally amenable to allowing returning former 
employees to receive credit for prior terms of service with the city as it relates to leave accrual 
rates. Ordinance 2023-09 makes this change to code and staff recommends approval.  
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: No previous council action related specifically to Ordinance 
2023-09. The background section of this memo contains previous council action which brought 
us to proposed Ordinance 2023-09. 
  
BACKGROUND: While recruiting potential executive employees, three candidates inquired about 
additional leave time. In an effort to attract experienced executives to work for the city, on July 
25, 2023, the City Manager introduced proposed Ordinance 2023-08, which would have given the 
City Manager latitude to negotiate the amount of leave with incoming executive employees.  
 
While voicing little to no support for the proposed change, Council voted to schedule the ordinance 
for public hearing and second reading on August 8, 2023. Council expressed concerns about how 
the change in leave policy for directors might affect the morale of existing employees, directors 
and otherwise, stating it was unfair to current employees who earn personal leave under the 
current plan. Ultimately, Ordinance 2023-08 was not adopted, but an alternative was suggested.  
 
Because the three director candidates mentioned above were all former City employees with 
service ranging between 3 and 22 years, the suggested alternative was to amend code to allow 
returning former employees to receive credit for prior service as it relates to accrual of personal 
leave. Ordinance 2023-09 makes this change to code. 
 
DISCUSSION: The proposed ordinance adds a paragraph to UCO 3.52.010, Personal Leave 
Accrual Plan: 
 

All regular full-time employees who had prior terms of regular full-time employment 
with the city shall receive credit for prior service when calculating their personal 
leave accrual rate. Credit will be granted in whole months with each prior term of 
full-time employment rounded down to the nearest number of whole 
months. Months of prior employment in which the employee was on unpaid leave 
for the entire month will not be credited. 

Packet Page Number 269 



- 2 - 
 

This ordinance change will apply to all employees, both represented and non-represented and 
both executives and non-executives. 
 
The ordinance takes effect upon adoption. Therefore, this change will apply only after the effective 
date. Past leave accrual rates will not change. Moving forward, any current, employee, or newly 
hired employee, who had prior terms of service with the city will receive credit for prior service 
when calculating the personal leave accrual rate. 
 
Preliminary research indicates there are three current employees who will be affected by this 
change. This of course will be confirmed if the ordinance is adopted. Providing credit for prior 
service will move these employees to higher leave accrual rates. 
 
There are other current employees who had prior terms of service with the city who are already 
at the top tier of leave accrual, so this change will not affect them. 
 
Finally, there are three recently hired executive employees who have not yet started work. This 
ordinance change will move them each to higher leave accrual rates.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: Prior terms of regular part-time service are not included in this ordinance 
change. The purpose, as discussed on July 25 and August 8, 2023, was to be able to recruit 
former employees with specific experience to act as department directors and in other 
management roles. Most people qualified for such positions will have necessarily held full time 
employment, usually in a supervisory role. Most are coming from or contemplating full time roles 
in other communities. If council wants to include prior terms of regular part-time service, such 
direction should be supplied to the City Manager and we will work with the city attorney to craft 
such language. Regular part-time employees accrue leave at half the rate of regular full-time 
employees. If council wants to credit prior part-time service, will the prior service be credited at 
half the rate? 
 
As always, Council may adopt, amend or reject a proposed ordinance. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: If personal leave is cashed in, there is a financial impact to the city. 
Additional leave also has a financial impact if, while an employee is on leave, other employees 
are appointed to acting status, which increases their wage by 10% during the period of acting in 
a higher position.  
 
LEGAL: This ordinance was developed in consultation with the city attorney.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends adoption. 
 
PROPOSED MOTION: First Reading: I move to introduce Ordinance 2023-09 and schedule it for 
public hearing and second reading on September 26, 2023. Second Reading: I move to adopt 
Ordinance 2023-09. 
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I support the Staff Recommendation.  

Packet Page Number 270 



 

 
MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Michelle Price, Administrative Coordinator 
Through: William Homka, City Manager 
Date:  September 12, 2023 
Re: North Pacific Fishery Management Council Meeting  
 
 
The North Pacific Fishery Management Council will meet from October 2-10, 2023, at the 
Dena’ina Center in Anchorage Alaska. There will be an opportunity for oral testimony on current 
fisheries-related issues to the advisory panel during the meetings. The City of Unalaska’s 
Fisheries Advisor, Frank Kelty, will attend this meeting on behalf of the city.   
 
Estimated travel costs are $4,325 per person: 
 

Airfare $1,378 
Hotel $1,352 
Per diem $1,595 
Total $4,325 

 
As of September 5, 2023, the available funds in the Council travel budget are $88,370.75. 
 
The Travel Policy for the Mayor and Council indicates that no more than three Council Members 
are to travel to the same meeting or conference; that travel be conducted in the most direct and 
economic manner possible to accomplish City business; and that at least twenty-one days prior 
to an upcoming trip, the council will discuss the travel, identify the Council Members to travel, and 
approve the travel by motion. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Packet Page Number 271 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Packet Page Number 272 



 

 
 
 

Packet Page Number 273 


	00 Agenda 2023 09 12
	5a Employee Anniversary - Chavarria
	5b Employee Anniversary - Rankin
	5c Badge Pinning Ceremony
	7 Draft Minutes 2023 08 08
	8 City Manager's Report 2023 09 12
	11a Capital Projects Update
	Council Memo Capital Projects Update
	Capital Projects Update 09-6-23

	12a Resolution 2023-36 Appoint Election Judges and Clerks
	Resolution 2023-36 Election Board and Canvass Committee
	Staff Memo Election Board and Canvass Committee

	12b Resolution 2023-37 OC Tidelands Trident South
	Resolution 2023-37 OC UTS103 Tract D
	Staff Memo OC UTS103 Tract D
	2023 Category A Lease  OC UTS103 Tract D
	Lease Attachment Exhibit A 6-30-2023
	Area Map Staff Report Attachmen

	12c Resolution 2023-38 EarthScope Consortium Inc. Lease
	Resolution 2023-38 CORS
	Lease Attachment - Exhibit A
	Staff Memo 2023-38 EarthScope Consortium CORS
	EarthScope Consortium CORS Lease Agreement 2023
	Lease Attachment - Exhibit A
	Image of CORS

	13a J&G AIrport Restaurant Liquor License Application
	Memorandum to Council
	#3759 Airport Restaurant Amended Transfer Application
	3759 Updated LGB Notice
	3759 Updated AB-01
	3759 Updated AB-02
	3759 Updated AB-03

	13b Dutch Harbor Cannabis Co. Marijuana Establishment License Application
	Council Memo 2023 09 12
	AMCO conditional protest draft

	13c Resolution 2023-34 Vacation of Lavelle Court
	Resolution 2023-34 Vacating Lavelle Ct
	Staff Memo Res 2023-34 Vacating Lavelle Ct
	PC Resolution 2023-06 Lavelle Ct ROW Vacation
	Plat 92-12
	Plat 97-14_Page_2
	Area Map Lavelle Ct

	13d Ordinance 2023-09 Amending Title 3, Personal Leave Accrual Plan
	Ordinance 2023-09 Title 3 - PL
	Staff Memo Ordinance 2023-09

	13e Memo to Council - Travel Costs NPFMC Anchorage 2023

